

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: February 2, 2016 ACCEPTED: March 17, 2016 PUBLISHED: March 31, 2016

# Future collider signatures of the possible 750 GeV state

# Abdelhak Djouadi,<sup>*a,b*</sup> John Ellis,<sup>*b,c*</sup> Rohini Godbole<sup>*d*</sup> and Jérémie Quevillon<sup>*c*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Laboratoire de Physique Théorique, CNRS and Université Paris-Sud, Bât. 210, F-91405 Orsay Cedex, France

<sup>b</sup> Theory Department, CERN,

- <sup>c</sup> Theoretical Particle Physics & Cosmology Group, Department of Physics, King's College, Strand, London WC2R 2LS, U.K.
- <sup>d</sup> Center for High Energy Physics, Indian Institute of Science, Sir C.V Raman Marg, Bangalore 560 012, India E-mail: abdelhak.djouadi@th.u-psud.fr, John.Ellis@cern.ch,
- ${\tt rohiniQcts.iisc.ernet.in, jeremie.quevillon@kcl.ac.uk}$

ABSTRACT: If the recent indications of a possible state  $\Phi$  with mass ~ 750 GeV decaying into two photons reported by ATLAS and CMS in LHC collisions at 13 TeV were to become confirmed, the prospects for future collider physics at the LHC and beyond would be affected radically, as we explore in this paper. Even minimal scenarios for the  $\Phi$  resonance and its  $\gamma\gamma$  decays require additional particles with masses  $\geq \frac{1}{2}m_{\Phi}$ . We consider here two benchmark scenarios that exemplify the range of possibilities: one in which  $\Phi$  is a singlet scalar or pseudoscalar boson whose production and  $\gamma\gamma$  decays are due to loops of coloured and charged fermions, and another benchmark scenario in which  $\Phi$  is a superposition of (nearly) degenerate CP-even and CP-odd Higgs bosons in a (possibly supersymmetric) two-Higgs doublet model also with additional fermions to account for the  $\gamma\gamma$  decay rate. We explore the implications of these benchmark scenarios for the production of  $\Phi$  and its new partners at colliders in future runs of the LHC and beyond, at higher-energy ppcolliders and at  $e^+e^-$  and  $\gamma\gamma$  colliders, with emphasis on the bosonic partners expected in the doublet scenario and the fermionic partners expected in both scenarios.

KEYWORDS: Phenomenological Models, Supersymmetry Phenomenology

ARXIV EPRINT: 1601.03696v2

CH 1211 Geneva 23, Switzerland

## Contents

		1
Sin	glet scenario	3
2.1	Singlet models of the $\Phi \to \gamma \gamma$ signal	3
2.2	$\Phi$ production in pp collisions	5
2.3	$\Phi$ production in $\gamma\gamma$ collisions	8
2.4	$\Phi$ production in $e^+e^-$ collisions	10
Ber	nchmark two-Higgs-doublet models	13
3.1	Properties of the scalar resonances	13
	3.1.1 Review of models and couplings	13
	3.1.2 Boosting the $\Phi = H/A$ production rates at the LHC	15
	3.1.3 Decays of the $\Phi = H/A$ states	17
3.2	Production of the $\Phi = H, A$ states at pp colliders	20
3.3	$\Phi = H, A$ production at $e^+e^-$ , $\gamma\gamma$ and $\mu^+\mu^-$ colliders	24
3.4	Production of charged Higgs bosons	28
Vec	ctor-like fermions	30
4.1	Couplings, mixing and decays of vector-like fermions	31
4.2	Experimental constraints	34
4.3	Production of vector-like fermions in pp collisions	35
4.4	Production of vector-like fermions in $e^+e^-$ collisions	42
Cor	nclusions	45
	Sin, 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 Ben 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 Vec 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 Con	Singlet scenario2.1Singlet models of the $\Phi \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$ signal2.2 $\Phi$ production in pp collisions2.3 $\Phi$ production in $\gamma\gamma$ collisions2.4 $\Phi$ production in $e^+e^-$ collisionsBenchmark two-Higgs-doublet models3.1Properties of the scalar resonances3.1.1Review of models and couplings3.1.2Boosting the $\Phi = H/A$ production rates at the LHC3.1.3Decays of the $\Phi = H/A$ states3.2Production of the $\Phi = H, A$ states at pp colliders3.3 $\Phi = H, A$ production at $e^+e^-$ , $\gamma\gamma$ and $\mu^+\mu^-$ colliders3.4Production of charged Higgs bosonsVector-like fermions4.1Couplings, mixing and decays of vector-like fermions4.2Experimental constraints4.3Production of vector-like fermions in pp collisions4.4Production of vector-like fermions in $e^+e^-$ collisionsConclusions

# 1 Introduction

The world of particle physics has been set alight by the reports from the ATLAS and CMS Collaborations in LHC collisions at 13 TeV of hints of a possible state, that we denote  $\Phi$ , with mass ~ 750 GeV decaying into two photons [1–4], echoing the discovery of the 125 GeV Higgs boson [5, 6]. The product of the cross section and branching ratio for  $\Phi \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$  decay hinted by the data is ~ 6 fb, with the ATLAS data hinting that it may have a significant total decay width. If these hints are confirmed, a changed and much brighter light will be cast on the future of particle physics, because the putative  $\Phi$  particle must be accompanied by additional massive particles.

The Landau-Yang theorem [7, 8] tells us that  $\Phi$  cannot have spin one, and spins zero and two are the most plausible options. Since a graviton-like spin-2 particle would in principle have similar decays into dileptons, dijets and dibosons that have not been observed by the experiments [9–11], we focus here on the more likely possibility of spin zero. Gauge invariance requires the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  coupling to have dimension  $\geq 5$ , and hence be induced by additional physics with a mass scale  $\gtrsim \frac{1}{2}m_{\Phi}$ . Historical precedent  $(\pi^0, H \to \gamma\gamma)$  [12–20] and many models suggest that the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  coupling is induced by anomalous loops of massive charged fermions and/or bosons whose form factors vanish if their masses are much smaller than  $M_{\Phi}$ . In addition, the absence of a strong  $\Phi$  signal in LHC collisions at 8 TeV motivates gluon-gluon fusion as the  $\Phi$  production mechanism, presumably mediated by massive coloured fermions and/or bosons. The null results of LHC searches for coloured fermions require them to have masses  $\gtrsim M_{\Phi}$ , whereas new uncoloured ones might weigh  $\sim \frac{1}{2}M_{\Phi}$ .

These arguments apply whatever the electroweak isospin assignment of the possible  $\Phi$  particle. If it is a singlet, it need not be accompanied by any bosonic partner particles. However, if it is a non-singlet, it must also be accompanied by bosonic isospin partners that would be nearly degenerate with  $\Phi$  in many scenarios, since  $M_{\Phi}$  is larger than the electroweak scale. The minimal example of a non-singlet scenario for  $\Phi$  is an electroweak doublet, as in a 2-Higgs-doublet model (2HDM), e.g., in the context of supersymmetry.

The necessary existence of such additional massive fermions and/or bosons would yield exciting new perspectives for future high-energy collider physics, if the existence of the  $\Phi$  particle is confirmed. In the absence of such confirmation, some might consider the exploration of these perspectives to be premature, but we consider a preliminary discussion to be appropriate and interesting, in view of the active studies of the physics of the highluminosity LHC (HL-LHC) [21, 22], possible future  $e^+e^-$  colliders (ILC [23–26], CLIC [27], FCC-ee [28], CEPC [29]) and their eventual  $\gamma\gamma$  options [30–37], and possible future higherenergy proton-proton colliders (higher-energy LHC (HE-LHC) [38], SPPC [39] and FCChh [40, 41].

In this paper we explore three aspects of the possible future pp and  $e^+e^-$  collider physics of the  $\Phi$  resonance and its putative partners. We consider single  $\Phi$  production, production of the fermions that are postulated to mediate its  $\gamma\gamma$  decays and its production via gluon-gluon fusion, production of  $\Phi$  in association with fermionic mediators, and the phenomenology of possible bosonic partners. For definiteness, we focus on two alternative benchmark scenarios that illustrate the range of different possibilities for the possible  $\Phi$  particle, in which it is either an isospin singlet state [42]<sup>1</sup> or an isospin doublet in a 2HDM [85].<sup>2</sup> Both scenarios have rich fermionic phenomenology, and the doublet scenario also has rich bosonic phenomenology.

Section 2 of this paper discusses the singlet benchmark scenario, paying particular attention to its production at the LHC and possible future higher-energy pp colliders, as well as in  $\gamma\gamma$  fusion at a high-energy  $e^+e^-$  collider. Section 3 of this paper discusses the 2HDM benchmark scenario, in which the  $\Phi$  signal is a combination of scalar and pseudoscalar Higgs bosons H, A, and discusses their single, pair and associated production in pp,  $e^+e^-$  and  $\gamma\gamma$  collisions, with some comments on production in  $\mu^+\mu^-$  collisions. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The following is a sampling of phenomenological analyses of singlet models that are similar in philosophy to ours. See refs. [43–84].

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ The following is a sampling of phenomenological analyses of two-Higgs doublet models that are similar in philosophy to ours. See refs. [86–101].

capabilities of pp and  $e^+e^-$  colliders to observe directly the massive fermions postulated to mediate  $\Phi$  production by gluon-gluon fusion and  $\Phi \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$  decay are discussed in section 4, including the possibilities for pair and single production in association with Standard Model fermions and vector bosons. Finally, section 5 summarizes our conclusions.

## 2 Singlet scenario

## 2.1 Singlet models of the $\Phi \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$ signal

We consider in this section the minimal scenario in which the  $\Phi$  resonance is an isospin singlet scalar state,<sup>3</sup> unaccompanied by bosonic isospin partners. As already mentioned, the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  and  $\Phi gg$  couplings could be induced by new, massive particles that could be either fermions or bosons, with spins 0 and 1 being possibilities for the latter. We concentrate here on the fermionic option, since loops of scalar bosons make smaller contributions to the anomalous loop amplitudes than do fermions of the same mass and, mindful of William of Occam, we avoid enlarging the gauge group with new, massive gauge bosons. In view of the stringent constraints on massive chiral fermions [102], we assume that the new fermions are vector-like.

The couplings of a generic scalar S and pseudoscalar P state to pairs of photons and gluons are described via dimension-five operators in an effective field theory

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{S} = \frac{e}{v} c_{S\gamma\gamma} S F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} + \frac{g_s}{v} c_{Sgg} S G_{\mu\nu} G^{\mu\nu}$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff}}^{P} = \frac{e}{v} c_{P\gamma\gamma} P F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{g_s}{v} c_{Pgg} P G_{\mu\nu} \tilde{G}^{\mu\nu}$$
(2.1)

with  $F_{\mu\nu} = (\partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu})$  the field strength of the electromagnetic field,  $\tilde{F}_{\mu\nu} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}F^{\rho\sigma}$ and likewise for the SU(3) gauge fields, where  $v \approx 246 \text{ GeV}$  is the standard Higgs vacuum expectation value. Within this effective theory, the partial widths of the  $\Phi = S/P$  particle decays into two gluons and two photons are given by

$$\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma) = c_{\Phi \gamma \gamma}^2 \frac{\alpha}{v^2} M_{\Phi}^3, \quad \Gamma(\Phi \to gg) = c_{\Phi gg}^2 \frac{8\alpha_s}{v^2} M_{\Phi}^3.$$
(2.2)

If the gluonic decay is dominant, one would have the following branching ratio for the photonic decay:

$$BR(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma) = \frac{\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)}{\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma) + \Gamma(\Phi \to gg)} \approx \frac{\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)}{\Gamma(\Phi \to gg)} \approx \frac{c_{\Phi\gamma\gamma}^2}{c_{\Phi gg}^2} \frac{\alpha}{8\alpha_s}, \qquad (2.3)$$

leading to BR( $\Phi \to \gamma \gamma$ )  $\approx 10^{-2}$  if  $c_{\Phi\gamma\gamma} \approx c_{\Phi gg}$ . In general, decays into WW, ZZ and  $Z\gamma$  final states also occur through similar effective couplings. Writing the Lagrangian (2.1) in terms of the SU(2)<sub>L</sub> × U(1)<sub>Y</sub> fields  $\vec{W}_{\mu}$  and  $B_{\mu}$  rather than the electromagnetic field  $A_{\mu}$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>As mentioned before, we ignore the unlikely possibility of spin-2. There are also possibilities to circumvent the Landau-Yan theorem for spin-one particles (see for instance with Z' bosons refs. [103–105]) but we will ignore them here.

one obtains for the coupling constants of the electroweak gauge bosons, where in the scalar case we define the coefficients  $c_1 \equiv c_{\Phi BB}$  and  $c_2 \equiv c_{\Phi W}$  and  $s_W^2 = 1 - c_W^2 \equiv \sin^2 \theta_W$ :

$$c_{\Phi\gamma\gamma} = c_1 c_W^2 + c_2 s_W^2, \ c_{\Phi ZZ} = c_1 s_W^2 + c_2 c_W^2, \ c_{\Phi Z\gamma} = s_W c_W (c_2 - c_1), \ c_{\Phi WW} = c_2 \ , \ (2.4)$$

and in the pseudoscalar case we denote the corresponding coefficients by  $\tilde{c}_{1,2}$ .

Turning to the new fermionic content and following ref. [42], we consider here four models for the massive vector-like fermions:

- Model 1: a single vector-like pair of charge 2/3 quarks,  $T_{R,L}$ .
- Model 2: a vector-like doublet of charge 2/3 and charge 1/3 quarks,  $(U, D)_{R,L}$ .
- Model 3: a vector-like generation of quarks, including charge 2/3 and -1/3 singlets, (U, D)<sub>R,L</sub>, T<sub>R,L</sub>, B<sub>R,L</sub>.
- Model 4: a vector-like generation of heavy fermions including leptons and quarks,  $(U, D)_{R,L}, T_{R,L}, B_{R,L}, (L^1, L^2)_{R,L}, E_{R,L}.$

For simplicity, we consider the case where the mixing between the  $\Phi$  state and the Standard Model Higgs boson is negligible, and favour the possibility that mixing between the new heavy fermions and their Standard Model counterparts is also small.

The left panel of figure 1 reproduces figure 1 of ref. [42], and shows the possible strengths of the  $\Phi(750 \text{ GeV})$  signal found by the CMS collaboration in Run 1 at 8 TeV (green dashed line) and at 13 TeV (blue dashed line), the ATLAS signal at 13 TeV (dashed red line) and their combination (black solid line). The figure is made assuming a gluon fusion production mechanism,  $gg \to \Phi$ , and formally, this combination yields  $\sigma(pp \to \Phi \to \gamma\gamma) = 6 \pm 2 \text{ fb}$  at 13 TeV. The right panel of figure 1 is a simplified version of figure 4 of ref. [42], and is obtained assuming that total width of the resonance is such that  $\Gamma(\Phi) \approx \Gamma(\Phi \to gg)$ . It shows that reproducing the ~ 6 fb  $gg \to \Phi \to \gamma\gamma$  signal reported by the ATLAS and CMS collaborations requires a relatively large value of the fermionantifermion- $\Phi$  coupling  $\lambda$ . For simplicity, both the masses  $m_F$  and the couplings  $\lambda$  were assumed in ref. [42] and here to be universal. If one requires  $\lambda^2/4\pi^2 \leq 1$  so as to remain with a perturbative régime, corresponding to  $\lambda/4\pi \leq 1/2$ , one finds no solutions in Model 1, whereas Model 2 would require  $m_F \leq 800 \text{ GeV}$  even after allowing for the uncertainties. On the other hand, Model 3 would be consistent with perturbativity for  $m_F \leq 1.4 \text{ TeV}$ and Model 4 could accommodate  $m_F \leq 3 \text{ TeV}$ .<sup>4</sup>

As will be discussed in section 4, the LHC has good prospects to explore all the range of the fermion masses  $m_F$  allowed by perturbativity in Model 3, whereas a higher-energy collider may be required to explore fully the range of  $m_F$  allowed in Model 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>We do not discuss in this section the case where  $\Gamma(\Phi) \approx 45 \text{ GeV}$  as hinted by ATLAS, which would require non-perturbative values of  $\lambda$  in all the models studied [42]. However, as discussed in section 3, this value of  $\Gamma(\Phi)$  could be accommodated within two-doublet models.



Figure 1. Left panel: a compilation of the possible strengths of the 750 GeV  $\Phi$  resonance signal found by CMS in Run 1 at 8 TeV (green dashed line), CMS at 13 TeV (blue dashed line), ATLAS at 13 TeV (dashed red line) and their combination (black solid line) assuming a gg fusion production mechanism. Right panel: values of the vector-like fermion mass  $m_F$  and coupling  $\lambda$  (both assumed to be universal) required in singlet Models 1, 2, 3 and 4 to accommodate the possible  $gg \to \Phi \to \gamma\gamma$ signal reported by CMS and ATLAS [1–4]. The black lines are for the central value of the cross section, 6 fb, and the coloured bands represent the 1- $\sigma$  uncertainties. Plots adapted from [42].

In the following we discuss the production of the  $\Phi$  resonance first at pp colliders, focusing on the gluon fusion mechanism<sup>5</sup>  $gg \to \Phi$ , and then at high energy electron-positron colliders in both the  $e^+e^-$  and  $\gamma\gamma$  modes.

#### 2.2 $\Phi$ production in pp collisions

The dominant gluon-gluon fusion mechanism for  $\Phi$  production in these singlet models in pp collisions has the following leading-order partonic subprocess cross section  $\sigma(gg \to \Phi)$ , which is proportional to the  $\Phi \to gg$  partial width:

$$\sigma(pp \to \Phi) = \frac{1}{M_{\Phi}s} C_{gg} \Gamma(\Phi \to gg) : C_{gg} = \frac{\pi^2}{8} \int_{M_{\Phi}^2/s}^{1} \frac{dx}{x} g(x) g\left(\frac{M_{\Phi}^2}{sx}\right), \qquad (2.5)$$

where g(x) is the gluon distribution inside the proton at a suitable factorization scale  $\mu_F$ . Since we assume here that  $\Phi$  is an isospin singlet, production in association with a Standard Model vector boson,  $W^{\pm}$  or Z, is much smaller, and production in association with a  $\bar{t}t$ pair or a vector-like fermion pair is also relatively small (see section 2.4).

The  $gg \to \Phi \to \gamma\gamma$  production cross section times branching ratio at different pp centreof-mass energies can be obtained directly from the estimated rate  $\sigma \times BR \simeq 6 \pm 2$  fb at a centre-of-mass energy of 13 TeV, simply by rescaling the gluon-gluon luminosity function as shown in figure 2. In this figure we use MSTW2008 NLO parton distributions with various choices of the factorization scale [106]: the central value  $\mu_F = M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$  (solid green line) and the choices  $\mu_F = 2M_{\Phi}$  (red dotted line) and  $\mu_F = M_{\Phi}/2$  (blue dotted line). We

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Additional processes likes Higgs-strahlung  $q\bar{q} \to \Phi W, \Phi Z$  and vector boson fusion  $qq \to \Phi qq$  can occur but will have smaller cross sections and will be discussed only in the context of  $e^+e^-$  collisions.



Figure 2. Cross section for producing a singlet  $\Phi$  boson with mass 750 GeV at a pp collider as a function of the centre-of-mass energy from  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV to 100 TeV, assuming gg fusion with a cross section of 6 fb at 13 TeV. The extrapolation to other energies uses the MSTW2008 NLO parton distributions [106] and the central value of the factorization scale  $\mu_F = M_{\Phi} = 750$  GeV (solid green line), compared with the choices  $\mu_F = 2M_{\Phi}$  (red dotted line) and  $\mu_F = \frac{1}{2}M_{\Phi}$  (blue dotted line).

see that the cross section grows by a modest factor  $\simeq 1.2$  from 13 to 14 TeV, but by larger factors  $\sim 10(24)(57)(84)$  at  $\sqrt{s} = 33(50)(80)(100)$  TeV which correspond to the energies mooted for the HE-LHC [38], SPPC [39] and FCC-hh [40]. The uncertainty associated with the variation in  $\mu_F$  is  $\sim 20\%$  at 100 TeV, and we find an additional uncertainty of  $\sim 30\%$  associated with different choices of parton distributions that are recommended by the LHC Higgs working group [107].

It is possible in each of the Models 1 to 4 above to calculate the ratios of rates for decays into Standard Model vector bosons via anomalous triangle diagrams, as shown in table 1, which is adapted from ref. [42]. As discussed there, there are interesting prospects for observing some of these decays, in particular the  $\Phi \to Z\gamma$  and  $\Phi \to W^+W^-$  decays in Model 2.<sup>6</sup> It was assumed in ref. [42] that all the heavy fermions are degenerate. However, this might not be the case and, in particular, it is natural to consider the possibility that the heavy vector-like leptons L are much lighter than the quarks.

In general, the  $\Phi \to gg$  and  $\Phi \to \gamma\gamma$  partial decay widths, assuming that only heavy fermions are running in the loops, are given by [18–20, 108]

$$\Gamma(\Phi \to gg) = \frac{G_{\mu}\alpha_{s}^{2}M_{\Phi}^{3}}{64\sqrt{2}\pi^{3}} \left| \sum_{Q} \hat{g}_{\Phi QQ} A_{1/2}^{\Phi}(\tau_{Q}) \right|^{2}, 
\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma) = \frac{G_{\mu}\alpha^{2}M_{\Phi}^{3}}{128\sqrt{2}\pi^{3}} \left| \sum_{F} \hat{g}_{\Phi FF} N_{c} e_{F}^{2} A_{1/2}^{\Phi}(\tau_{F}) \right|^{2},$$
(2.6)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>In view of the uncertainties and the small branching ratios of the W/Z bosons into leptons that are easier to search for, we do not regard this model as being excluded by searches for these modes.



Figure 3. The real and imaginary parts of the form factors  $A_{1/2}^{\Phi}$  with fermion loops in the case of CP-even H/S and CP-odd A/P states as functions of the variable  $\tau_F = M_{\Phi}^2/4m_F^2$ .

with  $N_c$  a color factor,  $e_F$  the electric charge of the fermions F, and  $g_{\Phi FF}$  the Yukawa coupling normalised to its Standard Model value,  $\hat{g}_{\Phi FF}^{\rm SM} = m_F/v$ . The partial widths are the same in the scalar and pseudoscalar cases, apart from the form factors  $A_{1/2}^{\Phi}(\tau_F)$ that characterize the loop contributions of spin- $\frac{1}{2}$  fermions as functions of the variable  $\tau_F = M_{\Phi}/4m_F^2$ , which depend on the parity of the spin-zero state. They are given by

$$A_{1/2}^{H/S} = 2 \left[ \tau_F + (\tau_F - 1) f(\tau_F) \right] \tau_F^{-2}, \qquad (2.7)$$

$$A_{1/2}^{A/P} = 2\tau_F^{-1} f(\tau_F) , \qquad (2.8)$$

for the scalar/CP-even (S/H) and pseudoscalar/CP-odd (P/A) cases, respectively, where

$$f(\tau_F) = \begin{cases} \arcsin^2 \sqrt{\tau_F} & \text{for } \tau_F \le 1 ,\\ -\frac{1}{4} \left[ \log \frac{1 + \sqrt{1 - \tau_F^{-1}}}{1 - \sqrt{1 - \tau_F^{-1}}} - i\pi \right]^2 & \text{for } \tau_F > 1 . \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

The real and imaginary parts of the form factors for the different H/S and A/P CP cases are shown in figure 3 as functions of the reduced variable  $\tau_F$ .

When the fermion mass in the loop is much larger than the mass  $M_{\Phi}$ , namely in the limit  $m_F \to \infty$ , one obtains  $A_{1/2}^S = \frac{4}{3}$  and  $A_{1/2}^P = 2$  for the real parts of the form factors, and in the opposite limit,  $m_F \to 0$ , one has  $A_{1/2}^{\Phi} \to 0$ . For  $M_{\Phi} \leq 2m_F$  ( $\tau_F \leq 1$ ), so that  $\Phi \to \bar{F}F$  decays are forbidden, the maximal values of the form factors are attained when  $\tau_F = 1$ , i.e., just at the  $\Phi \to \bar{F}F$  threshold. In this case, one has the real parts  $\operatorname{Re}(A_{1/2}^S) \approx 2$  and  $\operatorname{Re}(A_{1/2}^P) \approx \frac{1}{2}\pi^2 \approx 5$ , and  $\operatorname{Im}(A_{1/2}^{\Phi}) = 0$ . In the case of the top quark contributions, when  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$ , one has  $\tau_t \approx 4$ , the form factors have both real and imaginary parts, and  $|A_{1/2}^P/A_{1/2}^S|^2 \approx 2$ .

Model	Masses	$\frac{\Gamma(\Phi \rightarrow gg)}{\Gamma(\Phi \rightarrow \gamma\gamma)}$	$\frac{\Gamma(\Phi \to Z\gamma)}{\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma)}$	$\frac{\Gamma(\Phi \to ZZ)}{\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma)}$	$\frac{\Gamma(\Phi \to W^{\pm} W^{\mp})}{\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)}$
1	all $\gg m_{\Phi}$	180	1.2	0.090	0
2	all $\gg m_{\Phi}$	460	10	9.1	61
3	all $\gg m_{\Phi}$	460	1.1	2.8	15
	all $\gg m_{\Phi}$	180	0.46	2.1	11
4	S: $m_L = 400 \mathrm{GeV}$	140	0.10	1.4	6.6
	$P: m_L = 400  \text{GeV}$	110	0.12	1.5	6.9

**Table 1.** Ratios of  $\Phi$  decay rates for the singlet models under consideration, where we have used  $\alpha_s(m_X) \simeq 0.092$ . Extended version of table 6 in ref. [42].

We have included in table 1 predictions in Model 4 for the ratios of scalar and pseudoscalar diboson decay rates if  $m_L = 400 \text{ GeV}$  and the vector-like quark masses are much larger than  $M_{\Phi}$ . We see that in both these low-lepton-mass cases, the  $\gamma\gamma$  decay rate is enhanced relative to all the other diboson decay rates, as compared with the case where the vector-like quark and lepton masses are the same.

#### 2.3 $\Phi$ production in $\gamma\gamma$ collisions

Since this state has been observed in the diphoton channel at the LHC at 13 TeV, it is natural to discuss  $\Phi$  production via  $\gamma\gamma$  collisions.<sup>7</sup> Many aspects of a possible  $\gamma\gamma$  collider associated with a parent linear  $e^+e^-$  collider have been discussed quite extensively, see, e.g., ref. [31–37], starting from the original idea [30]. A  $\gamma\gamma$  collider can be constructed using Compton back-scattering from a laser beam via the processes [30, 110]

$$e^{-}(\lambda_{e^{-}}) \ \gamma(\lambda_{l_1}) \to e^{-} \ \gamma(\lambda_1) , \ e^{+}(\lambda_{e^{+}}) \ \gamma(\lambda_{l_2}) \to e^{+} \ \gamma(\lambda_2) , \qquad (2.10)$$

The back-scattered laser photons then carry a large fraction of the parent  $e^+/e^-$  energy. Their energy spectrum and polarization depend on the helicities of the lasers  $\lambda_{l_1}, \lambda_{l_2}$  and of the leptons  $\lambda_{e^+}, \lambda_{e^-}$ , as well as on the laser energy. The virtue of such a collider is that it provides a direct and accurate probe of the  $\gamma\gamma$  coupling of a diphoton resonance. Moreover, it offers an unique opportunity to study the CP properties of such resonances.

For the production cross section, one has in general

$$\sigma(\lambda_{e^+}, \lambda_{e^-}, \lambda_{l_1}, \lambda_{l_2}, E_b) = \int dx_1 dx_2 L_{\gamma\gamma}(\lambda_{e^+}, \lambda_{e^-}, \lambda_{l_1}, \lambda_{l_2}, x_1, x_2) \,\hat{\sigma}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, 2E_b\sqrt{x_1x_2}),$$
(2.11)

where  $L_{\gamma\gamma}(\lambda_{e^+}, \lambda_{e^-}, \lambda_{l_1}, \lambda_{l_2}, x_1, x_2)$  is the luminosity function for polarizations  $\lambda_1(\lambda_{e^-}, \lambda_{l_1}, x_1)$  and  $\lambda_2(\lambda_{e^+}, \lambda_{l_2}, x_2)$  of the colliding photons.  $\hat{\sigma}(\lambda_1, \lambda_2, 2E_b\sqrt{x_1x_2})$  is the cross section for the process under consideration,  $\gamma\gamma \to \Phi \to X$  in this case. The invariant mass of the two-photon system is given by  $W = \sqrt{\hat{s}} = 2E_b\sqrt{x_1x_2}$ , where  $x_1, x_2$  are the fractions of the beam energy  $E_b$  carried by the two back-scattered photons. The cross section for  $\Phi$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>For a previous study of  $\Phi$  phenomenology in  $\gamma\gamma$  collisions see ref. [109].



Figure 4. Cross section for producing a singlet  $\Phi$  boson with mass 750 GeV via  $\gamma\gamma$  fusion at an  $e^+e^-$  collider as a function of the  $e^+e^-$  centre-of-mass energy in the range from  $\sqrt{s} = 0.8$  TeV to 3 TeV. The  $\Phi \to \gamma\gamma$  partial width is assumed to be 1 MeV as can be inferred from  $\sigma(gg \to \Phi) \approx 6$  fb at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV when the decay  $\Phi \to gg$  is dominant.

production via  $\gamma\gamma$  fusion is given by

$$\hat{\sigma}(W,\lambda_1,\lambda_2) = 8\pi \frac{\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma)\Gamma(\Phi \to X)}{(W^2 - M_{\Phi}^2)^2 + M_{\Phi}^2 \Gamma_{\Phi}^2} (1 + \lambda_1 \lambda_2), \qquad (2.12)$$

where W is the centre-of-mass energy of the  $\gamma\gamma$  system. The factor of  $(1 + \lambda_1\lambda_2)$  projects out the  $J_Z = 0$  component of the cross section, thereby maximizing the scalar resonance contribution relative to the continuum backgrounds.

We recall that in this singlet  $\Phi$  resonance scenario, the total  $\Phi$  decay width may be dominated by  $\Phi \to gg$ , in which case it would be much narrower than the experimental resolution in any measurable final state [42]. Accordingly, in this subsection we treat  $\Phi$ in the narrow-width approximation. The value of  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)$  may be calculated directly from the cross section for  $gg \to \Phi \to \gamma \gamma$  inferred from the LHC measurements, if  $\Phi \to gg$ is indeed the dominant decay mode as would be the case if mixing between the heavy and Standard Model fermions is negligible as we assume. In this case,  $\sigma(pp \to \Phi \to$  $\gamma \gamma) \propto \Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)$  and the value  $\sigma(pp \to \Phi \to \gamma \gamma) \sim 6 \text{ fb}$  indicated by the ATLAS and CMS collaborations would correspond to  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma) \sim 1 \text{ MeV}$ . We note that this should be regarded as a *lower limit* on  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)$ , which would be enhanced by a factor  $\Gamma(\Phi \to all)/\Gamma(\Phi \to gg)$  if  $\Phi \to gg$  is not the dominant decay mode.

The value of  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)$  inferred from the LHC data motivates the option of a  $\gamma \gamma$  collider discussed above. In the narrow-width approximation and assuming that  $\Phi \to gg$  dominates  $\Gamma_{\Phi}$  we obtain for the gg final state the following expression for  $\hat{\sigma}(\sqrt{\hat{s}})$ , where  $\hat{s} = x_1 x_2 s$  with  $\sqrt{s}$  the centre-of-mass energy of the  $e^+e^-$  machine

$$\hat{\sigma}(\sqrt{\hat{s}}) = \frac{8\pi^2}{M_{\Phi}} \Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma) \delta(M_{\Phi}^2 - sx_1x_2) (1 + \lambda_1\lambda_2), \qquad (2.13)$$

The dependence of the energies and the polarizations of the back-scattered photons, i.e.,  $(E_b x_1, \lambda_1)$  and  $(E_b x_2, \lambda_2)$ , on the electron and positron beam energy  $E_b$  as well as on the frequency and the polarization of the laser, has been computed in ref. [30]. The results are that the spectrum peaks in the region of high photon energy for  $\lambda_e \lambda_l = -1$ . If further one chooses the laser energy  $\omega_0$  such that  $x = 4E_b \omega_0/m_e^2 = 4.8$ , the two-photon luminosity is peaked at  $z = 0.5 \times W/E_b = 0.8$ . The mean helicity of the back-scattered photons depends on their energy. For the choice  $\lambda_e \lambda_l = -1$  and x = 4.8, in the region of high energy for the back-scattered photon also carries the polarisation of the parent electron/positron beam. Thus, choosing  $\lambda_{e^-} = \lambda_{e^+}$  ensures that the dominant photon helicities are the same, which in turn maximizes the Higgs signal relative to the QED background, leading to a luminosity  $L_{\gamma\gamma} \equiv L_{\gamma\gamma}(\lambda_{e^-}, x_1, x_2)$ . The relevant expressions used for  $L_{\gamma\gamma}(\lambda_{e^-}, x_1, x_2)$  as well as those for  $\lambda_1(\lambda_{e^-}, x_1), \lambda_2(\lambda_{e^+}, x_2)$  are taken from ref. [30], as presented in ref. [110].

The total cross section for  $\gamma \gamma \to \Phi \to gg$ , where we write down explicitly the expression for  $L_{\gamma\gamma}$  for the above choices of helicities, is then given by

$$\sigma = \frac{8\pi^2}{M_{\Phi}s} \Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma) \int_{x_1^m}^{x_1^M} \frac{1}{x_1} f(x_1) f(M_{\Phi}^2/s/y_1) \left(1 + \lambda_1(x_1, \lambda_{e^-})\lambda_2(x_2, \lambda_{e^+})\right), \quad (2.14)$$

where  $f(x_i)$  denotes the probability that the backscattered photon carries a fraction  $x_i$  of the beam energy for the chosen laser and lepton helicities, with

$$x_1^m = \frac{M_{\Phi}^2}{s} \frac{(1+x_c)}{x_c}, \ x_1^M = \frac{x_c}{1+x_c} \text{ with } x_c = 4.8.$$
 (2.15)

Because of this cutoff on the fraction of the energy of the  $e^-/e^+$  beam carried by the photon, one needs a minimum energy  $E_b = 453 \text{ GeV}$  to produce the 750 GeV resonance.

Our results for the cross section for  $\Phi$  production via  $\gamma\gamma$  collisions at different  $e^+e^$ collision centre-of-mass energies are presented in figure 4. The above-mentioned choices of laser energy and the helicities of  $e^-$ ,  $e^+$  as well as those of the lasers  $l_1, l_2$ , are used in our numerical calculations, ensuring that the  $J_Z = 0$  contribution is dominant for the production of the scalar resonance. Our results include thus the folding of the expected helicities of the backscattered photons with the cross section. We see that the  $\Phi$  production cross section is maximized for an  $e^+e^-$  centre-of-mass energy ~ 950 GeV.

## 2.4 $\Phi$ production in $e^+e^-$ collisions

As the  $\Phi$  state has the loop-induced couplings to electroweak gauge bosons given in eqs. (2.1) and (2.4), it can be produced in the same processes as the Standard Model-like Higgs boson, namely the WW and ZZ fusion processes  $e^+e^- \to \Phi\nu\bar{\nu}$  and  $e^+e^- \to \Phi e^+e^$ and the Higgsstrahlung process  $e^+e^- \to \Phi Z$ . We also consider the companion process  $e^+e^- \to \Phi\gamma$ , which occurs via the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  and  $\Phi Z\gamma$  couplings that are generated through the same loops as the  $\Phi ZZ$  coupling. The couplings used in the discussion are<sup>8</sup>

$$S V^{\mu}(p_1) V^{\nu}(p_2) : e/(vs_W) (p_1 \cdot p_2 g^{\mu\nu} - p_1^{\mu} p_2^{\nu}) c_{\Phi V V}$$

$$P V^{\mu}(p_1) V^{\nu}(p_2) : e/(vs_W) (i\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} p_1^{\rho} p_2^{\sigma}) \tilde{c}_{\Phi V V}$$
(2.16)

Neglecting the small standard-like contribution,<sup>9</sup> the total cross section reads [114]

$$\sigma(e^+e^- \to Z\Phi) = \frac{2\pi\alpha^2}{s}\,\lambda^{1/2}\,\left[\left(1 + \frac{1}{6}\frac{\lambda}{z}\right)(D_+^2 + D_-^2) + \frac{1}{6}\frac{\lambda}{z}(\tilde{D}_+^2 + \tilde{D}_-^2)\right]\,,\tag{2.17}$$

with  $z = M_Z^2/s$ , and  $\lambda^{1/2}$  the usual two-particle phase-space function defined by  $\lambda^{1/2} = \sqrt{(1 - M_{\Phi}^2/s - M_Z^2/s)^2 - 4M_{\Phi}^2M_Z^2/s^2} \rightarrow 1 - M_{\Phi}^2/s$  in the limit  $M_Z \ll \sqrt{s}$ . The scalar contributions  $D_{\pm}$  are given in terms of the scalar coefficients  $c_1$  and  $c_2$  and reduced propagator,  $P_Z = 1/(1-z)$  by

$$D_{+} = c_{2}(1 - P_{Z}) - c_{1}(1 + P_{Z}s_{W}^{2}/c_{W}^{2}),$$
  

$$D_{-} = c_{2}[1 + P_{Z}(1 - 2s_{W}^{2})/(2s_{W}^{2})] - c_{1}[1 + P_{Z}(1 - 2c_{W}^{2})/(2c_{W}^{2})],$$
(2.18)

and the pseudoscalar contributions  $\tilde{D}_{\pm}$  are given by similar expressions in terms of the corresponding pseudoscalar coefficients  $\tilde{c}_1$  and  $\tilde{c}_2$ .

The process  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \Phi\gamma$  proceeds through the *s*-channel exchange of the *Z* boson and the photon via, respectively, the  $\Phi Z\gamma$  and  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  induced couplings. Neglecting the small Standard Model-like loop-induced contribution [115–118], the cross section is given by [114]

$$\sigma(e^+e^- \to \Phi\gamma) = \frac{\pi\alpha^2}{3} \frac{\lambda^{3/2}}{M_Z^2 c_W^2 s_W^2} \left[ (D_1 + \tilde{D}_1) + (D_2 + \tilde{D}_2) + (D_3 + \tilde{D}_3) \right], \quad (2.19)$$

with

$$D_{1} = c_{2}^{2} [2s_{W}^{4} + P_{Z}(1 - 4s_{W}^{2})s_{W}^{2} + P_{Z}^{2}(1/4 - s_{W}^{2} + 2s_{W}^{4})],$$
  

$$D_{2} = c_{1}^{2} [2c_{W}^{4} - P_{Z}(1 - 4s_{W}^{2})c_{W}^{2} + P_{Z}^{2}(1/4 - s_{W}^{2} + 2s_{W}^{4})],$$
  

$$D_{3} = c_{1}c_{2} [4s_{W}^{2}c_{W}^{2} + P_{Z}(1 - 4s_{W}^{2})(1 - 2s_{W}^{2}) - 2P_{Z}^{2}(1/4 - s_{W}^{2} + 2s_{W}^{4})],$$
(2.20)

and similarly for the CP-odd  $D_i$  contributions. One should note that in the CP-odd case both the  $e^+e^- \to Z\Phi$  and  $e^+e^- \to \gamma\Phi$  cross sections behave like  $\sigma \propto \lambda^{3/2}$  near the kinematical threshold, and hence are strongly suppressed there, and have an angular distribution that follow the  $1 + \cos^2\theta$  law.<sup>10</sup> These features also hold for a CP-even state in the cases of both the  $e^+e^- \to \Phi\gamma$  process eq. (2.19) and also in the  $e^+e^- \to \Phi Z$  process at high enough energies when  $M_Z \ll \sqrt{s}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In principle, the  $\Phi VV^*$  induced couplings should be damped by the virtuality of the off-shell gauge bosons, in much the same way as in pion scattering where the quadratic pion scalar radius plays an important role; see for instance ref. [111–113]. Nevertheless, in the approximation that we are using in our exploratory work, we ignore these corrections and consider only the "point-like" coupling below.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The full differential cross section including a Standard Model-like contribution as well as the new contributions and their possible interferences can be found in ref. [114].

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$ See for instance ref. [119].



Figure 5. Cross sections in  $e^+e^-$  collisions for producing a singlet scalar or pseudoscalar state with  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$  state as functions of the energy  $\sqrt{s}$ , for induced couplings to electroweak gauge bosons,  $c_1 = c_2 = 0.02 = \tilde{c}_1 = \tilde{c}_2$ . Left panel: Higgsstrahlung  $e^+e^- \to \Phi Z$  and associated production with a photon  $e^+e^- \to \Phi\gamma$ . Right panel: the WW fusion  $e^+e^- \to \Phi\nu\bar{\nu}$  and ZZ fusion  $e^+e^- \to \Phi e^+e^-$  processes.

The production cross sections for the two processes  $e^+e^- \to Z\Phi$  and  $e^+e^- \to \gamma\Phi$  are shown in the left panel of figure 5 as functions of the centre-of-mass energy, where loopinduced couplings  $c_1 = c_2 = 0.02 = \tilde{c}_1 = \tilde{c}_2$  have been assumed in both the scalar and pseudoscalar cases (these values yield a partial decay width  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma) \approx a$  few MeV). As can be seen, for such couplings, the cross sections are small but not negligible. They are approximately (exactly) the same for the CP-even and CP-odd scalar particles sufficiently above the  $M_{\Phi} + M_Z$  threshold (for any  $M_{\Phi}$ ) in the  $Z\Phi$  ( $\gamma\Phi$ ) case and, for the chosen  $c_{1,2}, \tilde{c}_{1,2}$ values, they are a factor of four larger in  $e^+e^- \to \Phi\gamma$  than in the  $e^+e^- \to Z\Phi$  processes. The most important message of the figure is that, contrary to the  $e^+e^- \to ZH$  cross section with standard-like Higgs couplings which drops like 1/s, the cross sections with the anomalous induced couplings increase with energy (at least at the level of approximation used here; see e.g. ref. [111–113]). Hence, the highest energies are favored and rates at the 1 fb level can be generated in the chosen example for couplings.

The other processes for the production of a scalar or a pseudoscalar resonance in  $e^+e^-$  collisions are due to vector boson fusion,  $e^+e^- \rightarrow V^*V^*\ell\bar{\ell} \rightarrow \Phi\ell\bar{\ell}$ , which leads to the  $\Phi\nu\bar{\nu}$  and  $\Phi e^+e^-$  final states in the WW and ZZ fusion modes, respectively. In the Standard Model, the spin-summed and -averaged amplitude squared of the  $e^-(k_1) + e^+(k_2) \rightarrow \nu(p_1) + \bar{\nu}(p_2) + \Phi(p_3)$  process for WW fusion is given by [120]

$$|\mathcal{M}|_{\rm SM}^2 = \sigma_0 [4M_W^4 \, u_1 t_2] \text{ with } \sigma_0 = \frac{4\pi^3 \alpha^3}{s_W^6 M_W^2} \frac{1}{(t_1 - M_W^2)^2 \, (u_2 - M_W^2)^2} \,, \tag{2.21}$$

where the variables are defined as  $s = (k_1 + k_2)^2$ ,  $s' = (p_1 + p_2)^2$ ,  $t_1 = (k_1 - p_1)^2$ ,  $u_1 = (k_1 - p_2)^2$ ,  $t_2 = (k_2 - p_1)^2$  and  $u_2 = (k_2 - p_2)^2$ . In the case of the scalar resonances S and

P the amplitudes-squared would become [120]

$$|\mathcal{M}|_{\rm S}^2 = \sigma_0 g_{SWW}^2 \left[ t_1 u_2 (u_1^2 + t_2^2 + t_1 u_2 - 2ss') + (ss' - t_2 u_1)^2 \right] ,$$
  

$$|\mathcal{M}|_{\rm P}^2 = \sigma_0 g_{PWW}^2 \left[ t_1 u_2 (u_1^2 + t_2^2 - t_1 u_2 + 2ss') - (ss' - t_2 u_1)^2 \right] .$$
(2.22)

A similar expression can be obtained for the ZZ fusion process  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \Phi e^+e^-$  and for equal  $g_{\Phi ZZ} = g_{WW\Phi}$  induced couplings, but the cross section is about a factor of ten smaller compared to  $\sigma(e^+e^- \rightarrow \Phi \nu \bar{\nu})$ , as a result of the smaller  $Ze^+e^-$  couplings compared to the  $We\nu$  couplings. We have calculated the cross section for the WW and ZZ fusion processes using the calculations that were developed to study vector boson fusion for anomalous vertices at the  $e^+e^-$  colliders [121, 122] and the LHC [123, 124]. The cross sections are shown in figure 5 (right) as a function of  $\sqrt{s}$  again for  $c_2 = \tilde{c}_2 = 0.02$ . Here again they are the same for CP-even and CP-odd particles. The WW fusion cross section is comparable to that of  $e^+e^- \rightarrow Z\Phi$  and that of ZZ an order of magnitude smaller. Hence, even if the couplings of the  $\Phi$  resonances to  $\gamma\gamma, \gamma Z, ZZ$  and WW states are loop-induced, the production rates are not negligible at high-energy and high-luminosity  $e^+e^-$  colliders.

#### **3** Benchmark two-Higgs-doublet models

#### 3.1 Properties of the scalar resonances

#### 3.1.1 Review of models and couplings

In this section, we discuss a second possibility [85]: namely that the observed scalar  $\Phi$  resonance is the heavier CP-even H state and/or the CP-odd A state of a two Higgs doublet model (2HDM)<sup>11</sup> as realised, for instance, in the Minimal Supersymmetric extension of the Standard Model (MSSM) [126, 127]. We start by reviewing the CP-conserving 2HDM and, more precisely, a special MSSM scenario called the hMSSM [128–131], which will be the basic framework for our second benchmark scenario for the  $\Phi$  resonance.

The scalar potential of this model, in terms of the two Higgs doublet fields  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$ , is described by three mass parameters and five quartic couplings and is given by [125]

$$V = m_{11}^2 \Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_1 + m_{22}^2 \Phi_2^{\dagger} \Phi_2 - m_{12}^2 (\Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_2 + \Phi_2^{\dagger} \Phi_1) + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_1 (\Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_1)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_2 (\Phi_2^{\dagger} \Phi_2)^2 + \lambda_3 (\Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_1) (\Phi_2^{\dagger} \Phi_2) + \lambda_4 (\Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_2) (\Phi_2^{\dagger} \Phi_1) + \frac{1}{2} \lambda_5 [(\Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_2)^2 + (\Phi_2^{\dagger} \Phi_1)^2].$$
(3.1)

The model contains two CP-even neutral Higgs bosons h and H, a CP-odd neutral boson A and two charged  $H^{\pm}$  bosons, whose masses  $M_h, M_H, M_A$  and  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  are free parameters. We assume that the lighter CP-even h boson is the light Higgs state with a mass of  $M_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$  that was discovered at the LHC in 2012 [5, 6]. Three other parameters characterize the model: the mixing angle  $\beta$  with  $\tan \beta = v_2/v_1$ , where  $v_1$  and  $v_2$  are the vacuum expectation values of the neutral components of the fields  $\Phi_1$  and  $\Phi_2$ , with  $\sqrt{v_1^2 + v_2^2} = v = 246 \text{ GeV}$ , the angle  $\alpha$  that diagonalises the mass matrix of the two CP-even h and H bosons, and another mass parameter  $m_{12}$  that enters only in the quartic couplings among the Higgs bosons, which is not relevant for our analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>For a review on 2HDMs see ref. [125].

Φ	$\hat{g}_{\Phi ar{u} u}$		ĝ	$\hat{g}_{\Phi VV}$	
	Type I	Type II	Type I	Type II	Type I/II
h	$\cos \alpha / \sin \beta$	$\cos \alpha / \sin \beta$	$\cos \alpha / \sin \beta$	$-\sin \alpha / \cos \beta$	$\sin(\beta - \alpha)$
H	$\sin \alpha / \sin \beta$	$\sin \alpha / \sin \beta$	$\sin \alpha / \sin \beta$	$\cos lpha / \cos eta$	$\cos(\beta - \alpha)$
A	$\coteta$	$\coteta$	$\coteta$	aneta	0

**Table 2.** The couplings of the h, H, A states to fermions and gauge bosons in Type-I and -II 2HDMs relative to standard Higgs couplings; the  $H^{\pm}$  couplings to fermions follow those of A.

In this parametrisation, the neutral CP-even h and H bosons share the coupling of the Standard Model Higgs particle to the massive gauge bosons V = W, Z and one has, at tree level, the following couplings normalised relative to those of the standard Higgs

$$\hat{g}_{hVV} = \sin(\beta - \alpha), \quad \hat{g}_{HVV} = \cos(\beta - \alpha), \quad (3.2)$$

while, as a consequence of CP invariance, the CP-odd A does not couple to vector bosons,  $\hat{g}_{AVV} = 0$ . There are also couplings between two Higgs and a vector boson which, up to a normalization factor, are complementary to the ones above. For instance, one has

$$\hat{g}_{hAZ} = \hat{g}_{hH^{\pm}W} = \cos(\beta - \alpha), \quad \hat{g}_{HAZ} = \hat{g}_{HH^{\pm}W} = \sin(\beta - \alpha). \tag{3.3}$$

For completeness, additional couplings of the charged Higgs boson will be needed in our discussion: they do not depend on any extra parameter and one has, for instance,  $\hat{g}_{AH^{\pm}W} = 1$  and  $g_{H^{+}H^{-}Z} = -e \cos 2\theta_W / (\sin \theta_W \cos \theta_W)$ .

The interactions of the Higgs states with fermions are more model-dependent, and there are two major options that are discussed in the literature; see again ref. [125]. In Type-II 2HDMs, the field  $\Phi_1$  generates the masses of down-type quarks and charged leptons, while  $\Phi_2$  generates the masses of up-type quarks, whereas in Type-I 2HDMs the field  $\Phi_2$  couples to both up- and down-type fermions. The couplings of the neutral Higgs bosons to gauge bosons and fermions in the two models are summarized in table 2. (The couplings of the charged Higgs to fermions follow those of the CP-odd Higgs state.)

We see that the Higgs couplings to fermions and gauge bosons depend only on the ratio  $\tan \beta$  and on the difference  $\beta - \alpha$ . However, one needs to take into account the fact that the couplings of the light h boson have been measured at the LHC and found to be Standard Model-like [132]. With this in mind, we set  $\beta - \alpha = \frac{\pi}{2}$ , which is called the alignment limit [133]. In this limit, the h couplings to fermions and vector bosons are automatically standard-like,  $\hat{g}_{hVV} = \hat{g}_{huu} = \hat{g}_{hdd} \rightarrow 1$ , while the couplings of the CP-even H state reduce exactly to those of the pseudoscalar A boson. In particular, there is no H coupling to vector bosons,  $\hat{g}_{HVV} \rightarrow \hat{g}_{AVV} = 0$ , and the couplings to up-type fermions are  $\hat{g}_{Huu} = \cot \beta$ , while those to down-type fermions are  $\hat{g}_{Hdd} = \cot \beta$  and  $\hat{g}_{Hdd} = \tan \beta$  in Type-I and -II models, respectively.

Finally, there are also some triple couplings among the Higgs bosons that depend in addition on the parameter  $m_{12}$ . However, in the alignment limit  $\beta - \alpha = \frac{\pi}{2}$  the most important ones involving the lighter h boson are simply  $\hat{\lambda}_{hhh} \approx 1$  and  $\hat{\lambda}_{Hhh} \approx 0$ .

In addition to  $\tan \beta$ , the other 2HDM parameters are the three Higgs masses  $M_H, M_A$ and  $M_{H^{\pm}}$ , which are in principle free. In our scenario we assume that the possible  $\Phi$ resonance is a superposition of the H and A states and set  $M_H \approx M_A \approx 750 \text{ GeV}$ . This assumption has several motivations. First, it is a property of the MSSM in the decoupling limit [134] as will be seen shortly. Then, there is only one hint of a peak at the LHC (not two) and having two degenerate states enhances the signal (which is a necessity in the 2HDM). Finally, a small breaking of the mass degeneracy would yield a larger signal width (as may be favoured by the ATLAS data), as will be seen later.

The charged Higgs boson mass and  $\tan \beta$  will thus be the only free parameters, and in most of our discussion we assume  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  to be comparable to the H/A masses:  $M_H \approx M_A \approx M_{H^{\pm}}$ , as happens in the MSSM scenario in the decoupling limit  $M_A \gg M_Z$  [134].

Indeed, the MSSM is essentially a 2HDM of Type II in which supersymmetry imposes strong constraints on the Higgs sector so that only two parameters, generally taken to be  $M_A$  and  $\tan \beta$ , are independent. This remains true also when the important radiative corrections that introduce dependences on many other supersymmetric model parameters [135–137] are incorporated. These corrections shift the value of the lightest h boson mass from the tree-level value, predicted to be  $M_h \leq M_Z |\cos 2\beta| \leq M_Z$ , to the value  $M_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$  that has been measured experimentally [132]. Assuming a very heavy supersymmetric particle spectrum, as indicated by LHC data [102], and fixing these radiative corrections in terms of  $M_h$ , one can write the parameters  $M_H, M_{H^{\pm}}$  and  $\alpha$  in terms of  $M_A$ ,  $\tan \beta$  and  $M_h$  in the simple form (writing  $c_\beta \equiv \cos \beta$  etc..)

$$M_{H} = \sqrt{\frac{(M_{A}^{2} + M_{Z}^{2} - M_{h}^{2})(M_{Z}^{2}c_{\beta}^{2} + M_{A}^{2}s_{\beta}^{2}) - M_{A}^{2}M_{Z}^{2}c_{2\beta}^{2}}{M_{A} \otimes M_{Z}}} \xrightarrow{M_{A} \otimes M_{Z}} M_{A},$$
  

$$h\text{MSSM}: \quad M_{H^{\pm}} = \sqrt{M_{A}^{2} + M_{W}^{2}} \xrightarrow{M_{A} \otimes M_{Z}} M_{A},$$
  

$$\alpha = -\arctan\left(\frac{(M_{Z}^{2} + M_{A}^{2})c_{\beta}s_{\beta}}{M_{Z}^{2}c_{\beta}^{2} + M_{A}^{2}s_{\beta}^{2} - M_{h}^{2}}\right) \xrightarrow{M_{A} \otimes M_{Z}} \beta - \frac{1}{2}\pi.$$
(3.4)

This is the so-called hMSSM approach [128–131], which has been shown to provide a very good approximation to the MSSM Higgs sector [138].

When  $M_A \gg M_Z$ , one is in the so-called decoupling régime, where one has  $\alpha \approx \beta - \frac{\pi}{2}$ implying that the light h state has almost exactly the standard Higgs couplings,  $\hat{g}_{hVV} = \hat{g}_{hff} = 1$ . The other CP-even boson H and the charged bosons  $H^{\pm}$  become heavy and degenerate in mass with the A state,  $M_H \approx M_{H^{\pm}} \approx M_A$ , and decouple from the massive gauge bosons. The strengths of the couplings of the H and A states are the same. Thus, in this régime the MSSM Higgs sector looks almost exactly like that of the 2HDM of Type-II in the alignment limit, especially if we use the additional assumption  $M_{H^{\pm}} = M_A$  on the Higgs masses that simplifies further the model. Hence, our discussion below covers two scenarios: the 2HDM in the alignment limit and the MSSM in the decoupling limit, augmented by extra vector-like fermions as we discuss in the next subsection.

## 3.1.2 Boosting the $\Phi = H/A$ production rates at the LHC

Loops of the top quark (and lighter standard fermions) are, by themselves, insufficient to explain the magnitude of the  $\Phi = H, A \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$  signal hinted by the LHC experiments. How

large is the contribution from heavy vector-like fermions<sup>12</sup> that we need to enhance the  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)$  rate to fit the estimated LHC cross section at 13 TeV,  $\sigma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma) \approx 6$  fb? For  $M_H = M_A = 750$  GeV and  $\tan \beta = 1$ , one has in principle branching ratios of the order of BR $(A \to \gamma \gamma) \approx 7 \times 10^{-6}$  and BR $(H \to \gamma \gamma) \approx 6 \times 10^{-6}$  for the A and H resonances and total decay widths  $\Gamma_{\text{tot}}^{\Phi} \sim \Gamma(\Phi \to t\bar{t}) \approx 32$  GeV for the H and  $\approx 35$  GeV for the A boson<sup>13</sup> which, as discussed previously, are consistent with the total width of  $\sim 45$  GeV favoured by the ATLAS Collaboration.<sup>14</sup> At  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV, the cross sections in the dominant  $gg \to \Phi$  processes are  $\sigma(gg \to H) \approx 0.6$  pb and  $\sigma(gg \to A) \approx 1.3$  pb for the chosen  $M_{\Phi}$  and  $\tan \beta$  values. This leads to the following cross section times branching fraction when the two states are added (the numbers are for the hMSSM),  $\sum_{\Phi=H,A} \sigma(gg \to \Phi) \times \text{BR}(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma) \approx 6$  fb. We conclude that an enhancement factor  $K_{gg \times \gamma\gamma}^{H+A}$  of about 500 is required when the rates for the two resonances H and A are added in order to accommodate the observations.

Such an enhancement can be obtained by including singly- or doubly-charged vectorlike leptons in the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  loop vertices and/or also some vector-like quarks in both the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$ and  $\Phi gg$  loops. The contributions of some representative scenarios with vector-like fermions are illustrated in figure 6 (left), where the boost factors  $K_{gg\times\gamma\gamma}$  obtained as functions of the charged fermion mass (assumed, for simplicity, to be universal) can be compared with the factor ~ 500 that is needed to reach the hinted  $gg \rightarrow \Phi \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$  rate.

Three scenarios are considered in the left-hand side of figure 6. The first scenario includes three vector-like pairs of left- and right-handed leptonic doublets (green dotted line), which leads to the presence of six charged leptons. In this case, the enhancement factor can reach the level of ~ 200 when the (common) masses of the vector-like leptons are close to the  $\frac{1}{2}M_{\Phi}$  threshold for which the form factors  $A_{1/2}^{\Phi}$  are maximal; see figure 3. A second scenario is when three charged dileptons  $E^{--}$  contribute to the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  loop (blue dotted line). Because of the higher electric charge, the enhancement factor is larger than in the previous case (a factor of two at the amplitude level). A final scenario is when an entire generation of vector-like quarks and leptons is added to the standard spectrum (red solid line). In this case, as in the singlet scenario discussed in the previous section, up- and down-type quarks (U, D) contribute to both the  $\Phi gg$  and  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  loops, and the additional vector-like charged leptons L also contribute to the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  amplitude.

In this last scenario, in order to suppress the cross section for  $\sigma(gg \to \Phi \to t\bar{t})$ , which would also be enhanced by the presence of the new U and D quarks, we assume that  $\tan \beta = 3$ . In this case,  $\Gamma_{\Phi} \approx 3 \,\text{GeV}$  in the absence of novel  $\Phi$  decay modes. A large  $\Phi$ width could be recovered, e.g., by allowing invisible  $\Phi$  decays into the neutral vector-like leptons,<sup>15</sup>  $\Phi \to \bar{N}N$ , with the mass  $m_N$  adjusted in order to obtain the desired total width.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The easiest option would have been the introduction of a fourth generation of fermions but it is completely excluded by the observation of the light h state with standard-like couplings [139–142].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>The numerical analyses on Higgs decays are performed using the program HDECAY. See refs. [143, 144]. <sup>14</sup>In fact, the best fit to the ATLAS value  $\Gamma_{\Phi} \simeq 45 \text{ GeV}$  can be obtained by allowing a 10–15 GeV mass difference between the *H* and *A* states. Curiously enough, this is just what happens in the *h*MSSM: with  $M_A \approx 750 \text{ GeV}$ , one obtains  $M_H \approx 765 \text{ GeV}$  for tan  $\beta \approx 1$  [128–130].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup>This would be the case if, for instance, the partner neutral lepton is the dark matter particle, with interactions mediated by the  $\Phi$ ; see, e.g., ref. [145–149].



**Figure 6.** Left: the enhancement factors,  $K_{gg \times \gamma\gamma}^{H+A}$  as a function of the lepton mass, in scenarios with vector-like fermions, of the prospective  $\sigma(gg \to \Phi) \times \text{BR}(\Phi \to \gamma\gamma)$  signal, compared to the 2HDM case in which only the top quark contribution for  $tan\beta = 1$  is included. Right: the  $\Phi = H, A$  line-shape calculated assuming as in the hMSSM  $M_A = 750 \text{ GeV}, M_H = 765 \text{ GeV}, \Gamma_H = 32 \text{ GeV}$  and  $\Gamma_A = 35 \text{ GeV}$  for  $tan\beta = 1$ , and normalizing the combined signal curve to  $\sigma \times \text{BR}(pp \to H, A \to \gamma\gamma) = 6 \text{ fb}.$ 

This would also suppress the fraction  $BR(\Phi \to t\bar{t})$ , allowing us to evade even more easily the constraints from the ATLAS and CMS searches for  $t\bar{t}$  resonances [150, 151].

The right-hand side of figure 6 shows the expected  $\Phi = H, A$  line-shape, assuming  $M_A = 750 \text{ GeV}, M_H - M_A = 15 \text{ GeV}$  as in the hMSSM,  $\sigma \times \text{BR}(pp \to A \to \gamma\gamma)/\sigma \times \text{BR}(pp \to H \to \gamma\gamma) = 2, \Gamma_{\text{tot}}(H) = 32 \text{ GeV}$  and  $\Gamma_{\text{tot}}(A) = 35 \text{ GeV}$  as in the hMSSM for  $\tan \beta = 1$  (modelled as non-interfering Breit-Wigners), and normalizing the combined signal curve to  $\sigma \times \text{BR}(pp \to \Phi = H, A \to \gamma\gamma) = 6 \text{ fb}$ . The A contribution is the dashed green line, the H contribution is the dotted blue line, and the sum is the solid red line. In principle, this line-shape could be distinguished from a single Breit-Wigner, e.g., by its asymmetry around the peak of the distribution, though this would require large statistics.

#### 3.1.3 Decays of the $\Phi = H/A$ states

We turn now to the decays of the  $\Phi = H/A$  states which, in the two limits of alignment in the general 2HDM and decoupling in the MSSM, are almost the same (this is particularly true as we assume that the supersymmetric particle spectrum is very heavy and do not enter the decays either directly or indirectly in the loop-induced modes). The pattern of these decays is, to a large extent, dictated by the value of  $\tan \beta$  and the fact that for low values, the top quark Yukawa coupling  $\propto 1/\tan \beta$  is very large, while at high  $\tan \beta$  the Higgs couplings to bottom quarks and  $\tau$  leptons,  $\propto \tan \beta$ , are enhanced; see table 2. We start with the modes by which the  $\Phi$  signal has been observed, i.e., the  $\Phi \to \gamma \gamma$ mode and the (inverse of the)  $\Phi \to gg$  mode. In these two cases, the partial decay widths, assuming that only heavy fermions are running in the loops,<sup>16</sup> are given by the same expressions eqs. (2.6), (2.8), (2.9) shown previously [18–20, 108], see also figure 3.

The other important decays of the  $\Phi$  states would be into fermion pairs, with partial widths given, in terms of the fermion velocity  $\beta_f = (1 - 4m_f^2/M_{\Phi}^2)^{1/2}$ , by [108]

$$\Gamma(\Phi \to f\bar{f}) = N_c \frac{G_\mu m_f^2}{4\sqrt{2}\pi} \,\hat{g}_{\Phi ff}^2 \,M_\Phi \,\beta_f^{p_\Phi} \,, \tag{3.5}$$

with  $p_{\Phi} = 3 (1)$  for the CP-even (odd) Higgs boson. In principle, the only relevant decays at low  $\tan \beta$  values are those into  $t\bar{t}$  pairs, while at high  $\tan \beta$  values the decays into  $b\bar{b}$  and  $\tau^+\tau^-$  pairs are dominant. All other decay modes<sup>17</sup> are strongly suppressed in the alignment/decoupling limits of 2HDMs/MSSM. In particular, this is the case for the  $H \to WW, ZZ$  decays of the CP-even H state and the  $A \to hZ$  decays of the CP-odd Astate, which involve the couplings  $\hat{g}_{HVV} = \hat{g}_{ZhA} = \cos(\beta - \alpha) \to 0$ . The decay  $H \to hh$ , which involves the trilinear coupling  $g_{Hhh}$  that is small or vanishing, is also suppressed.

The branching fractions for the main decay modes of the H/A states, namely  $\Phi \rightarrow t\bar{t}, b\bar{b}, \tau^+\tau^-$  and the loop-induced decays  $\Phi \rightarrow \gamma\gamma, gg$  are shown in the left panel of figure 7 for  $M_H = M_A = 750 \text{ GeV}$  as functions of  $\tan \beta$ . A Type-II 2HDM like the MSSM has been assumed, and the value of  $\tan \beta$  is restricted to lie in the range  $\frac{1}{3} \leq \tan \beta \leq 60$  for which both the top and bottom quark Yukawa couplings,  $y_t = m_t/v \tan \beta$  and  $y_b = \bar{m}_b \tan \beta/v$ , are perturbative at the weak scale (using the pole t-mass  $m_t = 172 \text{ GeV}$  and the running b-mass at the scale of the Higgs mass  $\bar{m}_b = 3 \text{ GeV}$  [102]).

As expected, the decay  $\Phi \to t\bar{t}$  dominates by far when  $\tan\beta \leq 5$ , for which the top Yukawa coupling is the largest:  $y_t \gg y_b$ . On the other hand, for  $\tan\beta \gtrsim 10$  one has  $y_b \gg y_t$ and the decay  $\Phi \to b\bar{b}$  is the dominant one. The branching fractions for decays into  $\tau$ pairs is BR( $\Phi \to \tau^+ \tau^-$ )  $\approx 10\%$ , a simple reflection of the fact that  $3\bar{m}_b^2/m_\tau^2 \approx 10$ , with 3 being the colour factor. For intermediate  $\tan\beta$  values,  $\tan\beta \approx 5$ –10, the suppression of the  $\Phi t\bar{t}$  coupling is already effective, whereas the  $\Phi b\bar{b}$  coupling is not yet strongly enhanced, resulting in decay rates into  $t\bar{t}$  and  $b\bar{b}$  that are comparable. The cross-over point is at  $\tan\beta \approx \sqrt{m_t/\bar{m}_b} \approx 7$ .

The decays  $\Phi \to \gamma \gamma$  have constant branching fractions of the order of  $10^{-5}$  at low  $\tan \beta$ and, starting from  $\tan \beta \approx 5$ , they decrease with increasing  $\tan \beta$  reaching BR( $\Phi \to \gamma \gamma$ )  $\approx$  $10^{-7}$  for  $\tan \beta \approx 30$ . The branching ratio for the  $\Phi \to gg$  decay is more than two orders of magnitude higher,  $\mathcal{O}(\frac{3}{2}\alpha_s^2/\alpha^2) \approx 400$ . Thus the maximal values of the  $\Phi \to \gamma \gamma$  and  $\Phi \to gg$ branching ratios, and hence the  $\Phi$  cross section at a pp collider, will be obtained at low  $\tan \beta$  values. We note also that, for  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$ , values  $\tan \beta \gtrsim 20$  are excluded by the search for heavy Higgs particles decaying into  $\tau^+\tau^-$  pairs [131].<sup>18</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup>There is no W contribution in the H case as the coupling  $\hat{g}_{HVV} \to 0$  is suppressed in these limits and the contribution of the charged Higgs boson is very small [85].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup>There is, however, one exception: the decays  $\Phi \to H^{\pm}W^{\mp}$  with light charged Higgs bosons. In general, we assume this channel to be kinematically closed, an assumption that we revisit later.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup>The ATLAS and CMS bounds are less restrictive, with only values  $\tan \beta \gtrsim 30$  being excluded for  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \,\text{GeV} [152, 153]$ . However, these searches were interpreted in a benchmark scenario in which additional decays of the A/H bosons, namely supersymmetric decays into charginos and neutralinos, are present, reducing the interesting A/H branching ratios into  $\tau^+\tau^-$  final states.



Figure 7. The branching ratios for  $\Phi = H/A$  decays into various final states for  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$  as functions of  $\tan \beta$  (left) and the corresponding total decay width (right).

The total decay width of  $\Phi = H, A$  is shown in the right panel of figure 7 as a function of  $\tan \beta$ . For the reasons discussed above, the total width is large at low and high  $\tan \beta$ values, and values  $\tan \beta < 1$  lead to an unacceptably large width for  $\Phi$ . The width has a minimum of about 1 GeV at the cross-over  $\tan \beta$  value,  $\tan \beta \approx \sqrt{m_t/\bar{m}_b} \approx 7$ . If the total width  $\Gamma_{\Phi} \approx 45$  GeV apparently observed by the ATLAS Collaboration [3] is to be attained, values  $\tan \beta \approx 1$  or  $\tan \beta \approx 60$  would be required, but the high- $\tan \beta$  option is completely excluded by the  $H/A \rightarrow \tau^+ \tau^-$  searches at the previous LHC run [152, 153].

Another argument that disfavours the  $\tan \beta < 1$  option is that searches for resonances decaying into  $t\bar{t}$  final states have been conducted at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$  with 20 fb<sup>-1</sup>, setting an upper limit on  $\sigma(pp \to X \to t\bar{t})$  of about half a pb [150, 151], which is attained in our model for the  $\Phi$  signal for  $\tan \beta \approx 1$ . Any value  $\tan \beta < 1$  would lead to a  $gg \to \Phi \to t\bar{t}$ rate that is too high and hence excluded by the ATLAS and CMS searches.<sup>19</sup>

Hence, the value  $\tan \beta \approx 1$  seems to be optimal for coping with the LHC data on the  $\Phi$  signal, when all constraints from other search channels are fulfilled. We therefore use the value  $\tan \beta = 1$  as a benchmark. This choice has the additional advantage that, in the 2HDM context, the predictions of the Type-I and -II variants are quite similar, so that our discussion then becomes more general.

Nevertheless, even for this optimal value of  $\tan \beta$ , the partial decay widths of the  $\Phi$  states into  $\gamma\gamma$  and gg are far too small to explain the large cross section for the diphoton

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>We note that these searches have in fact been performed only for electroweak spin-one resonances, like new neutral gauge bosons or electroweak Kaluza-Klein excitations decaying into  $t\bar{t}$  pairs [150, 151]. In these cases, the main production channel is  $q\bar{q}$  annihilation and there is no interference with the (coloured) QCD  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow t\bar{t}$  continuum background. In our case, the signal is due to  $gg \rightarrow \Phi \rightarrow t\bar{t}$ , which interferes in a complicated way with the  $gg \rightarrow t\bar{t}$  QCD background as discussed in e.g. ref. [131]. A more detailed analysis is thus needed to interpret more accurately the ATLAS and CMS exclusion limits but, grosso modo, they should be of the same order as those derived for spin-1 resonances.



Figure 8. Generic Feynman diagrams for  $\Phi$  production at pp colliders.

signal, as discussed in [85] and in the singlet model considered previously. However, in our particular 2HDM/MSSM scenario, the presence of heavy vector-like quarks which couple to the  $\Phi$  states is in general strongly disfavoured: vector-like quarks would enhance strongly the cross section for  $gg \to \Phi$  production and, since the main decay mode is  $\Phi \to t\bar{t}$ , the rate for  $gg \to \Phi \to t\bar{t}$  will exceed by far the limit imposed by the null results of searches for  $t\bar{t}$  resonances [150, 151] in the previous LHC Run 1. The mitigating strategy, as was discussed in the previous subsection, would be to suppress the top quark contribution to the  $\Phi gg$  vertex by choosing intermediate values of  $\tan \beta$  in an attempt to allow for such vector-like quarks.<sup>20</sup> In this case the total width of  $\Phi$ , which will be suppressed because it is controlled by the decay  $\Phi \to t\bar{t}$  as the vector-like quarks are supposed to be much heavier than  $\frac{1}{2}M_{\Phi}$  [155–158], would be much smaller than the value  $\Gamma_{\Phi} \approx 45$  GeV favored by the ATLAS measurement [3]. This value can be recovered by allowing for decays into the lighter neutral leptons. On the other hand, charged vector-like leptons enter only in the  $\Phi \gamma \gamma$  couplings, so here we consider their presence only.

Summarizing this 2HDM/MSSM scenario, we have two (near-)degenerate neutral Higgs bosons, one CP-even, H, and one CP-odd, A, both with masses  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$ . We assume that  $\tan \beta = 1$ , so that they couple strongly to the top quark, but not to other standard particles. There is also a charged Higgs boson,  $H^{\pm}$ , with a constraint on its mass  $M_{H^{\pm}} \gtrsim 160 \text{ GeV}$  [159–161], though we favour  $M_{H^{\pm}} \sim 750 \text{ GeV}$ . We postulate a number of charged electroweakly-interacting particles with masses not too far from  $\frac{1}{2}M_{\Phi}$ , that enhance strongly the  $\Phi \gamma \gamma$  coupling, and we also have neutral partners, N, of these particles that are invisible, which might appear in the decays of the  $\Phi$  states.

## 3.2 Production of the $\Phi = H, A$ states at pp colliders

We come now to the production of the  $\Phi$ , interpreted in this section as a pair H, A of Higgs particles, at pp colliders; some generic Feynman diagrams are shown in figure 8.

As already mentioned, the leading production mechanism would be gluon-gluon fusion,  $gg \to \Phi$ , generated by triangular loops of top quarks, figure 8a, neglecting the possibility of new colored particles such as vector-like quarks. Referring back to eqs. (2.6), (2.8) and (2.9) for the partial decay width  $\Gamma(\Phi \to gg)$  and the form factors  $A_{1/2}^{\Phi}$  that govern

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup>Vector-like quarks could be useful in order to explain another excess, albeit smaller, observed at the LHC: namely a  $2\sigma$  deviation of the cross section for the associated  $pp \rightarrow t\bar{t}h$  production process for the standard Higgs boson [132]. This excess can be explained by the presence of vector-like quarks that enhance the top Yukawa coupling through mixing with no alteration of the  $gg \rightarrow h$  cross section and the  $h \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$  decay branching ratio [154]. Note, however, that care should be taken with the interactions of the new fermions introduced here not to alter too much the properties of this standard Higgs boson [85].



Figure 9. Cross sections for single, associated and pair production of the  $\Phi = H, A$  bosons at pp colliders as functions of the c.m. energy from  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV to 100 TeV. We assume a common mass  $M_{H/A} = 750$ , tan  $\beta = 1$  and the alignment limit  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 0$ .

it, we recall that for the top quark loops with  $\tau_t = M_{\Phi}^2/4m_t^2 \approx 4$  for  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \,\text{GeV}$  and  $m_t = 172 \,\text{GeV}$ , one has for the form factors  $|A_{1/2}^A/A_{1/2}^H|^2 \approx 2$ , leading to a characteristic ratio of production cross sections  $\sigma(gg \to A) \approx 2\sigma(gg \to H)$ .

We have calculated the production cross sections using the program SUSHI [162], in which important higher-order effects are included, notably the QCD corrections that are quite large [163–172] compared to the electroweak corrections [173]. In principle  $\sigma(gg \rightarrow \Phi + X)$  can be evaluated only at next-to-leading-order (NLO) in QCD, since the full topquark mass corrections are known only at this perturbative order [163]: they increase the LO rate by a factor of about 1.7 at LHC energies. The NNLO corrections that are known only in the limit  $m_t \gg M_{\Phi}$  increase the rate by another 30% [167–171] in that case. It has been shown that at NLO the limit  $m_t \gg M_{\Phi}$ , which is not valid in principle, nevertheless provides a good approximation to the exact result provided that the full mass dependence is included in the LO cross sections [163]. The recently calculated N<sup>3</sup>LO corrections are small at LHC energies [172], and we can safely neglect them for our purposes.

The production rates for  $gg \to H$  and  $gg \to A$  at proton colliders are shown in figure 9 as a function of the centre-of-mass energy  $\sqrt{s}$  for our 2HDM basic inputs  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$ ,  $\tan \beta = 1$  and the alignment limit, which leads to  $\cos(\beta - \alpha) = 0$ . The MSTW2008 set [106] has been adopted for the parton distribution functions up to NNLO. At the LHC with  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ , the cross sections are of the order of 1 pb, and increase with energy to reach the level of 100 pb at  $\sqrt{s} = 100 \text{ TeV}$ . Assuming an accumulated luminosity of a few  $ab^{-1}$ , as is expected to be the case at both HL-LHC and FCC-hh/SPPC, one could then collect from  $10^6$  to  $10^8 \Phi$  events at the respective colliders.

Another important process for the  $\Phi$  states is production in association with top quark pairs,  $gg \to t\bar{t}\Phi$  and  $q\bar{q} \to t\bar{t}\Phi$ , with the first subprocess (figure 8b) being dominant at high collider energies. In this case, one is approximately in the chiral limit  $M_{\Phi} \gg m_t$ , which leads to almost exactly the same cross sections for the CP-even H and CP-odd Astates. Because of the reduced phase space, the production rates are at least two orders of magnitude smaller than in the dominant  $gg \to \Phi$  fusion modes even at  $\sqrt{s} = 100 \text{ TeV}$ , as seen in figure 9. The rates are nevertheless significant as, for the planned integrated luminosities, one can collect more than  $10^4$  and  $10^6$  events, respectively at HL-LHC and FCC-hh/SPPC, with the  $\Phi$  states decaying into  $t\bar{t}$  pairs, resulting in four-top final states. The processes would give direct measurements of the  $t\bar{t}\Phi$  coupling, a key test of this model and a possible discrimination between the CP-even and odd possibilities [174–176].<sup>21</sup>

We should note that the cross sections for these processes have been obtained using a modified version of the leading-order program HQQ [183]<sup>22</sup> with the renormalisation and factorisation scales fixed to  $\mu_0 = m_t + \frac{1}{2}M_{\Phi}$ , and again using the MSTW2008 set of structure functions. The QCD corrections have been known to NLO [185–189] in the case of a CP-even Higgs state for some time and have been derived more recently for the CP-odd case. However, at  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV, they lead to a K-factor that is of order unity for a Higgs boson with a mass ~ 125 GeV. Considering the process at LO only as is done here should therefore be an adequate approximation.

There are several processes in which a pair of heavy Higgs bosons is produced, see, e.g., ref. [190–193]. First there is HA production that, at moderate energies, proceeds primarily via the  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow HA$  process with the s-channel exchange of a virtual Z boson that has a maximal coupling to the Higgs pair in the alignment/decoupling limit,  $\hat{g}_{ZHA} = 1$ . At higher energies, because of the significantly larger gluon luminosity, the dominant production mode becomes  $gg \rightarrow HA$ , which is mediated almost exclusively by top quark loops. Their contribution comes primarily from box diagrams in which two Higgs states are emitted from the internal quark lines, but there are additional ones from the triangular loops that produce an off-shell CP-odd A boson which splits into HA final states:  $gg \rightarrow A^* \rightarrow HA$ . The latter process involves the trilinear HAA coupling that is expected to be small in the alignment limit of the 2HDM or the decoupling limit of the MSSM.

One can also produce HH and AA pairs in gluon-fusion processes with contributions from both the box diagrams and triangular loops with intermediate h, H virtual states that then split into to the two  $\Phi$  bosons,  $gg \to h^*, H^* \to HH$  or AA; figure 8. The cross sections, evaluated at LO using the programs HPAIR [183, 184] and the LO MSTW2008 PDFs, are also shown in figure 9c. As can be seen, these cross sections are rather small, barely reaching the 10 fb level even at  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV. Their signature, dominated by final states with four top quarks, will be similar to that of the  $t\bar{t}\Phi$  process discussed above.

We may also consider the possibility of deviating from the alignment or decoupling limit, with  $\hat{g}_{HVV} = \cos(\beta - \alpha)$  small but non-zero. In this case two interesting types of process become possible. First, one can produce singly the heavy CP-even H boson in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>Further, if  $\Phi$  indeed has invisible decays into dark matter particles, then the associated  $t\bar{t}\Phi$  process [177] and the mono jet channel [178, 179] are the only ways to search for such a mode at the LHC, as the VBF (see for example ref. [180]) and VH modes (see for example ref. [181, 182]) modes are no longer available in this aligned 2HDM context.

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$ A summary is given in ref. [184].



Figure 10. Left panel: subdominant processes for the single production of the CP-even H boson in the  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow HW, HZ$  and  $qq \rightarrow qqH$  channels, and for the pair production of two Higgs bosons in the channels  $q\bar{q} + gg \rightarrow hA, gg \rightarrow Hh$ , assuming  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 10^{-2}$ . Right panel: the rates for  $\Phi$  production in gg fusion followed by decays into the Zh and WW, ZZ, hh final states. The production rates are again functions of  $\sqrt{s}$  from 7 to 100 TeV with  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}, M_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$ and  $\tan \beta = 1$ , assuming the couplings found in the hMSSM (2HDM of Type II).

both vector boson fusion  $qq \rightarrow qqH$  and the Higgs-strahlung process  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow VH$ , where V = W, Z. Especially in the former case, the cross sections would be very large at high energy if it were not for the  $g_{HVV}$  coupling suppression. Associated production of the light standard-like h state and the pseudoscalar A boson in  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow Z^* \rightarrow hA$  would also be possible for  $\hat{g}_{ZhA} = \cos(\beta - \alpha) \neq 0$ . In fact, h production in association with the heavier A and H states is always possible in gg fusion,  $gg \rightarrow hA$  and  $gg \rightarrow hH$  through box diagrams involving top quark loops, even in the alignment/decoupling limits.

We have calculated the cross sections for  $qq \rightarrow Hqq$ ,  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow HV$  and hA, evaluated at LO only (the QCD corrections in these cases are at the level of 10% to 30% and can be readily included see e.g., refs. [173, 194–198]). The cross sections for  $gg \rightarrow hH$ , hA are evaluated at NLO, with K-factors of the same order as those appearing in single Higgs production in gg fusion, using the programs of ref. [183, 184]. These cross sections are displayed in the left panel of figure 10 as functions of the centre-of-mass energy for  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 10^{-2}$ . The cross sections for  $qq \rightarrow Hqq$  and  $gg \rightarrow hH$ , hA are of the same magnitude and, at  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV, they are quite substantial as they reach the level of 100 fb. At LHC energies, however, they are two orders of magnitude smaller. The production rates for the HW and HZ Higgs-strahlung processes are very small already for  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 1$  and are hence negligible for the more realistic value  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 10^{-2}$ .

Finally, also outside the alignment or decoupling limit, the H/A states that are produced in gg fusion with extremely large rates can have other decay modes than the dominant  $\Phi \to t\bar{t}$ . Indeed, since the couplings  $\hat{g}_{HVV} = \hat{g}_{ZhA} = \cos^2(\beta - \alpha)$  are non-zero in this case, and would enable additional decays to occur. In the case of the CP-even H boson, important possibilities would be  $H \to ZZ$  and  $H \to WW$ , which would grow like  $M_H^3$ , to be contrasted with  $M_H$  for the  $H \to t\bar{t}$  decay, as a consequence of the growth of the longitudinal gauge boson wave functions with energy, and would dominate at high mass if not for the  $\hat{g}_{HVV}$  coupling suppression. Another interesting decay for a pseudoscalar Higgs boson,  $A \to hZ$ , would also have a non-zero branching ratio if  $\hat{g}_{ZhA}$  were not small. This would also be the case of the other very interesting decay of the CP-even H state,  $H \to hh$ , which involves the triple coupling  $g_{Hhh}$  that is somewhat model-dependent<sup>23</sup> in a 2HDM, but is in general small in the alignment limit.

The cross sections for the processes  $gg \to H \to WW, ZZ, hh$  and  $gg \to A \to hZ$  are shown in the right panel of figure 10 as functions of  $\sqrt{s}$ , assuming the couplings found in the hMSSM (2HDM of Type II). The decay rates have been evaluated using the program HDECAY [143, 144], which includes the relevant higher-order effects. As can be seen, even for the very small value  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) \approx 8 \times 10^{-4}$  used for illustration (and which leads to very tiny branching ratios of the order of a few times  $10^{-3}$  for the  $H \to ZZ, WW$  and  $A \to hZ$  modes and of the order of  $10^{-2}$  for the  $H \to hh$  decay), the rates are small but not negligible at the high luminosities planned for high energies.

# 3.3 $\Phi = H, A$ production at $e^+e^-$ , $\gamma\gamma$ and $\mu^+\mu^-$ colliders

We study now the production of the  $\Phi = H, A$  states at high-energy  $e^+e^-$  colliders. For at least two decades, these machines have been discussed as possible follow-ups for the LHC. Two options for high-energy  $e^+e^-$  linear colliders<sup>24</sup> have been discussed. One is the ILC [23–26], which could ultimately reach energies of the order of 1 TeV, as required for  $\Phi$  production. The other is CLIC [27], which is planned to cover the multi-TeV scale and can certainly reach a centre-of-mass energy  $\geq 1.5$  TeV that is favoured in the context of this analysis. Both colliders are designed to reach an integrated luminosity of 1 ab<sup>-1</sup>.

In the exact alignment or decoupling limit, the most important channel for  $\Phi$  production in  $e^+e^-$  collisions [201–203] is associated production of the *HA* states through the *s*-channel exchange of a virtual Z boson,  $e^+e^- \to HA$  in figure 11a, as the coupling is then maximal,  $\hat{g}_{ZHA} = \sin(\beta - \alpha) \to 1$ . The cross section is simply given by

$$\sigma(e^+e^- \to HA) = \frac{G_{\mu}^2 M_Z^4}{96\pi s} (\hat{v}_e^2 + \hat{a}_e^2) \hat{g}_{ZHA}^2 \frac{\lambda^3}{(1 - M_Z^2/s)^2} , \qquad (3.6)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup>This coupling may also appear in the MSSM, where the coupling  $g_{Hhh}$  depends on the supersymmetric spectrum that enters the radiative corrections in the Higgs sector [127]. However, if only the dominant radiative correction that also enters the lightest h boson mass [135–137] is taken into account, the coupling is fixed in terms of  $\tan \beta$  and  $M_A$  for  $M_h = 125 \text{ GeV}$  [131]. This coupling is also small in the decoupling limit that applies for  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup>We do not discuss here the FCC-ee [28] and CEPC [29] circular machines, which are planned for a maximum centre-of-mass energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 350 \text{ GeV}$ , far below the kinematical threshold for probing directly the 750 GeV  $\Phi$  states and the associated matter particles. However, these machines would be able to probe these scenarios indirectly via precise measurements of the standard-like h boson couplings, which would be affected by the presence of the new particles. We note, however, that a very precise determination of the  $h\gamma\gamma$  coupling could be performed already at the HL-LHC by measuring the ratio of  $h \to \gamma\gamma$  and  $h \to ZZ^* \to 4\ell^{\pm}$  signal strengths, as a precision of  $\mathcal{O}(1\%)$  can be achieved [199, 200].



Figure 11. Feynman diagrams for  $\Phi$  production at  $e^+e^-$  colliders.

where, as usual, the reduced vector and axial-vector couplings of the electrons to the Z boson are given by the Z charges of the electron,  $\hat{a}_e = -1$  and  $\hat{v}_e = -1 + 4s_W^2$ , and  $\lambda$  is the usual two-particle phase-space function that, in the case of two equal particle masses, reduces to the velocity of the H/A bosons:  $\lambda \to \beta = \sqrt{1 - 4M_{\Phi}^2/s}$ .

The production rate is shown in the left panel of figure 12 for  $M_H = M_A = 750 \text{ GeV}$ as a function of the centre-of-mass energy  $\sqrt{s}$ . As it scales like 1/s, the cross section is not that large, namely  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  fb above the  $2M_{\Phi}$  threshold, leading to a thousand events that can be fully reconstructed for the anticipated luminosity of 1 ab<sup>-1</sup>. The main detection channel would be the four-top final state but, the enhanced  $t\bar{t}gg$  and possibly  $t\bar{t}\gamma\gamma$  final states could also be observed with very high luminosities.

The other important  $\Phi$  production processes are associated production with top quark pairs [204, 205],  $e^+e^- \to t\bar{t}\Phi$  and figure 11b, for which the combined cross sections are at the level of 0.1 fb at high enough energy, i.e., sufficiently far above the kinematical threshold  $\sqrt{s} \approx 1.1$  TeV. The cross sections are shown for H and A as functions of  $\sqrt{s}$  in the left panel of figure 12, again for  $M_A = M_H = 750$  GeV and  $\tan \beta = 1$ . The signature would be four top quarks in the final state, which should have little background, except from the process  $e^+e^- \to HA$  before the two H, A states are reconstructed. We note that the cross sections for H and A production are slightly different because, at energies below  $\sqrt{s} \approx 3$  TeV, one is not yet in the chiral limit in which top quark mass effects are negligible. In fact, the threshold rise of the cross sections is completely different for  $e^+e^- \to t\bar{t}A$  and  $e^+e^- \to t\bar{t}H$ , as has been shown in ref. [206, 207], and a scan around the  $2m_t + M_{\Phi}$  threshold could allow for a distinction between the CP-even and CP-odd Higgs cases.

Finally, there are also processes for the single production of the CP-even H boson, such as vector boson fusion,  $e^+e^- \to H\nu\bar{\nu}$  and  $e^+e^- \to He^+e^-$ , and Higgs-strahlung,  $e^+e^- \to HZ$ , as well as the associated production of the pseudoscalar A and the standardlike h state,  $e^+e^- \to hA$ . The rates are, however, suppressed by the small couplings  $\hat{g}_{VVH} = \hat{g}_{ZhA} = \cos(\beta - \alpha) \to 0$  in the alignment/decoupling limits of the 2HDM and MSSM scenarios, respectively. The cross sections for these processes are shown in the right panel of figure 12 as functions of  $\sqrt{s}$  for  $\cos(\beta - \alpha) = 0.1$ .

The rates for the s-channel processes  $e^+e^- \to Z^* \to hA/HZ$ , which have comparable cross sections at centre-of-mass energies sufficiently above the kinematical thresholds, as  $M_A = M_H$  and  $M_h \approx M_Z$ , scale like 1/s and are therefore small. In turn, as it grows like  $\log(s/M_W^2)$ , the rate for the WW fusion process  $e^+e^- \to H\nu\bar{\nu}$  is very large and, at high enough energies, it could dominate all other  $\Phi$  production processes, despite the



Figure 12. Production cross sections for the  $\Phi = H, A$  states at an  $e^+e^-$  collider as a function of the centre-of-mass energy  $\sqrt{s}$ , assuming  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$  and  $\tan \beta = 1$ . The processes considered are:  $e^+e^- \to HA$  and  $e^+e^- \to t\bar{t}\Phi$  with  $\Phi = A$  or H in the alignment limit  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 0$  (left panel) and  $e^+e^- \to H\nu\bar{\nu}, He^+e^-$  and  $e^+e^- \to hA, HZ$  for  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 10^{-2}$  (right panel).

 $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha)$  suppression factor. The ZZ fusion process  $e^+e^- \rightarrow He^+e^-$ , which has an order of magnitude smaller rate compared to WW fusion as can be inferred from the W/Z couplings to electrons, could also be observable for not too tiny  $\hat{g}_{HVV}$  couplings.

In addition to the conventional  $e^+e^-$  mode, future high-energy  $e^+e^-$  linear colliders can be made to run in the  $\gamma\gamma$  mode by using Compton back-scattering of laser light off the high-energy electron beams [30]. As discussed earlier, these colliders could have up to ~ 80% of the energy of the  $e^+e^-$  collider, with a luminosity that is quite similar. In the context of the  $\Phi = H, A$  states, the motivation for such a  $\gamma\gamma$  machine would again clearly be the direct and precise measurement of the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  coupling, since the *s*-channel production of resonances, figure 11c, is possible in such a mode [31–37].

As discussed previously, the production of a spin-zero particle at such a collider occurs through the  $J_Z = 0$  channel. In the 2HDM studied in this section, in contrast to the singlet model studied earlier, the total decay widths of the 750 GeV  $\Phi$  states are significant, namely about  $\Gamma_{\Phi} \approx 30 \text{ GeV}$ . For polarized initial-state photons, taking into account the total decay width  $\Gamma_{\Phi}$  and the partial widths for decays into two photons  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)$  and into a given final state X,  $\Gamma(\Phi \to X)$ , the cross section for the process  $\gamma \gamma \to \Phi \to X$ is given by eq. (2.12). As explained earlier, with appropriate choices of the helicities of the  $e^-, e^+$  as well as the two laser beams, one can arrange that the two back-scattered photons dominantly have identical helicities:  $\lambda_1 \lambda_2 = 1$ , so as to project out the  $J_Z = 0$ component and therefore favour the resonant Higgs signal. In order to maximize the effective cross section for Higgs production, the  $\gamma\gamma$  energy should be tuned so that the peak of the luminosity function at  $\sim 0.8\sqrt{s_{e^+e^-}}$  (for a perfect photon spectrum) occurs at  $M_{\Phi}$ . As in our present case the  $\Phi$  particles decay almost exclusively into  $t\bar{t}$  final states with BR( $\Phi \to t\bar{t}$ )  $\approx 1$ , the main background is the  $\gamma\gamma \to t\bar{t}$  process whose cross section in



Figure 13. The invariant mass distribution  $d\sigma/dM_{\gamma\gamma}$  in fb/GeV for the process  $\gamma\gamma \rightarrow t\bar{t}$  in the  $\gamma\gamma$  mode of a linear  $e^+e^-$  collider. Shown are the pure continuum QED contribution, the additional separate contributions due to *s*-channel exchanges of the *H* and *A* states, and the full set of contributions QED+*H* + *A*. We assume  $M_A = 750 \text{ GeV}$ ,  $M_H = 770 \text{ GeV}$ ,  $\Gamma_A = 35 \text{ GeV}$ ,  $\Gamma_H = 32 \text{ GeV}$  and  $\tan\beta = 1$ . In the left panel, only the top quark loops are taken into account in the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  couplings. In the right panel, additional vector-like fermion contributions that increase  $H \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$  and  $A \rightarrow \gamma\gamma$  amplitudes by factors 10 and 15, respectively, are included.

the  $J_Z = 0$  mode is significant as there is no mass suppression like for light fermions. One can impose a polar cut in the centre of mass of the two-photon system to eliminate part of the background events at high invariant masses, which are peaked in the forward and backward directions, with only a moderate loss of the signal.

Figure 13 displays the prospects for measuring the doublet  $\Phi$  signal in  $\gamma\gamma$  collisions, taking into account the interference between signal and background. The cross section  $\hat{\sigma}$ is for the process  $\gamma\gamma \to t\bar{t}$ , taking into account both the QED process and the resonance production  $\gamma\gamma \to \Phi \to t\bar{t}$  and including the interference. We again make the analysis choosing  $\lambda_{e^-}\lambda_{l_1} = \lambda_{e^+}\lambda_{l_2} = -1$  and  $\lambda_{e^-} = \lambda_{e^+}$ . These choices ensure that the photon luminosity  $L_{\gamma\gamma}$  peaks at around 80% of the energy of the parent  $e^+e^-$  collider and that the two colliding photons dominantly have the same helicities. This analysis was made assuming  $M_A = 750 \text{ GeV}$ ,  $M_H = 770 \text{ GeV}$ ,  $\Gamma_A = 35 \text{ GeV}$ ,  $\Gamma_H = 32 \text{ GeV}$  and  $\tan \beta = 1$  for a 1 TeV parent  $e^+e^-$  collider. In the left panel, we show for illustration the case where only the top loop contributions to the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  couplings are taken into account, whereas in the right panel additional contributions that enhance the previous  $H \to \gamma\gamma$  and  $A \to \gamma\gamma$ amplitudes by factors 10 and 15, respectively, are also included. Like figure 6 these figures, too, display how two closely spaced states would look like a single wide resonance.

For completeness, we close this section with a few words about high-energy muon colliders. In  $\mu^+\mu^-$  collisions, the production cross section for a Higgs state decaying into

a final state X is given, in terms of the partial decay widths, by [208]

$$\sigma(\mu^+\mu^- \to \Phi \to X) = \frac{4\pi\Gamma(\Phi \to \mu^+\mu^-)\Gamma(\Phi \to X)}{(s - M_{\Phi}^2)^2 + M_{\Phi}^2\Gamma_{\Phi}^2} \simeq \frac{4\pi}{M_{\Phi}^2} \text{BR}(\Phi \to \mu^+\mu^-)\text{BR}(\Phi \to X), \quad (3.7)$$

where the second term, which gives the effective cross section, is obtained assuming that the energy spread of the  $\mu^+\mu^-$  machine is much smaller than the Higgs total decay width. In our case, the relevant final state to be considered is  $\Phi \to t\bar{t}$ , which has a branching ration of order 1. As the  $\Phi$  mass that we consider here,  $M_{\Phi} = M_{H,A} \approx 750 \text{ GeV}$ , is large and the branching fraction BR( $\Phi \to \mu^+\mu^-$ ) low, BR( $\Phi \to \mu^+\mu^-$ )  $\approx 1.5 \times 10^{-7}$  for tan  $\beta \approx 1$ , the production rate would, in this case, be extremely small. We will therefore not pursue further this  $\mu^+\mu^-$  option.

#### 3.4 Production of charged Higgs bosons

We now turn to the discussion of the charged Higgs bosons, which is complicated by the fact that we do not know their mass. Indeed, the only available information on  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  is that it should be heavier than about 160 GeV, as a result of the negative searches in top decays  $t \to bH^+ \to b\tau\nu$  at LHC Run 1 with  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV and about 20 fb<sup>-1</sup> data [159–161]. Therefore, we consider the production cross sections at pp and  $e^+e^-$  colliders as functions of  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  for different centre-of-mass energies. For the other model parameters, we continue with  $\tan \beta = 1$ ,  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 0$  and  $M_{\Phi} = M_{H,A} = 750$  GeV.

We first discuss  $H^{\pm}$  production at pp colliders, for which our results are shown in figure 14 for the two centre-of-mass energies  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV and  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV, borrowing some results from the recent analysis of ref. [209]. The dominant process by far is the associated  $gb \to tH^{\pm}$  mechanism, which for  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV and  $\tan \beta \approx 1$  has a cross section above the pb level for  $M_{H^{\pm}} \leq 400$  GeV, dropping to 30 fb for a mass  $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx 1$  TeV. For low  $H^{\pm}$  masses, it is followed by the  $q\bar{q} \to \gamma^*, Z^* \to H^+H^-$  process, which has a rate that is two orders of magnitude lower. A third possibility would be associated  $HH^{\pm}$  and  $AH^{\pm}$ production via W exchange,  $q\bar{q}' \to W^* \to \Phi W^{\pm}$ , with a rate comparable to that of pair production for  $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx 400$  GeV and larger beyond. The cross sections are nevertheless small, below the fb level. Moving to  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV, all cross sections increase by two to three orders of magnitude. Hence, production of the  $H^{\pm}$  states is copious at these high energies.

Turning to high-energy  $e^+e^-$  colliders, the most important process for producing charged Higgs states is the pair production process [201–203], which proceeds via  $\gamma^*, Z^*$ exchange, and for which the cross section depends only on the centre-of-mass energy and  $M_{H^{\pm}}$ . It is shown as a function of  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  in figure 15 for a fixed centre-of-mass energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 2 \text{ TeV}$ . As can be seen, it drops from about 10 fb at low masses  $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx 160 \text{ GeV}$  to about 2 fb at  $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx 750 \text{ GeV}$ . Thus, the cross section is approximately a factor of two larger than for HA production, as a result of the additional photon exchange. For masses above 750 GeV, the cross section drops quickly as a consequence of the velocity suppression near the kinematical threshold,  $\sigma(e^+e^- \to H^+H^-) \propto \beta_{H^{\pm}}^3$ . Another process in the context of  $e^+e^-$  colliders would be associated production with heavy quarks,  $e^+e^- \to tbH^{\pm}$ . Similarly to associated  $\Phi$  production with top quarks, the cross sections may reach the 0.1 fb level for tan  $\beta = 1$  and  $H^{\pm}$  states that are not too heavy [204, 205].



Figure 14. Cross sections for production of the charged Higgs boson as functions of its mass for  $\tan \beta = 1$ ,  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 0$  and assuming  $M_{\Phi} = 750 \text{ GeV}$ . We show results for pp colliders at two energies  $\sqrt{s} = 14 \text{ TeV}$  (left panel) and  $\sqrt{s} = 100 \text{ TeV}$  (right panel).



Figure 15. Production cross sections for pairs of  $H^{\pm}$  bosons as functions of  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  at  $e^+e^-$  and  $\gamma\gamma$  colliders with a c.m. energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 2(1.6 \text{ TeV})$  in the  $e^+e^-$  ( $\gamma\gamma$ ) mode.

Another possibility for producing pairs of charged Higgs bosons is in  $\gamma\gamma$  collisions,  $\gamma\gamma \to H^+H^-$ . Again, the cross section depends only on  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  at a given energy. It is also illustrated in figure 15 where, for simplicity, we have fixed the centre-of-mass energy to  $\sqrt{s_{\gamma\gamma}} = 80\%\sqrt{s_{e^+e^-}} = 1.6 \text{ TeV}$ , and did not fold the cross section of the subprocess with realistic photon spectra. As it is mediated by *t*-channel exchange, the cross section has a completely different behaviour compared to the  $e^+e^- \to H^+H^-$  case. It is much larger at low  $H^{\pm}$  masses, and drops sharply close to the kinematical threshold.

For  $M_{H^{\pm}} \gtrsim 180 \,\text{GeV}$ , the dominant  $H^{\pm}$  decay mode is by far  $H^+ \to t\bar{b}$ . In the alignment limit and for small  $\tan \beta$  values, all other decays such as  $H^{\pm} \to W^{\pm}h$  and  $H^{\pm} \to \tau \nu$  are suppressed. There is, however, one other possibility [210]: if  $M_{H^{\pm}} \gtrsim M_{\Phi} + M_W$ , the



Figure 16. Branching ratios for the decays of the  $\Phi = H/A$  states and their total decay widths (in TeV) as functions of  $M_{H^{\pm}}$  for  $\tan \beta = 1$ ,  $\cos^2(\beta - \alpha) = 0$  and  $M_{\Phi} = 750$  GeV.

decays  $H^{\pm} \to W^{\pm} \Phi$  take place as the coupling  $g_{H^{\pm}W^{\mp}\Phi}$  is  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  in the alignment limit of a 2HDM (in the MSSM, this channel is kinematically closed at the two-body level since we have  $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx M_{\Phi}$  and it is strongly suppressed at the three-body level [210]). Nevertheless,  $\mathrm{BR}(H^{\pm} \to \Phi W)$  is small and does not exceed 50% even for  $M_{H^{\pm}} = 1$  TeV. Hence the main topology in the search for the  $H^{\pm}$  states at proton colliders would be  $gb \to tH^- \to ttb$ , which would be similar to  $t\bar{t}$  plus jet production, rendering its detection not very easy. In  $e^+e^-$  collisions, one should focus on the  $t\bar{t}b\bar{b}$  final-state topology.

Another possibility that should be considered is the decay of the  $\Phi = H, A$  states into  $H^{\pm}$  bosons. Indeed, if we are in the opposite situation to that considered above, i.e., with  $M_{\Phi} \gtrsim M_{H^{\pm}} + M_W$ , the decays  $\Phi \to H^{\pm}W^{\mp}$  will take place (although in an MSSM-like scenario with  $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx M_{\Phi}$ , these features do not occur). For our baseline choice  $\tan \beta = 1$ , the two dominant branching ratios are shown in figure 16, where one can see that, when the decays  $\Phi \to H^{\pm}W^{\pm}$  are accessible, they tend to dominate over the  $t\bar{t}$  channels. At the same time, the total decay widths of the  $\Phi$  states would become much larger than the value  $\Gamma_{\Phi} \approx 30 \text{ GeV}$  that seem to be favoured by the ATLAS search. Beyond  $M_{H^{\pm}} \approx 650 \text{ GeV}$ , these special decays are closed, and one has  $\text{BR}(\Phi \to t\bar{t}) \approx 1$ . These decays are hence disfavoured if we want to stay in a minimal scenario for the observed production rate and the total width of the diphoton enhancement, with only a few ingredients.

#### 4 Vector-like fermions

The existence of massive vector-like fermions is a common feature of both the singlet models discussed in section 2 and the 2HDM scenarios discussed in section 3. Therefore, in addition to further studies of the  $\Phi$  particle itself and searches for possible bosonic partners at the LHC and future colliders, a useful way to probe different models would be via direct production of vector-like fermions. In this section, we focus on this important aspect of

model testing, considering both pair and single production of these fermions. We start by summarising the couplings of these particles, which have also been discussed frequently elsewhere, see, e.g., refs. [214, 215, 228, 229].<sup>25,26</sup>

#### 4.1 Couplings, mixing and decays of vector-like fermions

Except for singlet neutrinos, which have no electromagnetic and weak charges, all the other vector-like fermions couple to the photon and to the electroweak gauge bosons W/Z with typical electroweak strength. These couplings allow for the pair production processes at colliders. To obtain the cross sections, one needs in addition to the electric charge  $e_F$  in units of the proton charge, the vector couplings of the vector-like fermion F to the photon and Z boson, which are given by

$$v_F^{\gamma} = e_F \,, \quad v_F^Z \equiv v_F = \frac{2I_{3L}^F + 2I_{3R}^F - 4e_F s_W^2}{4s_W c_W} \,, \quad v_F^W = \frac{I_{3L}^F + I_{3R}^F}{\sqrt{2}s_W} \,, \tag{4.1}$$

where  $I_{3L}^F$ ,  $I_{3R}^F$  are the third components of the left- and right-handed weak isospins of the fermions, and  $s_W^2 = 1 - c_W^2 \equiv \sin^2 \theta_W$ . The axial-vector couplings of the fermions to the Z boson,  $a_F = (2I_{3L}^F - 2I_{3R}^F)/(4s_W c_W)$ , are zero by construction for vector-like fermions, unlike for Standard Model quarks and leptons. In addition, there is a charged-current coupling between the two components of each fermion doublet and the W boson. As seen in eq. (4.1), this charged coupling is twice as large in the case of the vector fermions compared to standard ones, because of the vectorial nature of the fermion F.

The vector-like leptons and quarks can mix with the Standard Model fermions that have the same  $U(1)_Q$  and  $SU(3)_C$  assignments. This mixing would give rise to new interactions that determine to a large extent the decay properties of the vector-like fermions, and allow for a new production mechanism, namely single production in association with a light fermion partner. Generic Feynman diagrams for these processes are shown in figure 17. The mixing pattern depends sensitively on the model considered and is, in general, rather complicated, especially if one includes the mixing between different families. However, this intergenerational mixing should be very small as it could induce flavour-changing neutral currents that are severely constrained by existing data [102].

In the present analysis, we neglect the intergenerational mixing and treat the remaining mixing angles as phenomenological parameters. The interactions of the electron and its partner neutrino with vector-like charged and neutral leptons N, E may be written as

$$\mathcal{L}_V = g_W[\zeta_{W\nu E}\bar{\nu_e}\gamma_\mu E + \zeta_{WeN}\bar{e}\gamma_\mu N]W^\mu + g_Z[\zeta_{ZeE}\bar{e}\gamma_\mu E + \zeta_{Z\nu N}\bar{\nu_e}\gamma_\mu N]Z^\mu + \text{h.c.}, \quad (4.2)$$

where  $g_W = e/\sqrt{2}s_W$  and  $g_Z = e/2s_W c_W$ , and we have anticipated a small mixing angle<sup>27</sup> so that we have written  $\sin \xi_i \simeq \xi_i$ . The generalization to the other lepton families and to vector-like quarks is straightforward. At least in the case of couplings to third-generation

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>For recent reviews of vector-like quarks see refs. [211–213].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup>For discussions of vector-like leptons in particular at the LHC see for instance refs. [216–227].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>For a detailed and relatively recent discussion see for instance ref. [230].

quarks and leptons, one should also consider the mixing via the scalar sector,<sup>28</sup> including the Standard Model-like h state as well as the  $\Phi$  and (in doublet models) the  $H^{\pm}$  states. Normalizing the mixing through the Z and Higgs bosons in the same way by also defining  $g_S = e/2s_W c_W$ , the Lagrangian describing this mixing, where the sum is over all scalars and fermions, is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_S = g_S \sum_{S,f} \zeta_{SfF} \bar{f} F S + \text{h.c.}, \qquad (4.3)$$

which we now use in analysis of some possible phenomenological signatures.

The heavy fermions can decay through mixing into massive gauge bosons plus their ordinary light partners,  $F \to Vf$  with V = W, Z or  $F \to hf$  (and eventually even  $F \to \Phi f$ for very heavy fermions); see figure 17a (left). Using the scaled masses  $v_X = M_X^2/m_F^2$  and neglecting the ordinary fermion masses (which should be an excellent approximation even in the case of the top quark), the partial decay widths are given by [214, 215, 229]

$$\Gamma(F \to Wf') = \frac{\alpha}{16s_W^2 c_W^2} \zeta_{WFf'}^2 \frac{m_F^3}{M_W^2} (1 - v_W)^2 (1 + 2v_W),$$

$$\Gamma(F \to Zf) = \frac{\alpha}{32s_W^2 c_W^2} \zeta_{ZFf}^2 \frac{m_F^3}{M_Z^2} (1 - v_Z)^2 (1 + 2v_Z),$$

$$\Gamma(F \to Sf) = \frac{\alpha}{32s_W^2 c_W^2} \zeta_{SFf}^2 \frac{m_F^3}{M_S^2} (1 - v_S)^3,$$
(4.4)

When there is no Higgs channel, the charged-current decay mode is always dominant compared to the neutral one and, for fermion masses much larger than  $M_V$ , the branching ratios are 1/3 and 2/3 for the  $F \to fZ$  and  $F \to f'W$  modes, respectively. Note that for Majorana neutrinos, both the  $N \to l^-W^+/\nu_l Z$  and  $N \to l^+W^-/\bar{\nu}_l Z$  decays are possible. This gives nice like-sign lepton search signatures, and makes the Majorana neutrino total decay widths twice as large as for Dirac neutrinos.

The decay pattern above assumes at least an approximate mass degeneracy between the members of the same weak isodoublet, for instance  $m_L \approx m_N$  in the case of vector-like leptons. However, if one allows for a mass difference between the two states, one would have charged current decays such as  $L^{\pm} \to W^{\pm}N$  or  $N \to W^{\pm}L^{\mp}$ ; see figure 17a (right). If  $m_L \gtrsim$  $m_N + M_W$ , the  $L^{\pm}$  decay is at the two-body level and, since it has a partial width that is not suppressed by any mixing angle, it is the dominant one. In turn, N decays through mixing to ordinary leptons and gauge bosons. An interesting situation is when  $0 < m_L - m_N <$  $M_W$ , so that the decay occurs at the three-body level with the virtual W boson decaying into almost massless fermions,  $L \to NW^* \to Nf\bar{f}$ . In this case, depending in the virtuality of the W boson and the mixing with light fermions, the  $L \to Nf\bar{f}$  and  $L \to \ell Z, \nu W$  modes might compete with each other rendering the situation quite model-dependent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>One could assume that the magnitude of the mixing through the Higgs boson is proportional to the fermion masses and hence is negligible for the first two generations of fermions, compared to the mixing through the vector bosons. Note, however, that such an intergenerational mixing might provide an explanation for the flavour-changing  $h \to \mu^{\pm} \tau^{\mp}$  decay of the standard-like Higgs boson hinted during Run 1 of the LHC [231].



Figure 17. Generic Feynman diagrams for the processes involving vector-like fermions. a) Twobody decays through mixing and two- or three-body decays through gauge interactions. b) Pair production of heavy quarks in pp collisions. c) Pair production in  $e^+e^-$  and pp collisions via electroweak gauge couplings. d) Single production of heavy fermions in  $e^+e^-$  and pp collisions through mixing. e) Production of one heavy quark in association with a gauge boson V = W, Z in the gq subprocess at hadron colliders. The symbol • at a vertex indicates mixing between heavy and ordinary fermions.

Note finally that for small mixing angles (and also if only three-body decays into lighter vector-like fermions are kinematically accessible), the vector-like fermions have rather narrow widths if they are not too heavy, but the widths increase rapidly with the vector-like fermion mass,  $\Gamma \sim m_F^3$ . However, for mixing angles of order  $\zeta \leq 0.1$ , the total widths do not exceed the 100 GeV range even for  $m_F \sim \mathcal{O}(1 \text{ TeV})$ .

#### 4.2 Experimental constraints

We now summarize briefly the present experimental constraints on the masses of the vectorlike fermions and their mixings with the ordinary fermions. The mixing will, in general, alter the couplings of the electroweak gauge bosons to light quarks and leptons from their Standard Model values. The  $Zf\bar{f}$  couplings, which are reduced by mixing factors  $\cos^2 \xi \approx 1 - \xi^2$ , have been very accurately determined at LEP through the measurements of total, partial and invisible decay widths, as well as forward-backward and polarization asymmetries. As they have been found to agree with the Standard Model predictions to the level of at least one percent, the mixing angles are constrained to be smaller than  $\mathcal{O}(10^{-1})$  [230]. The vector-like quark mixing with the top quark can presumably be slightly larger [211–215], as the Tevatron and LHC data on the top quark production cross sections and asymmetries are at the level of 10% accuracy only [102].

Note that in the case of vector-like leptons, the precise measurements of the anomalous magnetic moments of the electron and muon lead to even more stringent constraints:  $\zeta_i < \mathcal{O}(10^{-2})$  for light vector-like leptons with masses of the order of 100 GeV [232–234]. Indeed, because there is no chiral protection, the contribution of heavy lepton loops to  $(g-2)_{e,\mu}$  is proportional to  $m_e/m_L$ , in contrast to  $m_{e,\mu}^2/m_L^2$  for chiral couplings, and very small  $\zeta_i$  and/or large  $m_L$  are needed to accommodate the data.

Turning to the masses, the constraints in the vector-like lepton case are rather weak. From the null results of searches for new states and from the measurement of Z decay widths at LEP, one can infer a bound  $m_L \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(100)$  GeV independently of the mixing [235], except for singlet neutrinos that have no weak couplings to the Z boson. For small mixing angles, one could push these bounds up to  $m_L \gtrsim \mathcal{O}(200)$  GeV for single production at LEP2 in favourable cases [236, 237]. For these single production processes, the limits from the Tevatron are not competitive with the LEP2 limits while those of the previous LHC run are comparable. For instance, CMS searched for Majorana neutrinos<sup>29</sup> that couple to muons in the same-sign muon plus two jet final states and, for mixing angles  $\zeta_{WN\mu} \lesssim 0.1$ , they obtain a bound of  $m_N \gtrsim 200$  GeV on the Majorana neutrino masses [246].

The most constraining searches on vector-like leptons have been conducted by the AT-LAS collaboration [247, 248].<sup>30</sup> A first search [247] has been performed in the context of the Type-III seesaw model originally introduced in order to explain the smallness of the neutrino masses [250–253], which contains triplets with a neutral and two charged  $L^{\pm}$  leptons that are assumed to be degenerate in mass. Their decays into ordinary third-generation leptons are suppressed, so that only the easier final states with  $e/\mu$  that have higher sensitivity are considered. The dominant search channel is  $pp \to L^{\pm}N \to W^{\pm}\nu W^{\mp}\ell^{\pm}$ , where

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>For Majorana neutrinos see e.g. refs. [238–245].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>There are similar CMS analyses [249], but only at  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  TeV and hence with reduced sensitivity.

one W boson decays leptonically and the other hadronically, resulting in same-sign or opposite-sign lepton pairs in the final state. In a subsequent analysis [248], the additional  $pp \rightarrow L^+L^-$  channel has been considered as well as the decay mode  $L^{\pm} \rightarrow Z\ell^{\pm}$ , which leads to three-lepton final states. In addition, a different model was considered with a single charged vector-lepton state that we denote by one-VLL.

For heavy leptons with masses  $m_L = 200 \text{ GeV}$ , the cross sections assumed in the ATLAS analyses at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$  were 34 fb and 844 fb for the one-VLL and Type-III seesaw models, the huge difference being mainly due to the fact that Type-III has both charged and neutral leptons than can be produced in the  $pp \rightarrow L^{\pm}N$  process. The 95% confidence level exclusion limits obtained by ATLAS are then  $m_L \gtrsim 170 \text{ GeV}$  in the one-VLL model and  $m_L \gtrsim 400 \text{ GeV}$  in the Type-III model.

In our analysis, we will assume a lower bound on the charged vector-like lepton mass of  $m_E = 400 \text{ GeV}$  and sometimes we will fix  $m_E$  to this specific value in order to enhance their loop contributions to the  $\Phi\gamma\gamma$  couplings, as can be seen from figure 3. For the neutral vector-like lepton, a comparable mass  $m_N \approx m_E$  will be assumed in general, though sometimes one can consider a relatively smaller mass in order to allow for the (possibly invisible) decay  $\Phi \to N\bar{N}$ . We note that, if  $m_N \leq m_E + M_W$ , the *E* decay will be more involved and the experimental constraint on  $m_E$  would become much weaker.

The case of vector-like quarks is completely different, since the bounds on their masses from negative searches at Run 1 of the LHC are much more severe. This is particularly true in the case of vector-like partners of the top and bottom quarks. Indeed, depending on the decay branching fractions, one has for instance the bounds  $m_T > 950$  GeV for a branching ratio BR $(T \rightarrow ht) = 1$  and  $m_B > 813$  GeV for if BR $(B \rightarrow Wt) = 1$  [155–158]. (Similar limits can be set on quarks with exotic charges that we do not discuss here.) Although these limits are model-dependent, we assume as a general rule that vector-like quarks are heavier than about 800 GeV to 1 TeV, in order to evade these bounds.

#### 4.3 Production of vector-like fermions in pp collisions

We discuss now the production of the new fermions at hadron colliders. First, because they couple to gluons like ordinary quarks, vector-like quarks can be pair produced in the strong interaction process  $pp \to Q\bar{Q}$  with rates that depend only on the heavy quark mass  $m_Q$  and the strong coupling constant  $\alpha_s = g_s^2/4\pi$ . As can be seen from figure 17b, two processes are in play,  $q\bar{q}$  annihilation and gg fusion, with the latter largely dominating at higher-energy colliders for relatively small quark masses. The partonic cross sections at leading order (LO) are given in term of the velocity  $\beta_Q = \sqrt{1 - 4m_Q^2/\hat{s}}$  by [254–258]

$$\hat{\sigma}(q\bar{q} \to Q\bar{Q}) = \frac{4\pi\alpha_s^2}{27\hat{s}}\beta_Q(3-\beta_Q^2),$$
  
$$\hat{\sigma}(gg \to Q\bar{Q}) = \frac{\pi\alpha_s^2}{48\hat{s}} \left[ \frac{1}{4}\beta_Q(\beta_Q^4 - 2\beta_Q^2 + 143) + (33 - 18\beta_Q^2 + \beta_Q^4)\log\frac{1+\beta_Q}{1-\beta_Q} \right]. \quad (4.5)$$

The total hadronic cross section, i.e., after folding with the parton luminosities which are chosen here to be those of the MSTW2008 fit [106], is shown in figure 18 as a function of the heavy quark mass for several pp collider centre-of-mass energies  $\sqrt{s} = 8, 13, 14, 33$  and



Figure 18. The production cross sections in pp collisions of vector-like quark pairs as functions of the mass for several collider energies. Only the LO contributions are included and the MSTW parton distributions have been adopted.

100 TeV. For the value  $m_Q = 1$  TeV that is close to the experimental lower bound, the cross section, which is at the few fb level at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV, increases by one order of magnitude at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  or 14 TeV and by four orders of magnitude at  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV. For higher quark masses, the increase of the rate with energy is even steeper. For instance, the production rate of about 100 fb at  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV for  $m_Q = 3$  TeV is five orders of magnitude larger than at  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV. This clearly shows the advantage of a higher energy proton-proton collider. Note that we have evaluated the rate only at the leading order. At NLO in QCD, supplemented by the next-to-leading threshold logarithmic corrections (NLO+NLL), one has to multiply the production rate above by a factor  $K \approx 1.5$  at the LHC [259] for heavy quark masses between 1 and 2 TeV.

Vector-like leptons can also be pair produced in proton-proton collisions via their electroweak couplings to  $V = \gamma, W/Z$  bosons in the Drell-Yan process  $q\bar{q} \to V^* \to L\bar{L}$  [260], figure 17c. The cross section for the  $q\bar{q} \to L\bar{L}$  subprocess where L can be either a charged E or a neutral N lepton with a velocity  $\beta_L = (1 - 4m_L^2/\hat{s})^{1/2}$  reads

$$\hat{\sigma}(q\bar{q} \to L\bar{L}) = \frac{2\pi\alpha^2}{9\hat{s}}\beta_L(3-\beta_L^2) \left[ e_q^2 e_L^2 + \frac{2e_q e_L v_q v_L}{1-M_Z^2/\hat{s}} + \frac{(a_q^2 + v_q^2)v_L^2}{(1-M_Z^2/\hat{s})^2} \right].$$
(4.6)

In the case of an electrically-charged E state, both the  $\gamma$  and Z boson channels and their interference have to be considered, while only the channel with Z boson exchange has to be considered for a non-singlet neutral lepton N (an iso-singlet would not couple through the usual gauge interactions). In addition, one could produce pairs of charged and neutral leptons via the exchange of a virtual W boson,  $q\bar{q}' \to W^{*\pm} \to E^{\pm}N$ . For comparable masses,  $m_E \approx m_N$ , the cross section is simply given by

$$\hat{\sigma}(q\bar{q} \to L\bar{N} + \bar{L}N) = \frac{4\pi\alpha^2}{9\hat{s}} \frac{\beta_L(3 - \beta_L^2)}{(1 - M_W^2/\hat{s})^2} \times \frac{1}{8s_W^4}, \qquad (4.7)$$

where we assume unit CKM-like matrix elements for simplicity.



Figure 19. Cross sections in pp collisions for the pair production of vector-like lepton pairs as functions of the centre-of-mass energy for two values of the lepton mass:  $m_L = 400 \text{ GeV}$  (left) and  $m_L = 800 \text{ GeV}$  (right). The produced particles have the following electric charge and weak isospin assignments:  $L(-1, -\frac{1}{2})$ ,  $N(0, +\frac{1}{2})$  and E(-1, 0).

The cross sections for producing pairs of vector-like charged and neutral leptons of masses  $m_L = 400 \text{ GeV}$  and  $m_L = 800 \text{ GeV}$  are shown in figure 19 as functions of  $\sqrt{s}$ . (Here also, we omitted the enhancement factor  $K \approx 1.5$  due to QCD corrections [261–263]). The heavy leptons considered are those of Model 4 discussed in section 2, which have the following assignments for electric charge and weak isospin  $L(-1, -\frac{1}{2})$ ,  $N(0, +\frac{1}{2})$  and E(-1, 0). One notices that, because of the smaller electroweak gauge coupling compared to the QCD coupling, the cross sections for vector-like leptons are three to four orders of magnitude smaller than those for vector-like quarks. In addition, the rates are much smaller for the neutral-current processes with the photon and/or Z exchanges than for the charged-current W exchange. While the cross sections for NN, LL, EE production are comparable and barely reach the fb level for  $m_L = 400 \text{ GeV}$  at the 8 TeV LHC, they are a factor 20 larger for NL production. The latter process is thus the best probe of vector leptons in pair production. Note again that the cross sections increase by about two orders of magnitude when moving from  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$  to  $\sqrt{s} = 100 \text{ TeV}$ .

Let us finally mention that, for  $m_L = 200 \,\text{GeV}$ , the cross section for single  $N\ell$  and associated NL pair production at the LHC with  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \,\text{TeV}$  are, respectively,  $\sigma(pp \rightarrow N\bar{l} + N\bar{l}) \approx 15 \,\text{fb}$  and  $\sigma(pp \rightarrow L^{\pm}N) \approx 600 \,\text{fb}$ . These values will be needed when we will discuss the sensitivity of future searches on the vector-like fermions.

The other important set of processes for vector-like fermion production is provided by single production through mixing. In the case of vector-like leptons, the situation is rather simple, as there is only one relevant process which is  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow V^* \rightarrow L\ell$  where the intermediate state can be either a W or Z boson, see figure 17d (left). For instance, the partonic cross section for the production of a heavy neutrino in association with a charged



Figure 20. Cross sections for the associated production of the heavy neutral vector-like leptons with Standard Model leptons (left) and for the associated production of heavy vector-like quarks and Standard Model quarks (right) as functions of the heavy fermion masses. In both cases, the mixing angles have been taken generically to be  $\xi^2 = 10^{-2}$  and the rates are shown at various collider energies.

ordinary lepton is simply given by

$$\hat{\sigma}(q\bar{q} \to \bar{N}\ell + \bar{\ell}N) = \frac{\pi\alpha^2}{18\hat{s}} \frac{(1-\mu_N^2)^2(1+\frac{1}{2}\mu_N^2)}{(1-M_W^2/\hat{s})^2} \frac{\xi_{WN\ell}^2}{s_W^4}, \qquad (4.8)$$

where  $\mu_N \equiv m_N/\sqrt{\hat{s}}$ . This is the cross section that led to the constraints  $m_N \gtrsim 200 \,\text{GeV}$  for  $\xi^2_{WN\ell} \approx 0.01$  derived by the CMS collaboration in the search for Majorana neutrinos decaying into two same-sign muons and jets [246]. The cross sections for other leptonic final states can be obtained by simply adapting the couplings.

The production rates in the process  $pp \to \bar{N}\ell + \bar{\ell}N$  are shown in the left-hand side of figure 20 for various collider energies as a function of the heavy lepton mass for a mixing angle  $\xi^2 = 10^{-2}$ . They are not too small and, for  $m_N = 400 \text{ GeV}$ , they increase from the level of 1 fb at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$  to about 100 fb at  $\sqrt{s} = 100 \text{ TeV}$ . The chances of observing such a process are therefore not negligible at very high energy pp colliders.

There are also processes for the single production of the vector-like quarks in association with their light quark partners through mixing as seen above for leptons. The rates are indeed suppressed by the small mixing angles but, for high masses, some compensation is provided by the more favourable phase space, compared to the pair production channels. Several single production processes exist but we will consider the two which should, in principle, lead to the largest cross sections.

First are the processes in which the production occurs through the virtual exchange of the V = W, Z vector bosons. There is the possibility of s-channel Z boson exchange in  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow Q\bar{q}$  but also W exchange in  $q\bar{q} \rightarrow Q\bar{q}'$  as already mentioned for vector-like leptons. These diagrams lead in general to contributions  $\propto 1/\hat{s}$ , given by an expression similar to eq. (4.8), that are small. There are also contributions that are generated by the exchange of the V = W, Z bosons in the *t*-channel and which involve the mixing between the heavy Q and the initial state light q parton; see figure 17c (right). This gives rise to an extremely large enhancement of the cross section, which can be approximated in this case by

$$\hat{\sigma}(qq \to qQ) = \frac{2\pi\alpha^2}{3\hat{s}} \,\zeta_{VqQ}^2 \,(v_q^2 + a_q^2)(1 - \mu^2)\mathcal{F}(v)\,,\tag{4.9}$$

where  $v = M_V^2/\hat{s}$ ,  $\mu^2 = m_Q^2/\hat{s}$  and  $a_q, v_q$  are the full axial and vector  $Vq\bar{q}$  couplings:  $a_q = 2I_q^3/(4c_W s_W)$  and  $v_q = (2I_q^3 - 4e_q s_W^2)/(4c_W s_W)$  for the Z boson and  $a_q = v_q = 1/(2\sqrt{2}s_W)$  for the W boson. The function  $\mathcal{F}(x)$ , obtained when only the leading contributions at high energies are included, is given by (the complete expressions can be found in ref. [229])

$$\mathcal{F}(x) \approx \frac{1}{x} + 2\log\frac{1}{x(1-\mu^2)}$$
 (4.10)

Note that in eq. (4.9) above the generic parton q stands for both quarks and antiquarks.

The cross sections of the  $pp \rightarrow qQ$  mechanism (they have been multiplied by a factor of two to obtain the rates for the charged conjugate process with  $\bar{Q}$ ), where Q is a "first generation" vector-like quark that couples to the u quark with a mixing angle  $\xi = 10^{-1}$ , are displayed in the right-hand side of figure 20 as a function of  $m_Q$  for the usual collider energies. As can be seen, they are quite substantial for the assumed mixing and at the LHC with  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV, one obtains cross sections of the order of 100 fb (10 fb) for  $m_Q = 1.5$  TeV (2 TeV). For such masses, the rates are much larger than for pair production, despite the mixing and the smaller electroweak coupling. The rates increase more rapidly with centreof-mass energy and for  $m_Q = 5$  TeV the cross section is still at the pb level at a 100 TeV collider for the chosen mixing angle  $\xi = 10^{-1}$ .

A second process that is relevant for single vector-like production is the associated production with a vector boson,  $qg \to VQ$  with V = W, Z. There are two channels involved in this mechanism: one in which the qg pairs annihilates through the *s*-channel exchange of  $q^*$  which splits into the VQ pair, and another in which the heavy quark Q is exchanged in the *t*-channel; see figure 17e. The total production cross section, in the limit  $\hat{s}, m_Q \gg M_V$  which is appropriate in our case, is given by the very simple expression<sup>31</sup>

$$\hat{\sigma}(qg \to VQ) = \frac{\alpha_s G_{\mu}}{12\sqrt{2}} \hat{g}_V^2 \xi_{VqQ}^2 \mu_Q^2 \left[ (1 + 2\mu_Q^2 + 2\mu_Q^4) \log \frac{1}{\mu_Q^2} - \frac{1}{2} (1 - \mu_Q^2)(3 + 7\mu_Q^2) \right] \quad (4.11)$$

with  $G_{\mu}$  the Fermi coupling constant,  $\hat{g}_W = \sqrt{2}$  and  $\hat{g}_Z = 1/c_W$  and again  $\mu_Q = m_Q/\sqrt{\hat{s}}$ . We have evaluated the cross sections in the case of a heavy vector-like quark Q that couples to the first generation u, d quarks with final states involving both the W and Z bosons with masses that have been neglected (when folding with the parton distributions, we have thus summed over all first generation quark and antiquark contributions). The results for

 $<sup>^{31}</sup>$ All these processes for single vector-like quark production are similar to those involved in single top quark [264–270]. Surprisingly enough, we did not find in the literature the simple formula of eq. (4.11) for the total cross section in this specific single top production case.



Figure 21. The production cross sections in pp collisions of single vector-like quarks in the process  $qg \rightarrow QW$  and  $qg \rightarrow QZ$  as a function of the mass for several collider energies; a mixing angle  $\xi = 0.1$  is assumed.

the production cross sections are displayed in figure 21 as a function of the mass  $m_Q$  for several energies of the pp colliders and a mixing angle fixed to  $\xi = 0.1$ .

Despite of the  $\xi^2$  suppression, the cross sections are extremely large. Already for a 1 TeV quark, the rates at the  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV LHC are an order of magnitude larger than in the QCD pair production process. At  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV, the rates relative to  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV are of the same order,  $\sigma \approx 25$  pb, for a mass  $m_Q = 1$  TeV. But for higher Q masses, there can be a huge difference: the rates for  $pp \to VQ$  are larger than those of  $pp \to Q\bar{Q}$  by an order of magnitude for  $m_Q = 3$  TeV and by three orders for  $m_Q = 10$  TeV.

Hence, these single production processes are the most copious sources of vector-like quarks and they allow to probe mixing angles that are very small (more than an order of magnitude smaller than  $\xi = 0.1$ ). With such large rates, one could even probe second and third generation heavy quark if inter-family mixing is not prohibitively small.

We close this section by discussing the sensitivity of future searches at the LHC and at higher-energy pp colliders to the masses and couplings of the vector-like fermions. The LHC experiments have already searched for the coloured heavy quarks during Run 1, with exclusion sensitivity to masses above 800 GeV [155–158] from pair production as discussed above (we will not discuss single production which is more model-dependent). In order to extrapolate this sensitivity to higher energies and luminosities, we assume that a similar number of events would be required at another centre-of-mass energy, while noting that more efficient multivariate discrimination and boosted techniques might lead lead to improved sensitivity at the future LHC runs and higher-energy pp colliders.

Neglecting this possibility of improved analyses techniques and simply considering the cross sections for the pair production processes discussed in the previous subsection, we have evaluated the prospective sensitivities to heavy vector-like quarks at the LHC with various energies and luminosities and at higher-energy pp colliders. Our results are summarised in

	Vector-like quark mass sensitivity			Vector-like lepton mass sensitivity				
model	$100 \mathrm{fb}^{-1}$	$300 \mathrm{fb}^{-1}$	$300 {\rm fb}^{-1}$	$20 ab^{-1}$	$100 {\rm fb}^{-1}$	$300 \mathrm{fb}^{-1}$	$^{1}$ 300fb <sup>-</sup>	$^{1} 20 ab^{-1}$
	$13\mathrm{TeV}$	$14{\rm TeV}$	$33{ m TeV}$	$100{\rm TeV}$	$13\mathrm{TeV}$	$14{\rm TeV}$	$33 { m TeV}$	$100 { m TeV}$
1	1.4	1.7	3.1	11.7			-	
2	1.5	1.8	3.4	12.7			-	
3	1.6	2.0	3.7	13.7			-	
4	1.6	2.0	3.7	13.7	0.56	0.73	1.7	5.3

Table 3. Prospective model sensitivities to massive vector-like quarks (left) and leptons (right) [with the particle masses in TeV] in the indicated pp collider and scenario.

table 3 in the four models with vector-like fermion content discussed in section 2. We have used the facts that Models 2, 3 and 4 have, respectively, twice, four times and four times as many heavy quark degrees of freedom as Model 1.

As can be seen, depending on the considered model, sensitivities to vector-like quark masses between 1.7 TeV and 2.0 TeV can be reached at the LHC with  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV and  $300 \text{ fb}^{-1}$  of data. Thanks to the huge increase in the production cross sections when moving to higher centre-of-mass energies, the sensitivity improves by a factor of approximately 8 at a pp collider with  $\sqrt{s} = 100$  TeV energy and 20 ab<sup>-1</sup> of data, allowing one to probe vector-like masses higher than the 10 TeV level; see also ref. [41].

Turning to vector-like leptons, future sensitivities may be derived from the ones obtained by the ATLAS collaboration in searches at the 8 TeV LHC with approximately  $20 \text{ fb}^{-1}$  of data in the Type-III seesaw model discussed previously [247, 248] and which led to a bound  $m_L \gtrsim 400 \text{ GeV}$  in this model (assuming of course the specific multi-lepton decay pattern which simplified the search and led to the quite stringent bound).

In the singlet Model 4 of section 2, which includes a family of vector-like fermions, there are SU(2) lepton doublets with charged and neutral components and an SU(2) singlet charged lepton. The cross sections at the LHC are  $\sigma(pp \to N\bar{l}) \approx 13$  fb (for  $\xi^2 \approx 0.01$ ) and  $\sigma(pp \to L^{\pm}N) \approx 600$  fb, i.e.,  $\approx 30\%$  smaller than those assumed by ATLAS to set the limits that were discussed previously. The present sensitivity in Model 4 will be thus slightly worse and, if the vector-like leptons are degenerate, may be assumed to be  $m_L \approx 300$  GeV from pair production (the limit from single production depends on the mixing angle). Using the same equal-sensitivity assumption as for vector quarks, we find the prospective future sensitivities to vector-like leptons of Model 4 that are shown in the last column of table 3 for the LHC and for higher-energy pp colliders.

We conclude that hadron colliders have indeed some sensitivity to heavy leptons; see also ref. [41]. Nevertheless, the sensitivities above should be taken only as indications, as they are quite model-dependent. For instance, they are weaker if decays into third generation leptons are allowed or even dominant. The sensitivity also weakens if there is a mass difference between the neutral leptons that would lead to cascade decays. Finally, if the lightest vector-like lepton is the dark matter particle and is thus stable, all these searches become extremely difficult because the N lepton escapes detection.

# 4.4 Production of vector-like fermions in $e^+e^-$ collisions

We turn now to  $e^+e^-$  colliders. Thinking that the vector-like leptons might be the lightest, we focus first on lepton pair production:  $e^+e^- \rightarrow L^+L^-$ , which is kinematically possible for  $m_L \leq \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{s}$ . The total cross section for fermion pair depends on the electric charge and the vector-like  $ZF\bar{F}$  coupling given in eq. (4.1)

$$\sigma(e^+e^- \to F\bar{F}) = \sigma_0 N_c \frac{1}{2} \beta_F (3 - \beta_F^2) \left[ e_e^2 e_F^2 + \frac{2e_e e_F v_e v_F}{1 - M_Z^2/s} + \frac{(a_e^2 + v_e^2) v_F^2}{(1 - M_Z^2/s)^2} \right], \quad (4.12)$$

where  $N_c$  is the colour number,  $\sigma_0 = 4\pi \alpha^2/3s$  is the point-like QED cross section for muon pair production,  $\beta_F = (1-4m_F^2/s)^{1/2}$  the velocity and the reduced couplings of the electron to the Z boson are  $v_e = (-1+4s_W^2)/(4s_W c_W)$  and  $a_e = -1/(4s_W c_W)$ .

The cross sections for lepton pair production are shown in the left panel of figure 22 as functions of  $\sqrt{s}$  for the masses  $m_L = m_N = 400 \text{ GeV}$ . We note that in the case of neutral vector-like leptons the cross section for  $e^+e^- \rightarrow NN$  proceeds only through Z-boson exchange, figure 17c, and the rate is in general much smaller than for charged leptons. For Dirac particles the cross section rises as  $\beta_N$  close to threshold, whereas Majorana fermions have a  $\beta_N^3$  behaviour, like scalars, which could be a useful diagnostic tool.

We note that, since they have no axial couplings to the Z boson, there is no forwardbackward asymmetry in  $e^+e^- \rightarrow L^+L^-$ ,  $A_{FB} \propto a_F = 0$ . Furthermore, the polarization vectors of the heavy leptons have vanishing longitudinal components with respect to the flight direction, whereas the transverse components are small and positive [229].

The right panel of figure 22 shows the pair production cross sections at  $\sqrt{s} = 3 \text{ TeV}$  for the vector-like fermions U, D, E and N as functions of  $m_F$ . It is clear that a 3 TeV  $e^+e^$ collider such as CLIC would be able to produce copiously and study in detail any of these vector-like fermions, even if they have masses close to the beam energy.

Single production of vector-like leptons is possible in  $e^+e^-$  collisions in association with the light Standard Model leptons,  $e^+e^- \rightarrow L_i^{\pm}l_i^{\mp}$  and  $e^+e^- \rightarrow N_i\nu_i$ , via the mixing angles  $\xi_i$  [229, 271]. These processes are, in contrast to pair production, not democratic. One would have, in terms of the reduced electron couplings,  $\hat{a}_e = -1$  and  $\hat{v}_e = -1 + 4s_W^2$ ,

$$\sigma(e^+e^- \to F\bar{f}) = \sigma_0 N_c \frac{\zeta_{ZFf}^2}{128c_W^4 s_W^4} (\hat{a}_e^2 + \hat{v}_e^2) \frac{(1-\mu^2)^2 (1+\frac{1}{2}\mu^2)}{(1-z)^2}, \qquad (4.13)$$

with  $\mu^2 = m_F^2/s$  and  $z = M_Z^2/s$ . In addition, for vector-like leptons with couplings to the electron, one needs to include additional *t*-channel vector boson exchanges: *W*-exchange for the neutral leptons and *Z*-exchange for the charged leptons; figure 17d. Complete expressions for the angular distributions and the total cross sections for these processes in the general case can be found in refs. [228, 229]. Here we simply give the dominant piece in the limit where  $M_W, M_Z \ll \sqrt{s}$ , with only the leading logarithms being retained:

$$\sigma(e^+e^- \to \bar{E}e) = \sigma_0 \frac{3\zeta_{ZeE}^2}{64c_W^4 s_W^4} (\hat{v}_e^2 + \hat{a}_e^2)(1 - \mu^2)\mathcal{F}(z) ,$$
  
$$\sigma(e^+e^- \to \bar{N}_e\nu_e) = \frac{3\sigma_0}{16s_W^4} (\hat{v}_e^2 + \hat{a}_e^2)(1 - \mu^2)\mathcal{F}(w) , \qquad (4.14)$$



Figure 22. Left panel: cross sections for pair-production of the heavy vector-like charged and neutral leptons at an  $e^+e^-$  collider as functions of the centre-of-mass energy  $\sqrt{s}$  for the mass values  $m_L = m_N = 400 \text{ GeV}$ , ordered with decreasing cross sections. In addition to the pair production processes  $e^+e^- \rightarrow N\bar{N}, L^+L^-$  with the isospin of the particles given in brackets, we also include the pair-production of doubly-charged leptons,  $e^+e^- \rightarrow L^{++}L^{--}$ . Right panel: cross sections at  $\sqrt{s} = 3 \text{ TeV}$  for the pair production of vector-like fermions U, D, E and N as functions of  $m_F$ .

where the function  $\mathcal{F}$  is given in eq. (4.10). The cross sections are shown in figure 23 as functions of  $\sqrt{s}$  for  $m_L = m_N = 400 \text{ GeV}$ , assuming  $\xi_i^2 = 10^{-2}$  for all mixing angles. They are much smaller in the case of neutral and charged leptons with couplings only to the second- and third-generation Standard Model leptons, since the cross sections for vectorlike leptons coupled to electrons are enhanced by some two to three orders of magnitude thanks to the *t*-channel exchanges. This effect is particularly marked for neutral vector-like leptons, where rates of the order of 1 pb for  $\bar{N}\nu_e + \bar{\nu}_e N$  production can be obtained for mixing angles  $\zeta^2 = 10^{-2}$ , larger than in pair production, which is not mixing suppressed. The reason is that there is a contribution that grows like  $1/w = s^2/M_W^2$  and another like  $\log(1/w)$ . The cross section for charged vector-like leptons is an order of magnitude less as a result of the smaller Z couplings, is nevertheless also significant.

Regarding their detection, as mentioned previously, these fermions decay through mixing into gauge bosons and ordinary leptons,  $L^{\pm} \rightarrow \ell^{\pm} Z, \nu W^{\pm}$  and  $N \rightarrow \nu Z, e^{\pm} W^{\mp}$ , with rates that are in general twice as large for the charged decays as for the neutral ones. There are potentially also decays involving the light h boson in the final state, which have magnitudes that are strongly dependent on the mixing pattern. If only these decays are considered, detecting the vector-like leptons in an  $e^+e^-$  environment is not a problem, provided that the production rates are large enough (such decays involving leptons and missing energy could be relatively easily detectable even at pp colliders).

However, there is a special and more complicated situation that could be of interest. If the lightest vector-like fermion is a neutral lepton, it might be (meta-)stable and a candidate for the dark matter particle. This vector-like lepton would be invisible and



Figure 23. Cross sections for single production of the heavy vector-like charged and neutral leptons in association with ordinary leptons at an  $e^+e^-$  collider, as functions of the centre-of-mass energy  $\sqrt{s}$  for the mass values  $m_L = m_N = 400 \text{ GeV}$ , assuming mixing  $\xi^2 = 10^{-2}$  with ordinary leptons eor  $\mu, \tau$ . The cross section in the case of vector-like quarks with the same mass is also shown.

escape detection, except in a 'neutrino counting' experiment where the heavy neutrino is pair-produced in association with a photon radiated from the initial state,  $e^+e^- \rightarrow N\bar{N}\gamma$ . However, the charged vector lepton E could decay into the neutral one and a W boson, which would be off-shell if the mass difference  $m_E - m_N$  is small,  $E \rightarrow NW^* \rightarrow Nf\bar{f}$ , with the N state again escaping detection. These channels with soft leptons and a large amount of missing energy will be more difficult to probe (in particular at hadron colliders) since they have signatures similar to supersymmetry with a compressed spectrum.

Finally, a very interesting set of processes for the vector-like leptons would be production in association with a Higgs boson,<sup>32</sup>  $e^+e^- \rightarrow L\bar{L}$  + Higgs, taking advantage of the large Yukawa couplings  $\propto m_L/v$ . Most favoured by phase space is the process  $e^+e^- \rightarrow hL\bar{L}$ with h the standard-like Higgs boson with a mass  $M_h = 125$  GeV. This is similar to the associated  $t\bar{t}h$  processes discussed in ref. [204, 205], and the cross sections are shown in the left panel of figure 24 as functions of  $\sqrt{s}$ , again for a mass  $m_L = 400$  GeV.

We consider the cases of the N state with isospin  $+\frac{1}{2}$  and the  $L^-, L^{--}$  states with isospin  $-\frac{1}{2}$ , and assume that the Yukawa couplings are simply proportional to the vectorlike lepton masses  $Y_{L_i} = Y_{N_i} = m_i/v$ . Here, the dominant contribution to the cross section comes from vector-like lepton pair production through s-channel  $\gamma$  and Z exchange, with one of them emitting the h boson,  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \bar{L}L^* \rightarrow h\bar{L}L$ , and this is the only contribution retained in the figure. As expected, simply because of the electric charge, the largest cross section is obtained for  $L^{--}$ , followed by that for  $L^-$  and then that for N. One has rates of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup>In addition, vector-like lepton production in association with a vector boson might be important. As the cross sections for  $e^+e^- \rightarrow W^+W^-$  and ZZ production are rather large, the emission of heavy plus light leptons by virtual V bosons through mixing,  $e^+e^- \rightarrow VV^* \rightarrow VL\bar{\ell}$ , might lead to rates that are not negligible compared to the single production processes, in particular for heavy leptons that do no mix with the electrons and whose rates are thus not enhanced.



Figure 24. Cross sections for production of the heavy charged and neutral vector-like leptons in association with the Standard Model-like h boson (left panel) and the  $\Phi = H/A$  states (right panel). We assume  $m_L = m_N = 400 \text{ GeV}$  and consider the  $L^{--}, L^-, N$  cases with standard-like Yukawa couplings  $\propto m_i/v$ .

a few fb to a few tens of fb at centre-of-mass energies  $\sqrt{s} \approx 1.5$  TeV, where the phase space and the 1/s behaviours are not too penalizing.

Another mechanism is  $\Phi = H, A$  production in association with a pair of heavy leptons,  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \bar{L}L\Phi$  (there is also single production in the channels  $e^+e^- \rightarrow \bar{L}\ell\Phi$ , but this is suppressed by the mixing in addition to phase space) and the rates are shown in the right panel of figure 24 for the  $L^{--}, L^-, N$  lepton and H/A cases. Except for the phase-space suppression, the production rates follow those of the  $h\bar{L}L$  processes, dominated by the  $e^+e^- \rightarrow L^{++}L^{--}\Phi$  channel, for which the cross section can reach the fb level. This is the case for production with the H state, in particular, as the rate is twice as large as in the case of A for energies below 3 TeV where the chiral limit is not yet attained.

We close this section by noting that the charged vector-like fermions can also be pair produced at photon colliders in the processes  $\gamma \gamma \to F\bar{F}$ , which would be particularly interesting for doubly-charged leptons since the production rates are proportional to  $e_F^4$ ; for singly charged leptons, the rate is a factor of four higher than for the scalar case shown in figure 15. Heavy leptons having couplings to the electron can also be singly produced in the  $e\gamma$  option of linear  $e^+e^-$  colliders and the relevant processes,  $e\gamma \to NW$  and  $e\gamma \to EZ$ (similar to figure 17e), might have large rates for not too tiny mixing angles.

#### 5 Conclusions

The first question for the continuation of LHC Run 2 is whether the initial hint of the 750 GeV  $\Phi$  resonance decaying into two photons will be confirmed. If so, measurements of its strength and width would provide information on the parameters of the state (or states) that could discriminate between different models. For example, the 2HDM benchmark

$\Phi = \text{singlet}$	resonance
-------------------------	-----------

Two Higgs doublet model  $\Phi = H/A$ 

	production	detection channels	production	detection channels
pp	$gg \to \Phi$	$\gamma\gamma, \gamma Z, ZZ, WW$	$gg \to \Phi$	$\gamma\gamma, \gamma Z, ZZ, WW$
		gg		$t\bar{t}, H^{\pm}W\left(?\right)$
	$qq \rightarrow qq\Phi$	all main modes	$pp \to t\bar{t}\Phi$	all main modes
	$q\bar{q} \rightarrow V\Phi$	all main modes	$pp \to AH, HH, AA$	all main modes
			$pp \to tbH^{\pm}$	all main modes
			$pp \to H^+H^-, H^{\pm}\Phi$	all main modes
$\gamma\gamma$	$\gamma\gamma\to\Phi$	$\gamma\gamma, \gamma Z, ZZ, WW$	$\gamma\gamma\to\Phi$	$t\bar{t},\gamma\gamma\left(? ight)$
			$\gamma\gamma \to H^+H^-$	all main modes
$e^+e^-$	$e^+e^- \to Z\Phi, \gamma\Phi$	all main modes	$e^+e^- \to HA$	all main modes
	$e^+e^- \to \Phi \ell \ell$	all main modes	$e^+e^- \to t\bar{t}\Phi$	all main modes
			$e^+e^- \rightarrow H^+H^-$	all main modes

**Table 4.** The principal production channels and detection modes of the  $\Phi$  in singlet scenarios (left column) and in two Higgs-doublet models (right column, in the exact alignment limit and with  $\Phi = H/A$ ) that could be probed at the various colliders discussed in this paper: a pp collider with a c.m. energy from  $\sqrt{s} = 14$  TeV (LHC) to 100 TeV, a  $\gamma\gamma$  collider running at an energy of  $\sqrt{s} = 750$  GeV and an  $e^+e^-$  collider with an energy  $\sqrt{s} = 1$  TeV to 3 TeV.

models studied here suggest that there may be two near-degenerate  $\Phi$  states, with natural widths greater than the experimental resolution, yielding an asymmetric lineshape. As follow-ups, more detailed measurements would be possible at a higher-energy pp collider, and it would be possible to make a precision measurement of  $\Gamma(\Phi \to \gamma \gamma)$  via  $\gamma \gamma$  collisions at an  $e^+e^-$  collider with centre-of-mass energy  $\simeq 1 \text{ TeV}$  [23–26], as discussed in sections 2 and 3. A summary of the principal production and decay channels that can be probed at these colliders in the singlet and two-Higgs doublet scenarios is displayed in table 4.

In the case of the 2HDM benchmarks, the decay  $\Phi \to t\bar{t}$  decay would be dominant, and its detection may lie within reach of the LHC experiments. One should also search for the other diboson decays of the  $\Phi$  state,  $\Phi \to Z\gamma$ , ZZ and  $W^+W^-$ , which would help distinguish between different singlet models as seen in table 1, as well as other fermionic decay modes such as  $\bar{b}b$  and  $\tau^+\tau^-$  that could show up in the 2HDM benchmarks, along possibly with the interesting  $H \to hh$  and  $A \to hZ$  channels. If invisible  $\Phi$  decays occur, the missing energy can be searched for in the  $gg \to \Phi + j$  channel and, in the doublet case, associated  $t\bar{t}\Phi$  production could provide an additional probe. Thorough searches for these decay modes will require high-luminosity running for the LHC [21, 22] followed by a higher-energy pp collider such as HE-LHC [38], SPPC [39] or FCC-hh [40].

A common feature of the benchmark scenarios considered here is the need for additional vector-like matter particles, which we assume to be fermions. As discussed in

	production mechanism	generating interaction
$\mathbf{p}\mathbf{p}$	$gg/q\bar{q}  ightarrow Q\bar{Q}$	QCD gauge interaction
	$qq \rightarrow Qq, q\bar{q} \rightarrow Q\bar{q}, qg \rightarrow QV$	quark mixing
	$q\bar{q} \rightarrow E^+E^-, N\bar{N}, E^{\pm}N$	electroweak interaction
	$q\bar{q} \to \ell N, \ell E^{\pm}$	lepton mixing
$\gamma\gamma$	$\gamma\gamma \to E^+E^-$	electromagnetic interaction
$\mathbf{e}^+\mathbf{e}^-$	$e^+e^- \rightarrow E^+E^-, N\bar{N}, Q\bar{Q}$	gauge interactions
	$e^+e^- \rightarrow E^{\pm}e^{\pm}, N\nu, Q\bar{q}$	fermion mixing
	$e^+e^- \rightarrow E^+E^-h, N\bar{N}h$	gauge + Yukawa interactions
	$e^+e^- \to E^+E^-\Phi, N\bar{N}\Phi$	gauge + Yukawa interactions

**Table 5.** The principal production channels for the vector-like quarks Q and leptons E, N in  $pp, \gamma\gamma$  and  $e^+e^-$  collisions discussed in this paper, and the interactions that generate the processes: QCD or electroweak gauge interactions for pair production, fermion mixing for single production and Yukawa interactions for associated production with scalar bosons.

section 4, future LHC searches for these particles are very promising, with the capability to explore all the parameter spaces of some singlet models. Measurements of pair production of vector-like fermions at  $e^+e^-$  machines are also promising, particularly for vector-like leptons. These may well be lighter than vector-like quarks, which could help explain the magnitude of the  $\Phi \rightarrow \gamma \gamma$  signal: see figures 3 and 6. Single production of vector-like fermions in association with Standard Model fermions would have lower thresholds than pair production, and hence may be more accessible to the LHC and/or an  $e^+e^-$  collider, depending on the magnitudes of their mixing with their Standard Model counterparts. Single production processes would be very interesting for measuring their mixing, and thereby constraining models of the vector-like fermions. A summary of all the processes for the production of the vector-like quarks and leptons at the various high-energy colliders discussed in this paper, with a mention of the interactions that generate them, is given in table 5.

The 2HDM benchmark scenarios have the distinctive feature that they predict the existence of two neutral Higgs bosons H, A contributing to the  $\Phi$  signal, as well as a pair of accompanying charged Higgs bosons  $H^{\pm}$ . The two H, A states would not be exactly degenerate. A typical separation is ~ 15 GeV, which might also help explain the hint of a non-negligible width for  $\Phi$  reported by ATLAS. The LHC and other experiments might be able to resolve the  $\Phi$  structure into two peaks, each with a measurable natural width. As discussed in section 3, there are many interesting opportunities to search for pair production of the H, A and  $H^{\pm}$  states in pp collisions, as well as their production in association with W, Z or h bosons, or  $\bar{t}t$  pairs. Similar final states may also be accessible in  $e^+e^-$  collisions, as may various processes for  $H^{\pm}$  production. CLIC [27], with its centre-of-mass energy up to 3 TeV would be particularly well placed for such studies.

We have in this paper barely skimmed the surface of the physics possibilities that would be opened up if the existence of the  $\Phi$  state is confirmed. Such a discovery would open a new era in particle physics, with a new layer of degrees of freedom at the TeV scale. If the  $\Phi$  discovery is confirmed, it will shine a new light on options for possible future colliders, placing a premium on those with sufficient energy to produce the new particles, while also suggesting a new motivation for precision low-energy experiments. We await with interest the verdicts of the ATLAS and CMS Collaborations.

## Acknowledgments

Discussions with and help from our collaborators S.A.R. Ellis, V. Sanz, R. Singh and T. You, and comments from H. Ito and M. McCullough are gratefully acknowledged. The work of AD is supported by the ERC Advanced Investigator Grant Higgs@LHC, and he thanks the CERN Theory Department for its hospitality. The work of JE was supported partly by the London Centre for Terauniverse Studies (LCTS), using funding from the European Research Council via the Advanced Investigator Grant 26732, and partly by the STFC Grant ST/L000326/1. The work of JQ was supported by the STFC Grant ST/L000326/1. The work of R.M.G. is supported by the Department of Science and Technology, India under Grant No. SR/S2/JCB-64/2007 under the J.C. Bose Fellowship scheme and the Indo-French LIA-IFTHEP.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

### References

- J. Olsen, CMS physics results from Run 2, presented at CERN, https://indico.cern.ch/event/442432/, Geneva Switzerland December 15 2015.
- M. Kado, ATLAS physics results from Run 2, presented at CERN, https://indico.cern.ch/event/442432/, Geneva Switzerland December 15 2015.
- [3] ATLAS collaboration, Search for resonances decaying to photon pairs in 3.2 fb<sup>-1</sup> of pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, ATLAS-CONF-2015-081, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2015).
- [4] CMS collaboration, Search for new physics in high mass diphoton events in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$ , CMS-PAS-EXO-15-004, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2015).
- [5] ATLAS collaboration, Observation of a new particle in the search for the Standard Model Higgs boson with the ATLAS detector at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 1
   [arXiv:1207.7214] [INSPIRE].
- [6] CMS collaboration, Observation of a new boson at a mass of 125 GeV with the CMS experiment at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 716 (2012) 30 [arXiv:1207.7235] [INSPIRE].
- [7] L. Landau, On the angular momentum of a system of two photons, Dokl. Akad. Nauk Ser. Fiz. 60 (1948) 207 [INSPIRE].
- [8] C.-N. Yang, Selection rules for the dematerialization of a particle into two photons, *Phys. Rev.* 77 (1950) 242 [INSPIRE].

- [9] ATLAS collaboration, Search for new phenomena in dijet mass and angular distributions from pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 13 \text{ TeV}$  with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Lett. B 754 (2016) 302 [arXiv:1512.01530] [INSPIRE].
- [10] ATLAS collaboration, Combination of searches for WW, WZ and ZZ resonances in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Lett. B 755 (2016) 285 [arXiv:1512.05099] [INSPIRE].
- [11] CMS collaboration, Search for narrow resonances decaying to dijets in proton-proton collisions at √s = 13 TeV, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 071801 [arXiv:1512.01224]
   [INSPIRE].
- [12] J. Steinberger, On the use of subtraction fields and the lifetimes of some types of meson decay, Phys. Rev. 76 (1949) 1180 [INSPIRE].
- [13] J.S. Schwinger, On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization, Phys. Rev. 82 (1951) 664 [INSPIRE].
- [14] S.L. Adler, Axial vector vertex in spinor electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. 177 (1969) 2426 [INSPIRE].
- [15] J.S. Bell and R. Jackiw, A PCAC puzzle:  $\pi^0 \to \gamma\gamma$  in the  $\sigma$ -model, Nuovo Cim. A 60 (1969) 47 [INSPIRE].
- [16] M.S. Chanowitz and J.R. Ellis, Canonical anomalies and broken scale invariance, Phys. Lett. B 40 (1972) 397 [INSPIRE].
- [17] R.J. Crewther, Nonperturbative evaluation of the anomalies in low-energy theorems, Phys. Rev. Lett. 28 (1972) 1421 [INSPIRE].
- [18] J.R. Ellis, M.K. Gaillard and D.V. Nanopoulos, A phenomenological profile of the Higgs boson, Nucl. Phys. B 106 (1976) 292 [INSPIRE].
- [19] H.M. Georgi, S.L. Glashow, M.E. Machacek and D.V. Nanopoulos, *Higgs bosons from two gluon annihilation in proton proton collisions*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **40** (1978) 692 [INSPIRE].
- [20] M.A. Shifman, A.I. Vainshtein, M.B. Voloshin and V.I. Zakharov, Low-energy theorems for Higgs boson couplings to photons, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. **30** (1979) 711 [Yad. Fiz. **30** (1979) 1368] [INSPIRE].
- [21] ATLAS collaboration, *Physics at a high-luminosity LHC with ATLAS*, arXiv:1307.7292 [INSPIRE].
- [22] CMS collaboration, Projected performance of an upgraded CMS detector at the LHC and HL-LHC: contribution to the Snowmass process, arXiv:1307.7135 [INSPIRE].
- [23] ILC collaboration, J. Brau et al., ILC reference design report: ILC global design effort and world wide study, arXiv:0712.1950 [INSPIRE].
- [24] ILC collaboration, G. Aarons et al., International Linear Collider reference design report volume 2: physics at the ILC, arXiv:0709.1893 [INSPIRE].
- [25] N. Phinney, N. Toge and N. Walker, *ILC reference design report volume* 3 accelerator, arXiv:0712.2361 [INSPIRE].
- [26] ILC collaboration, T. Behnke et al., ILC reference design report volume 4 detectors, arXiv:0712.2356 [INSPIRE].
- [27] L. Linssen, A. Miyamoto, M. Stanitzki and H. Weerts, *Physics and detectors at CLIC: CLIC conceptual design report*, arXiv:1202.5940 [INSPIRE].

- [28] TLEP DESIGN STUDY WORKING GROUP collaboration, M. Bicer et al., *First look at the physics case of TLEP*, *JHEP* **01** (2014) 164 [arXiv:1308.6176] [INSPIRE].
- [29] Circular Electron Positron Collider (CEPC) webpage, http://cepc.ihep.ac.cn/preCDR/volume.html.
- [30] I.F. Ginzburg, G.L. Kotkin, S.L. Panfil, V.G. Serbo and V.I. Telnov, Colliding γe and γγ beams based on the single pass e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> accelerators. 2. Polarization effects. Monochromatization improvement, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 219 (1984) 5 [INSPIRE].
- [31] D.L. Borden, D.A. Bauer and D.O. Caldwell, *Higgs boson production at a photon linear collider*, *Phys. Rev.* D 48 (1993) 4018 [INSPIRE].
- [32] ECFA/DESY PHOTON COLLIDER WORKING GROUP collaboration, B. Badelek et al., TESLA: the superconducting electron positron linear collider with an integrated X-ray laser laboratory. Technical design report. Part 6. Appendices. Chapter 1. Photon collider at TESLA, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 19 (2004) 5097 [hep-ex/0108012] [INSPIRE].
- [33] A. De Roeck, Physics at a  $\gamma\gamma$ ,  $e\gamma$  and  $e^-e^-$  option for a linear collider, hep-ph/0311138 [INSPIRE].
- [34] E. Boos et al., Gold plated processes at photon colliders, Nucl. Instrum. Meth. A 472 (2001) 100 [hep-ph/0103090] [INSPIRE].
- [35] D. Asner et al., Complementarity of a low-energy photon collider and LHC physics, hep-ph/0308103 [INSPIRE].
- [36] M.M. Velasco et al., Photon photon and electron photon colliders with energies below a TeV, eConf C 010630 (2001) E3005 [hep-ex/0111055] [INSPIRE].
- [37] D.M. Asner, J.B. Gronberg and J.F. Gunion, *Detecting and studying Higgs bosons at a photon-photon collider*, *Phys. Rev.* D 67 (2003) 035009 [hep-ph/0110320] [INSPIRE].
- [38] U. Baur et al., Physics at future hadron colliders, in the proceedings of the APS/DPF/DPB Snowmmass Summer Study on the Future of Particle Physics, eConf C 010630 (2001) E4001 [hep-ph/0201227] [INSPIRE].
- [39] J. Tang et al., Concept for a future super proton-proton collider, arXiv:1507.03224 [INSPIRE].
- [40] Future Circular Collider study (FCC) webpage, https://fcc.web.cern.ch/Pages/default.aspx.
- [41] N. Arkani-Hamed, T. Han, M. Mangano and L.-T. Wang, *Physics opportunities of a* 100 TeV proton-proton collider, arXiv:1511.06495 [INSPIRE].
- [42] J. Ellis, S.A.R. Ellis, J. Quevillon, V. Sanz and T. You, On the interpretation of a possible  $\sim 750 \text{ GeV}$  particle decaying into  $\gamma\gamma$ , arXiv:1512.05327 [INSPIRE].
- [43] S. Knapen, T. Melia, M. Papucci and K. Zurek, Rays of light from the LHC, arXiv:1512.04928 [INSPIRE].
- [44] D. Buttazzo, A. Greljo and D. Marzocca, Knocking on new physics' door with a scalar resonance, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 116 [arXiv:1512.04929] [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. Pilaftsis, Diphoton signatures from heavy axion decays at the CERN Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 015017 [arXiv:1512.04931] [INSPIRE].
- [46] R. Franceschini et al., What is the  $\gamma\gamma$  resonance at 750 GeV?, arXiv:1512.04933 [INSPIRE].
- [47] S. Di Chiara, L. Marzola and M. Raidal, First interpretation of the 750 GeV di-photon resonance at the LHC, arXiv:1512.04939 [INSPIRE].

- [48] S.D. McDermott, P. Meade and H. Ramani, Singlet scalar resonances and the diphoton excess, Phys. Lett. B 755 (2016) 353 [arXiv:1512.05326] [INSPIRE].
- [49] R.S. Gupta, S. Jäger, Y. Kats, G. Perez and E. Stamou, Interpreting a 750 GeV diphoton resonance, arXiv:1512.05332 [INSPIRE].
- [50] A. Falkowski, O. Slone and T. Volansky, *Phenomenology of a 750 GeV singlet*, *JHEP* 02 (2016) 152 [arXiv:1512.05777] [INSPIRE].
- [51] E. Molinaro, F. Sannino and N. Vignaroli, *Minimal composite dynamics versus axion origin* of the diphoton excess, arXiv:1512.05334 [INSPIRE].
- [52] Y. Nakai, R. Sato and K. Tobioka, Footprints of new strong dynamics via anomaly, arXiv:1512.04924 [INSPIRE].
- [53] B. Dutta, Y. Gao, T. Ghosh, I. Gogoladze and T. Li, Interpretation of the diphoton excess at CMS and ATLAS, arXiv:1512.05439 [INSPIRE].
- [54] Q.-H. Cao, Y. Liu, K.-P. Xie, B. Yan and D.-M. Zhang, A boost test of anomalous diphoton resonance at the LHC, arXiv:1512.05542 [INSPIRE].
- [55] P. Cox, A.D. Medina, T.S. Ray and A. Spray, Diphoton excess at 750 GeV from a radion in the bulk-Higgs scenario, arXiv:1512.05618 [INSPIRE].
- [56] A. Ahmed, B.M. Dillon, B. Grzadkowski, J.F. Gunion and Y. Jiang, *Higgs-radion interpretation of 750 GeV di-photon excess at the LHC*, arXiv:1512.05771 [INSPIRE].
- [57] S. Fichet, G. von Gersdorff and C. Royon, Scattering light by light at 750 GeV at the LHC, arXiv:1512.05751 [INSPIRE].
- [58] R. Martinez, F. Ochoa and C.F. Sierra, *Diphoton decay for a 750 GeV scalar boson in an* U(1)' model, arXiv:1512.05617 [INSPIRE].
- [59] W. Chao, R. Huo and J.-H. Yu, The minimal scalar-stealth top interpretation of the diphoton excess, arXiv:1512.05738 [INSPIRE].
- [60] R. Benbrik, C.-H. Chen and T. Nomura, *Higgs singlet as a diphoton resonance in a vector-like quark model*, arXiv:1512.06028 [INSPIRE].
- [61] H. Han, S. Wang and S. Zheng, Scalar explanation of diphoton excess at LHC, arXiv:1512.06562 [INSPIRE].
- [62] T.-F. Feng, X.-Q. Li, H.-B. Zhang and S.-M. Zhao, The LHC 750 GeV diphoton excess in supersymmetry with gauged baryon and lepton numbers, arXiv:1512.06696 [INSPIRE].
- [63] I. Chakraborty and A. Kundu, Diphoton excess at 750 GeV: singlet scalars confront triviality, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 055003 [arXiv:1512.06508] [INSPIRE].
- [64] S.M. Boucenna, S. Morisi and A. Vicente, The LHC diphoton resonance from gauge symmetry, arXiv:1512.06878 [INSPIRE].
- [65] K. Das and S.K. Rai, The 750 GeV diphoton excess in a U(1) hidden symmetry model, arXiv:1512.07789 [INSPIRE].
- [66] F. Goertz, J.F. Kamenik, A. Katz and M. Nardecchia, *Indirect constraints on the scalar di-photon resonance at the LHC*, arXiv:1512.08500 [INSPIRE].
- [67] L. Bian, N. Chen, D. Liu and J. Shu, A hidden confining world on the 750 GeV diphoton excess, arXiv:1512.05759 [INSPIRE].
- [68] W. Chao, Symmetries behind the 750 GeV diphoton excess, arXiv:1512.06297 [INSPIRE].

- [69] H. Han, S. Wang and S. Zheng, Scalar explanation of diphoton excess at LHC, arXiv:1512.06562 [INSPIRE].
- [70] M. Cvetič, J. Halverson and P. Langacker, *String consistency, heavy exotics and the* 750 GeV diphoton excess at the LHC, arXiv:1512.07622 [INSPIRE].
- [71] A. Alves, A.G. Dias and K. Sinha, The 750 GeV S-cion: where else should we look for it?, arXiv:1512.06091 [INSPIRE].
- [72] G. Li, Y.-N. Mao, Y.-L. Tang, C. Zhang, Y. Zhou and S.-H. Zhu, A loop-philic pseudoscalar, arXiv:1512.08255 [INSPIRE].
- [73] M. Son and A. Urbano, A new scalar resonance at 750 GeV: towards a proof of concept in favor of strongly interacting theories, arXiv:1512.08307 [INSPIRE].
- [74] F. Wang, W. Wang, L. Wu, J.M. Yang and M. Zhang, *Interpreting* 750 GeV diphoton resonance in the NMSSM with vector-like particles, arXiv:1512.08434 [INSPIRE].
- [75] I. Low and J. Lykken, Implications of gauge invariance on a heavy diphoton resonance, arXiv:1512.09089 [INSPIRE].
- [76] A.E.C. Hernández, The 750 GeV diphoton resonance can cause the SM fermion mass and mixing pattern, arXiv:1512.09092 [INSPIRE].
- [77] A. Karozas, S.F. King, G.K. Leontaris and A.K. Meadowcroft, 750 GeV diphoton excess from E<sub>6</sub> in F-theory GUTs, arXiv:1601.00640 [INSPIRE].
- [78] B. Dutta et al., Diphoton excess in consistent supersymmetric SU(5) models with vector-like particles, arXiv:1601.00866 [INSPIRE].
- [79] S. Kanemura, N. Machida, S. Odori and T. Shindou, Diphoton excess at 750 GeV in an extended scalar sector, arXiv:1512.09053 [INSPIRE].
- [80] K. Ghorbani and H. Ghorbani, The 750 GeV diphoton excess from a pseudoscalar in fermionic dark matter scenario, arXiv:1601.00602 [INSPIRE].
- [81] H. Zhang, The 750 GeV diphoton excess: who introduces it?, arXiv:1601.01355 [INSPIRE].
- [82] S. Fichet, G. von Gersdorff and C. Royon, *Measuring the diphoton coupling of a* 750 GeV resonance, arXiv:1601.01712 [INSPIRE].
- [83] J. Cao, L. Shang, W. Su, Y. Zhang and J. Zhu, Interpreting the 750 GeV diphoton excess in the minimal dilaton model, arXiv:1601.02570 [INSPIRE].
- [84] R. Ding, Z.-L. Han, Y. Liao and X.-D. Ma, Interpretation of 750 GeV diphoton excess at LHC in singlet extension of color-octet neutrino mass model, arXiv:1601.02714 [INSPIRE].
- [85] A. Angelescu, A. Djouadi and G. Moreau, Scenarii for interpretations of the LHC diphoton excess: two Higgs doublets and vector-like quarks and leptons, Phys. Lett. B 756 (2016) 126 [arXiv:1512.04921] [INSPIRE].
- [86] S. Di Chiara, L. Marzola and M. Raidal, First interpretation of the 750 GeV di-photon resonance at the LHC, arXiv:1512.04939 [INSPIRE].
- [87] D. Becirevic, E. Bertuzzo, O. Sumensari and R.Z. Funchal, Can the new resonance at LHC be a CP-odd Higgs boson?, arXiv:1512.05623 [INSPIRE].
- [88] A. Kobakhidze, F. Wang, L. Wu, J.M. Yang and M. Zhang, 750 GeV diphoton resonance explained as a heavy scalar in top/bottom seesaw model, arXiv:1512.05585 [INSPIRE].
- [89] X.-F. Han and L. Wang, Implication of the 750 GeV diphoton resonance on two-Higgs-doublet model and its extensions with Higgs field, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 055027
   [arXiv:1512.06587] [INSPIRE].

- [90] W.-C. Huang, Y.-L.S. Tsai and T.-C. Yuan, Gauged two Higgs doublet model confronts the LHC 750 GeV di-photon anomaly, arXiv:1512.07268 [INSPIRE].
- [91] S. Moretti and K. Yagyu, The 750 GeV diphoton excess and its explanation in 2-Higgs doublet models with a real inert scalar multiplet, arXiv:1512.07462 [INSPIRE].
- [92] M. Badziak, Interpreting the 750 GeV diphoton excess in minimal extensions of two-Higgs-doublet models, arXiv:1512.07497 [INSPIRE].
- [93] S. Chakraborty, A. Chakraborty and S. Raychaudhuri, Diphoton resonance at 750 GeV in the broken MRSSM, arXiv:1512.07527 [INSPIRE].
- [94] W. Altmannshofer, J. Galloway, S. Gori, A.L. Kagan, A. Martin and J. Zupan, On the 750 GeV di-photon excess, arXiv:1512.07616 [INSPIRE].
- [95] K. Cheung, P. Ko, J.S. Lee, J. Park and P.-Y. Tseng, A Higgcision study on the 750 GeV di-photon resonance and 125 GeV SM Higgs boson with the Higgs-singlet mixing, arXiv:1512.07853 [INSPIRE].
- [96] N. Bizot, S. Davidson, M. Frigerio and J.-L. Kneur, Two Higgs doublets to explain the excesses  $pp \to \gamma\gamma(750 \text{ GeV})$  and  $h \to \tau^{\pm}\mu^{\mp}$ , JHEP **03** (2016) 073 [arXiv:1512.08508] [INSPIRE].
- [97] Y.-L. Tang and S.-H. Zhu, NMSSM extended with vector-like particles and the diphoton excess on the LHC, arXiv:1512.08323 [INSPIRE].
- [98] A.E.C. Hernández, I.d.M. Varzielas and E. Schumacher, The 750 GeV diphoton resonance in the light of a 2HDM with S<sub>3</sub> flavour symmetry, arXiv:1601.00661 [INSPIRE].
- [99] W. Chao, The diphoton excess from an exceptional supersymmetric standard model, arXiv:1601.00633 [INSPIRE].
- [100] X.-F. Han, L. Wang, L. Wu, J.M. Yang and M. Zhang, Explaining 750 GeV diphoton excess from top/bottom partner cascade decay in two-Higgs-doublet model extension, arXiv:1601.00534 [INSPIRE].
- [101] N. Sonmez, Charged Higgs pair production in THDM through photon-photon collisions at the ILC, arXiv:1601.01837 [INSPIRE].
- [102] PARTICLE DATA GROUP collaboration, K.A. Olive et al., Review of particle physics, Chin. Phys. C 38 (2014) 090001 [INSPIRE].
- [103] M. Chala, M. Duerr, F. Kahlhoefer and K. Schmidt-Hoberg, Tricking Landau-Yang: how to obtain the diphoton excess from a vector resonance, Phys. Lett. B 755 (2016) 145 [arXiv:1512.06833] [INSPIRE].
- [104] S. Moretti, Variations on a Higgs theme, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 014012
   [arXiv:1407.3511] [INSPIRE].
- [105] N. Toro and I. Yavin, Multiphotons and photon jets from new heavy vector bosons, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 055005 [arXiv:1202.6377] [INSPIRE].
- [106] A.D. Martin, W.J. Stirling, R.S. Thorne and G. Watt, Parton distributions for the LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 63 (2009) 189 [arXiv:0901.0002] [INSPIRE].
- [107] Parton Distribution Functions webpage, https://twiki.cern.ch/twiki/bin/view/LHCPhysics/LHCHXSWGPDF.
- [108] A. Djouadi, The anatomy of electro-weak symmetry breaking. I: the Higgs boson in the standard model, Phys. Rept. 457 (2008) 1 [hep-ph/0503172] [INSPIRE].

- [109] H. Ito, T. Moroi and Y. Takaesu, Studying 750 GeV di-photon resonance at photon-photon collider, Phys. Lett. B 756 (2016) 147 [arXiv:1601.01144] [INSPIRE].
- [110] R.M. Godbole, S.D. Rindani and R.K. Singh, Study of CP property of the Higgs at a photon collider using γγ → tt̄ → lX, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 095009 [Erratum ibid. D 71 (2005) 039902] [hep-ph/0211136] [INSPIRE].
- [111] G.P. Lepage and S.J. Brodsky, Exclusive processes in perturbative quantum chromodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 22 (1980) 2157 [INSPIRE].
- [112] P. Maris and P.C. Tandy, The quark photon vertex and the pion charge radius, Phys. Rev. C 61 (2000) 045202 [nucl-th/9910033] [INSPIRE].
- [113] J.A. Oller, L. Roca and C. Schat, Improved dispersion relations for  $\gamma \gamma \rightarrow \pi^0 \pi^0$ , Phys. Lett. **B** 659 (2008) 201 [arXiv:0708.1659] [INSPIRE].
- [114] G.J. Gounaris, F.M. Renard and N.D. Vlachos, Tests of anomalous Higgs boson couplings through  $e^-e^+ \rightarrow HZ$  and  $H\gamma$ , Nucl. Phys. B 459 (1996) 51 [hep-ph/9509316] [INSPIRE].
- [115] A. Barroso, J. Pulido and J.C. Romao, *Higgs production at*  $e^+e^-$  colliders, *Nucl. Phys.* **B 267** (1986) 509 [INSPIRE].
- [116] A. Abbasabadi, D. Bowser-Chao, D.A. Dicus and W.W. Repko, *Higgs photon associated production at eē colliders*, *Phys. Rev.* D 52 (1995) 3919 [hep-ph/9507463] [INSPIRE].
- [117] A. Djouadi, V. Driesen, W. Hollik and J. Rosiek, Associated production of Higgs bosons and a photon in high-energy e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 491 (1997) 68 [hep-ph/9609420]
   [INSPIRE].
- [118] A. Djouadi, V. Driesen, W. Hollik and A. Kraft, The Higgs photon-Z boson coupling revisited, Eur. Phys. J. C 1 (1998) 163 [hep-ph/9701342] [INSPIRE].
- [119] V.D. Barger, K.-M. Cheung, A. Djouadi, B.A. Kniehl and P.M. Zerwas, *Higgs bosons:* intermediate mass range at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders, *Phys. Rev.* D 49 (1994) 79 [hep-ph/9306270]
   [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Biswal, R.M. Godbole, B. Mellado and S. Raychaudhuri, Azimuthal angle probe of anomalous HWW couplings at a high energy ep collider, Phys. Rev. Lett. 109 (2012) 261801 [arXiv:1203.6285] [INSPIRE].
- [121] S.S. Biswal, R.M. Godbole, R.K. Singh and D. Choudhury, Signatures of anomalous VVH interactions at a linear collider, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 035001 [Erratum ibid. D 74 (2006) 039904] [hep-ph/0509070] [INSPIRE].
- S.S. Biswal, D. Choudhury, R.M. Godbole and Mamta, Role of polarization in probing anomalous gauge interactions of the Higgs boson, Phys. Rev. D 79 (2009) 035012
   [arXiv:0809.0202] [INSPIRE].
- [123] A. Djouadi, R.M. Godbole, B. Mellado and K. Mohan, Probing the spin-parity of the Higgs boson via jet kinematics in vector boson fusion, Phys. Lett. B 723 (2013) 307
   [arXiv:1301.4965] [INSPIRE].
- [124] R.M. Godbole, D.J. Miller, K.A. Mohan and C.D. White, Jet substructure and probes of CP-violation in Vh production, JHEP 04 (2015) 103 [arXiv:1409.5449] [INSPIRE].
- [125] G.C. Branco, P.M. Ferreira, L. Lavoura, M.N. Rebelo, M. Sher and J.P. Silva, Theory and phenomenology of two-Higgs-doublet models, Phys. Rept. 516 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1106.0034] [INSPIRE].

- [126] J. Gunion, H. Haber, G. Kane and S. Dawson, *The Higgs hunter's guide*, Addison Wesley, Reading U.S.A. (1990) [Front. Phys. 80 (2000) 1] [INSPIRE].
- [127] A. Djouadi, The anatomy of electro-weak symmetry breaking. II. The Higgs bosons in the minimal supersymmetric model, Phys. Rept. 459 (2008) 1 [hep-ph/0503173] [INSPIRE].
- [128] A. Djouadi, L. Maiani, G. Moreau, A. Polosa, J. Quevillon and V. Riquer, The post-Higgs MSSM scenario: habemus MSSM?, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2650 [arXiv:1307.5205] [INSPIRE].
- [129] L. Maiani, A.D. Polosa and V. Riquer, Probing minimal supersymmetry at the LHC with the Higgs boson masses, New J. Phys. 14 (2012) 073029 [arXiv:1202.5998] [INSPIRE].
- [130] A. Djouadi and J. Quevillon, The MSSM Higgs sector at a high  $M_{SUSY}$ : reopening the low  $\tan \beta$  regime and heavy Higgs searches, JHEP 10 (2013) 028 [arXiv:1304.1787] [INSPIRE].
- [131] A. Djouadi, L. Maiani, A. Polosa, J. Quevillon and V. Riquer, Fully covering the MSSM Higgs sector at the LHC, JHEP 06 (2015) 168 [arXiv:1502.05653] [INSPIRE].
- [132] ATLAS and CMS collaborations, Measurements of the Higgs boson production and decay rates and constraints on its couplings from a combined ATLAS and CMS analysis of the LHC pp collision data at  $\sqrt{s} = 7$  and 8 TeV, ATLAS-CONF-2015-044, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2015).
- [133] M. Carena, I. Low, N.R. Shah and C.E.M. Wagner, Impersonating the standard model Higgs boson: alignment without decoupling, JHEP 04 (2014) 015 [arXiv:1310.2248] [INSPIRE].
- [134] H.E. Haber, Challenges for nonminimal Higgs searches at future colliders, hep-ph/9505240
   [INSPIRE].
- [135] Y. Okada, M. Yamaguchi and T. Yanagida, Upper bound of the lightest Higgs boson mass in the minimal supersymmetric standard model, Prog. Theor. Phys. 85 (1991) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [136] J.R. Ellis, G. Ridolfi and F. Zwirner, Radiative corrections to the masses of supersymmetric Higgs bosons, Phys. Lett. B 257 (1991) 83 [INSPIRE].
- [137] H.E. Haber and R. Hempfling, Can the mass of the lightest Higgs boson of the minimal supersymmetric model be larger than  $m_Z$ ?, Phys. Rev. Lett. **66** (1991) 1815 [INSPIRE].
- [138] E. Bagnaschi et al., Benchmark scenarios for low  $\tan \beta$  in the MSSM, LHCHXSWG-2015-002, CERN, Geneva Switzerland (2015).
- [139] A. Djouadi and A. Lenz, Sealing the fate of a fourth generation of fermions, Phys. Lett. B 715 (2012) 310 [arXiv:1204.1252] [INSPIRE].
- [140] A. Denner et al., Higgs production and decay with a fourth standard-model-like fermion generation, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 1992 [arXiv:1111.6395] [INSPIRE].
- [141] E. Kuflik, Y. Nir and T. Volansky, Implications of Higgs searches on the four generation standard model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110 (2013) 091801 [arXiv:1204.1975] [INSPIRE].
- [142] A. Djouadi, P. Gambino and B.A. Kniehl, Two loop electroweak heavy fermion corrections to Higgs boson production and decay, Nucl. Phys. B 523 (1998) 17 [hep-ph/9712330]
   [INSPIRE].
- [143] A. Djouadi, J. Kalinowski and M. Spira, HDECAY: a program for Higgs boson decays in the standard model and its supersymmetric extension, Comput. Phys. Commun. 108 (1998) 56 [hep-ph/9704448] [INSPIRE].

- [144] A. Djouadi, M.M. Muhlleitner and M. Spira, Decays of supersymmetric particles: the program SUSY-HIT (SUspect-SdecaY-HDECAY-InTerface), Acta Phys. Polon. B 38 (2007) 635 [hep-ph/0609292] [INSPIRE].
- [145] Y. Mambrini, G. Arcadi and A. Djouadi, The LHC diphoton resonance and dark matter, Phys. Lett. B 755 (2016) 426 [arXiv:1512.04913] [INSPIRE].
- [146] M. Backovic, A. Mariotti and D. Redigolo, *Di-photon excess illuminates dark matter*, arXiv:1512.04917 [INSPIRE].
- [147] D. Barducci, A. Goudelis, S. Kulkarni and D. Sengupta, One jet to rule them all: monojet constraints and invisible decays of a 750 GeV diphoton resonance, arXiv:1512.06842
   [INSPIRE].
- [148] P.S.B. Dev and D. Teresi, Asymmetric dark matter in the sun and the diphoton excess at the LHC, arXiv:1512.07243 [INSPIRE].
- [149] P. Ko and T. Nomura, Dark sector shining through 750 GeV dark Higgs boson at the LHC, arXiv:1601.02490 [INSPIRE].
- [150] ATLAS collaboration, A search for  $t\bar{t}$  resonances using lepton-plus-jets events in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$  with the ATLAS detector, JHEP **08** (2015) 148 [arXiv:1505.07018] [INSPIRE].
- [151] CMS collaboration, Search for resonant  $t\bar{t}$  production in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \ TeV$ , Phys. Rev. **D** 93 (2016) 012001 [arXiv:1506.03062] [INSPIRE].
- [152] ATLAS collaboration, Search for neutral Higgs bosons of the minimal supersymmetric standard model in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP **11** (2014) 056 [arXiv:1409.6064] [INSPIRE].
- [153] CMS collaboration, Search for neutral MSSM Higgs bosons decaying to a pair of  $\tau$  leptons in pp collisions, JHEP **10** (2014) 160 [arXiv:1408.3316] [INSPIRE].
- [154] A. Angelescu, A. Djouadi and G. Moreau, Vector-like top/bottom quark partners and Higgs physics at the LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 99 [arXiv:1510.07527] [INSPIRE].
- [155] ATLAS collaboration, Search for vector-like B quarks in events with one isolated lepton, missing transverse momentum and jets at √s = 8 TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 112011 [arXiv:1503.05425] [INSPIRE].
- [156] ATLAS collaboration, Search for production of vector-like quark pairs and of four top quarks in the lepton-plus-jets final state in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP **08** (2015) 105 [arXiv:1505.04306] [INSPIRE].
- [157] ATLAS collaboration, Search for pair production of a new heavy quark that decays into a W boson and a light quark in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. **D** 92 (2015) 112007 [arXiv:1509.04261] [INSPIRE].
- [158] CMS collaboration, Inclusive search for a vector-like T quark with charge 2/3 in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$ , Phys. Lett. B 729 (2014) 149 [arXiv:1311.7667] [INSPIRE].
- [159] CMS collaboration, Search for a charged Higgs boson in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$ , JHEP 11 (2015) 018 [arXiv:1508.07774] [INSPIRE].
- [160] ATLAS collaboration, Search for charged Higgs bosons decaying via  $H^{\pm} \rightarrow \tau^{\pm}\nu$  in fully hadronic final states using pp collision data at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP 03 (2015) 088 [arXiv:1412.6663] [INSPIRE].
- [161] ATLAS collaboration, Search for charged Higgs bosons in the  $H^{\pm} \rightarrow tb$  decay channel in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV using the ATLAS detector, arXiv:1512.03704 [INSPIRE].

- [162] R.V. Harlander, S. Liebler and H. Mantler, SusHi: a program for the calculation of Higgs production in gluon fusion and bottom-quark annihilation in the standard model and the MSSM, Comput. Phys. Commun. 184 (2013) 1605 [arXiv:1212.3249] [INSPIRE].
- [163] M. Spira, A. Djouadi, D. Graudenz and P.M. Zerwas, *Higgs boson production at the LHC*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 453 (1995) 17 [hep-ph/9504378] [INSPIRE].
- [164] A. Djouadi, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, Production of Higgs bosons in proton colliders: QCD corrections, Phys. Lett. B 264 (1991) 440 [INSPIRE].
- [165] A. Djouadi, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, Two photon decay widths of Higgs particles, Phys. Lett. B 311 (1993) 255 [hep-ph/9305335] [INSPIRE].
- [166] S. Dawson, Radiative corrections to Higgs boson production, Nucl. Phys. B 359 (1991) 283
   [INSPIRE].
- [167] R.V. Harlander and W.B. Kilgore, Next-to-next-to-leading order Higgs production at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 (2002) 201801 [hep-ph/0201206] [INSPIRE].
- [168] C. Anastasiou and K. Melnikov, Higgs boson production at hadron colliders in NNLO QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 646 (2002) 220 [hep-ph/0207004] [INSPIRE].
- [169] V. Ravindran, J. Smith and W.L. van Neerven, NNLO corrections to the total cross-section for Higgs boson production in hadron hadron collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 665 (2003) 325 [hep-ph/0302135] [INSPIRE].
- [170] R.V. Harlander and W.B. Kilgore, Production of a pseudoscalar Higgs boson at hadron colliders at next-to-next-to leading order, JHEP 10 (2002) 017 [hep-ph/0208096] [INSPIRE].
- [171] S. Catani, D. de Florian, M. Grazzini and P. Nason, Soft gluon resummation for Higgs boson production at hadron colliders, JHEP 07 (2003) 028 [hep-ph/0306211] [INSPIRE].
- [172] C. Anastasiou, C. Duhr, F. Dulat, F. Herzog and B. Mistlberger, *Higgs boson gluon-fusion production in QCD at three loops*, *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** (2015) 212001 [arXiv:1503.06056]
   [INSPIRE].
- [173] LHC HIGGS CROSS SECTION WORKING GROUP collaboration, S. Dittmaier et al., Handbook of LHC Higgs cross sections: 1. Inclusive observables, arXiv:1101.0593
   [INSPIRE].
- [174] J. Ellis, D.S. Hwang, K. Sakurai and M. Takeuchi, Disentangling Higgs-top couplings in associated production, JHEP 04 (2014) 004 [arXiv:1312.5736] [INSPIRE].
- [175] F. Boudjema, R.M. Godbole, D. Guadagnoli and K.A. Mohan, Lab-frame observables for probing the top-Higgs interaction, Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) 015019 [arXiv:1501.03157]
   [INSPIRE].
- [176] M.R. Buckley and D. Goncalves, Boosting the direct CP measurement of the Higgs-top coupling, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 091801 [arXiv:1507.07926] [INSPIRE].
- [177] N. Craig, F. D'Eramo, P. Draper, S. Thomas and H. Zhang, The hunt for the rest of the Higgs bosons, JHEP 06 (2015) 137 [arXiv:1504.04630] [INSPIRE].
- [178] A. Djouadi, A. Falkowski, Y. Mambrini and J. Quevillon, Direct detection of Higgs-portal dark matter at the LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2455 [arXiv:1205.3169] [INSPIRE].
- [179] D. Choudhury and D.P. Roy, Signatures of an invisibly decaying Higgs particle at LHC, Phys. Lett. B 322 (1994) 368 [hep-ph/9312347] [INSPIRE].

- [180] O.J.P. Eboli and D. Zeppenfeld, Observing an invisible Higgs boson, Phys. Lett. B 495 (2000) 147 [hep-ph/0009158] [INSPIRE].
- [181] R.M. Godbole, M. Guchait, K. Mazumdar, S. Moretti and D.P. Roy, Search for 'invisible' Higgs signals at LHC via associated production with gauge bosons, Phys. Lett. B 571 (2003) 184 [hep-ph/0304137] [INSPIRE].
- [182] D. Ghosh, R. Godbole, M. Guchait, K. Mohan and D. Sengupta, Looking for an invisible Higgs signal at the LHC, Phys. Lett. B 725 (2013) 344 [arXiv:1211.7015] [INSPIRE].
- [183] Michael Spira's website, http://tiger.web.psi.ch/proglist.html.
- [184] M. Spira, QCD effects in Higgs physics, Fortsch. Phys. 46 (1998) 203 [hep-ph/9705337]
   [INSPIRE].
- [185] W. Beenakker, S. Dittmaier, M. Krämer, B. Plumper, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, *Higgs radiation off top quarks at the Tevatron and the LHC, Phys. Rev. Lett.* 87 (2001) 201805 [hep-ph/0107081] [INSPIRE].
- [186] W. Beenakker, S. Dittmaier, M. Krämer, B. Plumper, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, NLO QCD corrections to tt
   production in hadron collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 653 (2003) 151 [hep-ph/0211352] [INSPIRE].
- [187] L. Reina and S. Dawson, Next-to-leading order results for th production at the Tevatron, Phys. Rev. Lett. 87 (2001) 201804 [hep-ph/0107101] [INSPIRE].
- [188] S. Dawson, L.H. Orr, L. Reina and D. Wackeroth, Associated top quark Higgs boson production at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 071503 [hep-ph/0211438] [INSPIRE].
- [189] R. Frederix, S. Frixione, V. Hirschi, F. Maltoni, R. Pittau and P. Torrielli, Scalar and pseudoscalar Higgs production in association with a top-antitop pair, Phys. Lett. B 701 (2011) 427 [arXiv:1104.5613] [INSPIRE].
- T. Plehn, M. Spira and P.M. Zerwas, Pair production of neutral Higgs particles in gluon-gluon collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 479 (1996) 46 [Erratum ibid. B 531 (1998) 655] [hep-ph/9603205] [INSPIRE].
- [191] S. Dawson, S. Dittmaier and M. Spira, Neutral Higgs boson pair production at hadron colliders: QCD corrections, Phys. Rev. D 58 (1998) 115012 [hep-ph/9805244] [INSPIRE].
- [192] A. Djouadi, W. Kilian, M. Muhlleitner and P.M. Zerwas, Production of neutral Higgs boson pairs at LHC, Eur. Phys. J. C 10 (1999) 45 [hep-ph/9904287] [INSPIRE].
- [193] J. Baglio, A. Djouadi, R. Gröber, M.M. Mühlleitner, J. Quevillon and M. Spira, The measurement of the Higgs self-coupling at the LHC: theoretical status, JHEP 04 (2013) 151 [arXiv:1212.5581] [INSPIRE].
- [194] T. Han and S. Willenbrock, QCD correction to the  $pp \rightarrow WH$  and ZH total cross-sections, Phys. Lett. **B 273** (1991) 167 [INSPIRE].
- [195] T. Han, G. Valencia and S. Willenbrock, Structure function approach to vector boson scattering in pp collisions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69 (1992) 3274 [hep-ph/9206246] [INSPIRE].
- [196] A. Djouadi and M. Spira, SUSY-QCD corrections to Higgs boson production at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 014004 [hep-ph/9912476] [INSPIRE].
- [197] O. Brein, A. Djouadi and R. Harlander, NNLO QCD corrections to the Higgs-strahlung processes at hadron colliders, Phys. Lett. B 579 (2004) 149 [hep-ph/0307206] [INSPIRE].

- [198] P. Bolzoni, F. Maltoni, S.-O. Moch and M. Zaro, Higgs production via vector-boson fusion at NNLO in QCD, Phys. Rev. Lett. 105 (2010) 011801 [arXiv:1003.4451] [INSPIRE].
- [199] A. Djouadi, Precision Higgs coupling measurements at the LHC through ratios of production cross sections, Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2498 [arXiv:1208.3436] [INSPIRE].
- [200] A. Djouadi, J. Quevillon and R. Vega-Morales, Into the multi-TeV scale with a Higgs golden ratio, arXiv:1509.03913 [INSPIRE].
- [201] A. Djouadi, J. Kalinowski and P.M. Zerwas, Exploring the SUSY Higgs sector at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> linear colliders: a synopsis, Z. Phys. C 57 (1993) 569 [INSPIRE].
- [202] A. Djouadi, J. Kalinowski, P. Ohmann and P.M. Zerwas, *Heavy SUSY Higgs bosons at* e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> linear colliders, Z. Phys. C 74 (1997) 93 [hep-ph/9605339] [INSPIRE].
- [203] A. Djouadi, Higgs particles at future hadron and electron-positron colliders, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 10 (1995) 1 [hep-ph/9406430] [INSPIRE].
- [204] A. Djouadi, J. Kalinowski and P.M. Zerwas, Higgs radiation off top quarks in high-energy e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>−</sup> colliders, Z. Phys. C 54 (1992) 255 [INSPIRE].
- [205] A. Djouadi, J. Kalinowski and P.M. Zerwas, Measuring the Htt coupling in e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> collisions, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 7 (1992) 1765 [INSPIRE].
- [206] P.S. Bhupal Dev, A. Djouadi, R.M. Godbole, M.M. Muhlleitner and S.D. Rindani, Determining the CP properties of the Higgs boson, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100 (2008) 051801 [arXiv:0707.2878] [INSPIRE].
- [207] R.M. Godbole, C. Hangst, M. Muhlleitner, S.D. Rindani and P. Sharma, Model-independent analysis of Higgs spin and CP properties in the process e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> → tt̄Φ, Eur. Phys. J. C 71 (2011) 1681 [arXiv:1103.5404] [INSPIRE].
- [208] V.D. Barger, M.S. Berger, J.F. Gunion and T. Han, Higgs boson physics in the s channel at μ<sup>+</sup>μ<sup>-</sup> colliders, Phys. Rept. 286 (1997) 1 [hep-ph/9602415] [INSPIRE].
- [209] J. Baglio, A. Djouadi and J. Quevillon, Prospects for Higgs physics at energies up to 100 TeV, arXiv:1511.07853 [INSPIRE].
- [210] A. Djouadi, J. Kalinowski and P.M. Zerwas, Two and three-body decay modes of SUSY Higgs particles, Z. Phys. C 70 (1996) 435 [hep-ph/9511342] [INSPIRE].
- [211] S.A.R. Ellis, R.M. Godbole, S. Gopalakrishna and J.D. Wells, Survey of vector-like fermion extensions of the standard model and their phenomenological implications, JHEP 09 (2014) 130 [arXiv:1404.4398] [INSPIRE].
- [212] J.A. Aguilar-Saavedra, R. Benbrik, S. Heinemeyer and M. Pérez-Victoria, Handbook of vectorlike quarks: mixing and single production, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 094010 [arXiv:1306.0572] [INSPIRE].
- [213] A. Azatov et al., Higgs boson production via vector-like top-partner decays: diphoton or multilepton plus multijets channels at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 115022
   [arXiv:1204.0455] [INSPIRE].
- [214] S. Gopalakrishna, T. Mandal, S. Mitra and G. Moreau, LHC signatures of warped-space vectorlike quarks, JHEP 08 (2014) 079 [arXiv:1306.2656] [INSPIRE].
- [215] S. Gopalakrishna, T.S. Mukherjee and S. Sadhukhan, Extra neutral scalars with vectorlike fermions at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 055004 [arXiv:1504.01074] [INSPIRE].
- [216] A. Falkowski, D.M. Straub and A. Vicente, Vector-like leptons: Higgs decays and collider phenomenology, JHEP 05 (2014) 092 [arXiv:1312.5329] [INSPIRE].

- [217] M. Redi, Leptons in composite MFV, JHEP 09 (2013) 060 [arXiv:1306.1525] [INSPIRE].
- [218] K. Kumericki, I. Picek and B. Radovcic, TeV-scale seesaw with quintuplet fermions, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 013006 [arXiv:1204.6599] [INSPIRE].
- [219] S.P. Martin, Extra vector-like matter and the lightest Higgs scalar boson mass in low-energy supersymmetry, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 035004 [arXiv:0910.2732] [INSPIRE].
- [220] J.A. Aguilar-Saavedra, Heavy lepton pair production at LHC: model discrimination with multi-lepton signals, Nucl. Phys. B 828 (2010) 289 [arXiv:0905.2221] [INSPIRE].
- [221] F. del Aguila and J.A. Aguilar-Saavedra, Electroweak scale seesaw and heavy Dirac neutrino signals at LHC, Phys. Lett. B 672 (2009) 158 [arXiv:0809.2096] [INSPIRE].
- [222] F. del Aguila and J.A. Aguilar-Saavedra, Distinguishing seesaw models at LHC with multi-lepton signals, Nucl. Phys. B 813 (2009) 22 [arXiv:0808.2468] [INSPIRE].
- [223] R. Franceschini, T. Hambye and A. Strumia, *Type-III see-saw at LHC*, *Phys. Rev.* D 78 (2008) 033002 [arXiv:0805.1613] [INSPIRE].
- [224] A. Abada, C. Biggio, F. Bonnet, M.B. Gavela and T. Hambye,  $\mu \to e\gamma$  and  $\tau \to \ell\gamma$  decays in the fermion triplet seesaw model, *Phys. Rev.* D 78 (2008) 033007 [arXiv:0803.0481] [INSPIRE].
- [225] A. Abada, C. Biggio, F. Bonnet, M.B. Gavela and T. Hambye, Low energy effects of neutrino masses, JHEP 12 (2007) 061 [arXiv:0707.4058] [INSPIRE].
- [226] B. Bajc and G. Senjanović, Seesaw at LHC, JHEP 08 (2007) 014 [hep-ph/0612029]
   [INSPIRE].
- [227] K. Fujikawa, A vector-like extension of the standard model, Prog. Theor. Phys. 92 (1994) 1149 [hep-ph/9411258] [INSPIRE].
- [228] A. Djouadi, New fermions at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders. 1. Production and decay,
   Z. Phys. C 63 (1994) 317 [hep-ph/9308339] [INSPIRE].
- [229] G. Azuelos and A. Djouadi, New fermions at e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> colliders. 2. Signals and backgrounds, Z. Phys. C 63 (1994) 327 [hep-ph/9308340] [INSPIRE].
- [230] F. del Aguila, J. de Blas and M. Pérez-Victoria, Effects of new leptons in electroweak precision data, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 013010 [arXiv:0803.4008] [INSPIRE].
- [231] N. Bizot, S. Davidson, M. Frigerio and J.-L. Kneur, Two Higgs doublets to explain the excesses  $pp \to \gamma\gamma(750 \text{ GeV})$  and  $h \to \tau^{\pm}\mu^{\mp}$ , JHEP **03** (2016) 073 [arXiv:1512.08508] [INSPIRE].
- [232] T.G. Rizzo, The exotic fermions in E<sub>6</sub> and the anomalous magnetic moments of leptons, Phys. Rev. D 33 (1986) 3329 [INSPIRE].
- [233] P. Mery, S.E. Moubarik, M. Perrottet and F.M. Renard, Constraints on nonstandard effects from present and future muon g − 2 measurements, Z. Phys. C 46 (1990) 229 [INSPIRE].
- [234] F. Csikor and Z. Fodor, Constraints on mirror fermion mixing angles from anomalous magnetic moment data, Phys. Lett. B 287 (1992) 358 [hep-ph/9205222] [INSPIRE].
- [235] L3 collaboration, P. Achard et al., Search for heavy neutral and charged leptons in e<sup>+</sup>e<sup>-</sup> annihilation at LEP, Phys. Lett. B 517 (2001) 75 [hep-ex/0107015] [INSPIRE].
- [236] L3 collaboration, O. Adriani et al., Search for isosinglet neutral heavy leptons in Z<sup>0</sup> decays, Phys. Lett. B 295 (1992) 371 [INSPIRE].

- [237] DELPHI collaboration, P. Abreu et al., Search for neutral heavy leptons produced in Z decays, Z. Phys. C 74 (1997) 57 [Erratum ibid. C 75 (1997) 580] [INSPIRE].
- [238] D.A. Dicus, D.D. Karatas and P. Roy, Lepton nonconservation at supercollider energies, Phys. Rev. D 44 (1991) 2033 [INSPIRE].
- [239] A. Datta, M. Guchait and A. Pilaftsis, Probing lepton number violation via Majorana neutrinos at hadron supercolliders, Phys. Rev. D 50 (1994) 3195 [hep-ph/9311257]
   [INSPIRE].
- [240] F.M.L. Almeida, Jr., Y.D.A. Coutinho, J.A. Martins Simoes and M.A.B. do Vale, On a signature for heavy Majorana neutrinos in hadronic collisions, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 075004 [hep-ph/0002024] [INSPIRE].
- [241] O. Panella, M. Cannoni, C. Carimalo and Y.N. Srivastava, Signals of heavy Majorana neutrinos at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. D 65 (2002) 035005 [hep-ph/0107308] [INSPIRE].
- [242] T. Han and B. Zhang, Signatures for Majorana neutrinos at hadron colliders, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97 (2006) 171804 [hep-ph/0604064] [INSPIRE].
- [243] F. del Aguila, J.A. Aguilar-Saavedra and R. Pittau, *Heavy neutrino signals at Large Hadron Colliders*, JHEP 10 (2007) 047 [hep-ph/0703261] [INSPIRE].
- [244] F.F. Deppisch, P.S. Bhupal Dev and A. Pilaftsis, Neutrinos and collider physics, New J. Phys. 17 (2015) 075019 [arXiv:1502.06541] [INSPIRE].
- [245] A. Das and N. Okada, Improved bounds on the heavy neutrino productions at the LHC, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 033003 [arXiv:1510.04790] [INSPIRE].
- [246] CMS collaboration, Search for heavy Majorana neutrinos in  $\mu^{\pm}\mu^{\pm}$ + jets events in proton-proton collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$ , Phys. Lett. B 748 (2015) 144 [arXiv:1501.05566] [INSPIRE].
- [247] ATLAS collaboration, Search for type-III seesaw heavy leptons in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8 \text{ TeV}$  with the ATLAS detector, Phys. Rev. **D** 92 (2015) 032001 [arXiv:1506.01839] [INSPIRE].
- [248] ATLAS collaboration, Search for heavy lepton resonances decaying to a Z boson and a lepton in pp collisions at  $\sqrt{s} = 8$  TeV with the ATLAS detector, JHEP **09** (2015) 108 [arXiv:1506.01291] [INSPIRE].
- [249] CMS collaboration, Search for heavy lepton partners of neutrinos in proton-proton collisions in the context of the type-III seesaw mechanism, Phys. Lett. B 718 (2012) 348
   [arXiv:1210.1797] [INSPIRE].
- [250] R. Foot, H. Lew, X.G. He and G.C. Joshi, Seesaw neutrino masses induced by a triplet of leptons, Z. Phys. C 44 (1989) 441 [INSPIRE].
- [251] E. Ma, Pathways to naturally small neutrino masses, Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 (1998) 1171 [hep-ph/9805219] [INSPIRE].
- [252] B. Bajc, M. Nemevšek and G. Senjanović, Probing seesaw at LHC, Phys. Rev. D 76 (2007) 055011 [hep-ph/0703080] [INSPIRE].
- [253] C. Biggio and F. Bonnet, Implementation of the type III seesaw model in FeynRules/MadGraph and prospects for discovery with early LHC data, Eur. Phys. J. C 72 (2012) 1899 [arXiv:1107.3463] [INSPIRE].
- [254] L.M. Jones and H.W. Wyld, On hadronic charm production by gluon fusion, Phys. Rev. D 17 (1978) 1782 [INSPIRE].

- [255] J. Babcock, D.W. Sivers and S. Wolfram, QCD estimates for heavy particle production, Phys. Rev. D 18 (1978) 162 [INSPIRE].
- [256] H.M. Georgi, S.L. Glashow, M.E. Machacek and D.V. Nanopoulos, *Charmed particles from two-gluon annihilation in proton proton collisions*, *Annals Phys.* **114** (1978) 273 [INSPIRE].
- [257] M. Gluck, J.F. Owens and E. Reya, Gluon contribution to hadronic J/ψ production, Phys. Rev. D 17 (1978) 2324 [INSPIRE].
- [258] B.L. Combridge, Associated production of heavy flavor states in pp and pp interactions: some QCD estimates, Nucl. Phys. B 151 (1979) 429 [INSPIRE].
- [259] M. Cacciari, S. Frixione, M.L. Mangano, P. Nason and G. Ridolfi, Updated predictions for the total production cross sections of top and of heavier quark pairs at the Tevatron and at the LHC, JHEP 09 (2008) 127 [arXiv:0804.2800] [INSPIRE].
- [260] S.D. Drell and T.-M. Yan, Massive lepton pair production in hadron-hadron collisions at high-energies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 25 (1970) 316 [Erratum ibid. 25 (1970) 902] [INSPIRE].
- [261] G. Altarelli, R.K. Ellis and G. Martinelli, Large perturbative corrections to the Drell-Yan process in QCD, Nucl. Phys. B 157 (1979) 461 [INSPIRE].
- [262] J. Kubar-André and F.E. Paige, Gluon corrections to the Drell-Yan model, Phys. Rev. D 19 (1979) 221 [INSPIRE].
- [263] R. Hamberg, W.L. van Neerven and T. Matsuura, A complete calculation of the order α<sup>2</sup><sub>s</sub> correction to the Drell-Yan K factor, Nucl. Phys. B 359 (1991) 343 [Erratum ibid. B 644 (2002) 403] [INSPIRE].
- [264] G.A. Ladinsky and C.-P. Yuan, The W-top background to heavy Higgs production, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 789 [INSPIRE].
- [265] S. Moretti, Single top production in the  $tW^{\pm}$  channel and Higgs signals via  $H \to W^+W^$ at the Large Hadron Collider, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 7427 [hep-ph/9705388] [INSPIRE].
- [266] A. Heinson, A.S. Belyaev and E.E. Boos, Single top quarks at the Fermilab Tevatron, Phys. Rev. D 56 (1997) 3114 [hep-ph/9612424] [INSPIRE].
- [267] A.S. Belyaev, E.E. Boos and L.V. Dudko, Single top quark at future hadron colliders: complete signal and background study, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 075001 [hep-ph/9806332]
   [INSPIRE].
- [268] T.M.P. Tait, The tW<sup>-</sup> mode of single top production, Phys. Rev. D 61 (1999) 034001
   [hep-ph/9909352] [INSPIRE].
- [269] S. Frixione, E. Laenen, P. Motylinski, B.R. Webber and C.D. White, Single-top hadroproduction in association with a W boson, JHEP 07 (2008) 029 [arXiv:0805.3067]
   [INSPIRE].
- [270] F. Maltoni, G. Ridolfi and M. Ubiali, b-initiated processes at the LHC: a reappraisal, JHEP 07 (2012) 022 [Erratum ibid. 04 (2013) 095] [arXiv:1203.6393] [INSPIRE].
- [271] W. Buchmüller and C. Greub, Heavy Majorana neutrinos in electron-positron and electron-proton collisions, Nucl. Phys. B 363 (1991) 345 [INSPIRE].